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EMAMI FRANK ROSS LIMITED  
DIRECTORS’ REPORT  
To  
The Members,  
The Directors have pleasure in presenting the 106th Annual Report of your Company 
together with the Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 2024.  
 
 The Directors are pleased to share that your Company has maintained sustainable growth 
and earned cash profit in the financial year 2023-24. 
 
FINANCIAL RESULTS                                                                               Rs. In lakhs 
PARTICULARS      Standalone             Consolidated 
 
Profit/(Loss) before 
Depreciation, Tax & 
exceptional items 

 

2023-24 2022-23 2023-24 2022-23 
1439.62  

1111.36 
1433.61  

1112.32 

 
Less/(Add): Depreciation 
 

 

2099.44  
1770.34 

2099.44  
1770.34 

 
Profit/(Loss) before Tax & 
exceptional items 

 

(659.82)  
(658.98) 

(665.83)  
(658.02) 

 
Exceptional Items 

 

-  
 -   

 

-  
- 

 
Profit /(Loss) before 
exceptional items and tax 

 

(659.82)  
(658.98) 

(665.83)  
(658.02) 

 
Less: Provision for Taxation 

 

           - 1.66          - 1.66 

 
Deferred Tax 

 

(318.86)  
(266.59) 

(318.86)  
(266.59) 

 
Wealth Tax 

 

             - - - - 

 
(Excess)/Short Provision of 
Earlier years 

 

-   
- 

-  
- 

 
Profit/(Loss) for the year 

 

(340.96)  
(394.05) 

(346.97)  
(393.09) 
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Total Comprehensive Income 
for the year 
 
 

 

(233.47) (399.76) 
 
 

(239.48) (398.80) 
 
 

Credit Balance Brought 
Forward 
 

 

(6714.80)  
(6314.99) 

(6677.69)  
(6278.74) 

 
Adjustment to Equity 

 
 

-  
- 

-  
- 

 
Fund available for 
appropriation 

 

(6948.29)  
(6714.80) 

(6917.19)  
(6677.69) 

 
Balance Carried to Balance 
Sheet 

 

(6948.29)  
(6714.80) 

(6917.19)  
(6677.69) 

 
The Company has prepared the Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31st 
March, 2024 in terms of Section 129, 133 and Schedule III to the Companies Act, 2013 (as 
amended) (the “Act”) read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, 
as amended.  
 
NATURE OF BUSINESS 
Emami Frank Ross Limited is one of Eastern India’s largest and oldest pharmacy chain with 
retail stores operation in West Bengal, Odisha, Assam, Raipur (Chhattisgarh), Tripura, Bihar, 
Karnataka, Tamil Nadu and Telangana. Emami Frank Ross Ltd has also initiated                    
e-commerce pharmacy business, currently running in Kolkata and nearby districts with the 
vision to serve the entire Eastern India and Karnataka in near future.  
 
Apart from just pharma, Emami Frank Ross Ltd also deals in several other product 
categories including medical devices, personal care, baby care, health food & drinks, sexual 
wellness, ayurvedic, herbal and natural products. The Company’s private label brand 
“ROSSCARE” has already introduced more than 200sku’s in the pharma and non-pharma 
categories and many of these products have been successfully launched. 
 
There has been no change in nature of business during the financial year ended 31st March, 
2024. 
 
BUSINESS REVIEW/STATE OF COMPANY’S OPERATIONS AND INDUSTRY 
SCENARIO  
The Company runs pharmacy in name and style of “Frank Ross Pharmacy” and leisure 
business of books, media, toys and stationery in the name of “Starmark” having retail 
outlets in Kolkata at South City, Mani Square, City Centre-1, City Centre-2 and Quest Mall. 
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The Company has shown considerable improvement in turnover which stands at Rupees 
608.06 Crores for the year ended 31.03.2024 as against Rupees 549.98 Crores in the previous 
year recording a growth of 10.56%. 
 
Frank Ross pharmacy has opened doctor’s chambers in Serampore, Kadamtala, Ganesh 
Talkies, Bongaon, Madanpur, Abhisikta, Belgharia-I, Arambag, Kamarhati, Sukhobristi, 
Raigachi. 

Better growth in domestic sales would also depend on the ability of the Company to align its 
product portfolio towards chronic therapies for diseases such as cardiovascular, anti-
diabetes, anti-depressants and anti-cancers, which are on the rise.  
 
MATERIAL CHANGES AND COMMITMENTS AFFECTING THE FINANCIAL 
POSITION OF THE COMPANY, BETWEEN THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
AND THE DATE OF THIS REPORT 
 
There have been no material changes and commitments affecting the financial position of 
the Company, between the end of the financial year and the date of this report. 
 
CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS 
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2024, have been 
prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) notified under the 
Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015. 
 
DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT 
Pursuant to the requirements under Section 134(5) read with Section 134(3)(c) of the 
Companies Act, 2013 (‘Act'') with respect to Directors'' Responsibility Statement, it is hereby 
confirmed that: 
 
a) in the preparation of the annual accounts for the financial year ended March 31, 2024, the 
applicable accounting standards have been followed and there are no material departures 
from the same; 
 
b) the Directors have selected such accounting policies and applied them consistently and 
made judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of the Company as at March 31, 2024, and of the loss of the 
Company for the year ended on that date; 
 
c) the Directors have taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate 
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets 
of the Company and for preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities; 
 
d) the Directors have prepared the annual accounts on a going concern basis; 
 
e) the Directors have laid down internal financial controls to be followed by the Company 
and that such internal financial controls are adequate and were operating effectively; and 
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f) the Directors have devised proper systems to ensure compliance with the provisions of all 
applicable laws and that such systems were adequate and operating effectively. 
 
DIVIDEND 
The directors have not recommended any dividend for the financial year 2023-2024 in view 
of the losses. 
 
TRANSFER TO RESERVES 
The Company is not transferring any amount to General Reserve due to inadequacy of 
profits during the financial year 2023-24. 
 
CHANGES IN CAPITAL STRUCTURE 
There has been no changes in Share Capital of the Company during the year under review. 
 
CREDIT RATING 
Care Edge Ratings has reaffirmed the credit rating of *BBB*; Stable for the bank facilities, 
short term/ long term borrowings and commercial paper programs of the Company. 
 
India Ratings and Research has affirmed the credit Ratings *IND A-/Stable for the Long term 
loan, Fund basis limits and Non-Convertible Debentures. 
 
SUBSIDIARIES/ JOINT VENTURES/ ASSOCIATES 
In compliance with Ind AS 110, Your Company has prepared Consolidated Financial 
Statements, which forms part of this Annual Report. Further pursuant to Section 129(3) of 
the Act, a statement containing the salient features of the financial statements of the 
Subsidiary in the prescribed Form AOC 1 is enclosed in Annexure I and forms part of this 
report.  
 
The Company does not have any Associate Company and Joint Venture. 
 
DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL 
During the year, following changes took place in Directors/KMPs 
1.Mr. Gautam Jatia, Managing Director was reappointed for a period of 3 years with effect 
from 26th July, 2023. 
2. Mr. Sujoy Chattaraj, Whole Time Director was reappointed for a period of 3 years with 
effect from 26th July, 2023. 
2.Mr. Bimal Agarwal: Chief Financial Officer (Appointed w.e.f. 29th April,2023 and 
Resigned on 31st May, 2024)  
3.Ms. Amrita Bhattacharya: Company Secretary & Compliance Officer (Resigned on 20th 
December, 2023) 
4. Miss. Priyanka Agarwal: Company Secretary & Compliance Officer (Appointed on 12th 
February, 2024) 
 
DIRECTORS SEEKING APPOINTMENT/REAPPOINTMENT/CHANGES: 
Retirement by rotation and reappointment of Whole-time director 
1)The Consent of Shareholders is being sought at the ensuing Annual General Meeting for 
continuation of holding of office by Mr. Anurag Jatia, Whole Time Director of the Company 
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who retires by rotation and being eligible offers himself for reappointment. Your directors 
recommend his reappointment.  
2)Shareholders approval is sought for appointment of Mr. Hari Mohan Marda as 
Independent Director for a period of 5 years commencing from 29th May, 2024. 
 
3) Shareholders approval is sought for appointment of Mr. Ram Gobind Ganeriwala as 
Independent Director for a period of 5 years commencing from 13th August, 2024. 
 
4) Shareholders approval is sought for Re-appointment of Mr. Anurag Jatia as Whole Time 
Director of the Company for a period of 3 years with effect from 1st April, 2024. 
 
5) Shareholders approval is sought for Re-appointment of Mrs. Chadaravalli SrinivasaBhatta 
Nalini as Whole Time Director of the Company for a period of 3 years with effect from 1st 
October, 2024. 
 
DECLARATION BY INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS 
The Company has received declarations from all the Independent Directors confirming that 
they meet the criteria of independence as prescribed under Section 149(6) of the Companies 
Act, 2013. Independent Directors have also confirmed compliance with the Company’s code 
of conduct and the Code of Independent Directors prescribed in Schedule IV of the 
Companies Act, 2013 during the FY 2023-2024. 
 
Based on the disclosures received from all the Independent Directors and in the opinion of 
the Board, the Independent Directors fulfil the conditions specified under the Act and are 
independent of the management.  
 
FAMILIARISATION PROGRAMME FOR THE INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS 
The Company has put in place a Familiarisation Programme for the Independent Directors 
to familiarise them with the Company, their roles, rights, responsibilities in the Company, 
nature of the industry in which the Company operates, business model etc. The details of the 
Familiarisation Programme conducted are available on the website of the Company: 
https://www.frankrosspharmacy.com 
 
EVALUATION OF PERFORMANCE OF THE BOARD, ITS COMMITTEES AND 
INDIVIDUAL DIRECTORS 
During the year, annual performance evaluation of the Board and Committees of the Board, 
individual Directors including the Chairman of the Company, was carried out as per the 
criteria and process approved by Nomination and Remuneration Committee. The Chairman 
and other members of the Board discussed upon the performance evaluation outcome and 
concluded that they were satisfied with the overall performance of the Board and 
Committees of the Board and Directors individually.  
 
SEPARATE MEETING OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS:  
As stipulated by the Code of Independent Directors under the Companies Act, 2013 a 
separate meeting of the independent Directors of the Company was held on 28th March, 2024 
to review the performance of Non-Independent Directors and the Board as a whole. The 
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independent Directors also reviewed the quality, content and timeliness of flow of 
information between the Management and the Board and its committees. 
 
DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO SECTION 197 (14) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013:  

The Managing Director or Whole-Time Director(s) of the Company were not in receipt of 
any remuneration or commission from the Company's Holding or Subsidiary companies 
during the financial year. 
 
EMPLOYEES AND OTHER REPORT  
None of the employee is in receipt of remuneration in excess of amount as prescribed in the 
Rule No. 5(2) of the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) 
Rules, 2014. 
 
REMUNERATION POLICY FOR DIRECTORS, KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL AND 
OTHER EMPLOYEES AND CRITERIA FOR APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS 
For the purpose of selection of any Director, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
identifies persons of integrity who possess relevant expertise, experience and leadership 
qualities required for the position. The Committee also ensures that the incumbent fulfils 
such criteria with regard to qualifications, positive attributes, independence, age and other 
criteria as laid down under the Act, or other applicable laws. The Board has, on the 
recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee framed a Policy on 
remuneration of Directors, Key Managerial Personnel.  
 
The complete Policy as approved by the Board is available on the website of the Company 
and can be accessed through the web link: https:// www.frankrosspharmacy.com 
 Information pertaining to Rule 5(2) & 5(3) of the Companies (Appointment and 
Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, pertaining to the names and other 
particulars of employees is available for inspection at the Registered office of the Company 
during business hours and pursuant to the second proviso to Section 136(1) of the Act, the 
Report and the accounts are being sent to the members excluding this. Any shareholder 
interested in obtaining a copy of the same may write to the Company Secretary & 
Compliance Officer either at the Registered/ Corporate Office address or by email to 
info@frankrosspharmacy.com 
 
BOARD MEETINGS 
6 (Six) Board meetings were held during the financial year 2023-24  
 
All the Directors have attended the Board Meetings held during the year 2023-2024. 
 
COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD 
 

Audit Committee  

During the financial year from 1st April, 2023 to 31st March, 2024, 5 (Five) Audit Committee 
Meetings were held. 
 



7 
 

The composition and attendance of the members of the Audit Committee are as follows: 
Sl. 
No. 

Name of the directors Position No. of meetings 
attended 

1 Mr. Pramod Kumar Shah Chairman 5 
2 Mr. Anurag Jatia Member 5  
3 Mr. Debasish Bhaumik Member 5  
4 Mrs. Karabi Sengupta* Member 2 

 

* Appointed with effect from 10th August, 2023. 

Nomination and Remuneration Committee and Company's Policy on Directors' 
Appointment and Remuneration  

The Board of directors of the Company had constituted a Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee in terms of the requirements of Section 178 of the Companies Act read with Rule 
7 of companies (Meeting of Board and its powers) Rules, 2014 Act and Rules framed 
thereunder. Further, it was also reconstituted.  
 

During the year ended 31.03.2024, 4 (Four) meetings of the Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee were held. 
 
The composition and attendance of the members of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee are as follows: 
 

Sl. No. Name of the directors Position No. of meetings 
attended 

1 Mr. Debasish Bhaumik Chairman 4 
2 Mr. Pramod Kumar Shah Member 4 
3 Mrs. Karabi Sengupta Member 4 

 
 
Share Transfer Committee  
 
As on 31st March, 2024, Mr. Debasish Bhaumik (Chairman), Mr. Gautam Jatia, & Mr. Anurag 
Jatia are members of the Share Transfer Committee.  
 

No meeting of the Share Transfer Committee was held during the financial year from 1st 
April, 2023 to 31st March, 2024 as it was not required. 
 
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
The particulars of material contracts or arrangements entered into by the Company with 
Related Parties referred to in Section 188(1) of the Act in Form AOC-2 prescribed under the 
Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 are appended as “Annexure II–*” hereto and forms part 
of this Report. 
 
INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROLS 
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The Company has a well-established internal financial controls framework, which is 
designed to continuously assess the adequacy, effectiveness and efficiency of internal 
financial controls. The management is committed to ensuring an effective internal financial 
controls environment, commensurate with the size and complexity of the business, which 
provides an assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. 
The Company has proper internal control procedures commensurate with its size and nature 
of Business. During the year the Company has appointed Saraf & Chandra LLP, Chartered 
Accountants (FRN-315096E/E300027) as Internal Auditors and also to perform professional 
services towards Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting. 
 
RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY 
The Company has developed and implemented a Risk Management Policy, which identifies 
major risks which may threaten the existence of the Company. The same has also been 
adopted by Board and is also subject to its review from time to time. Risk mitigation process 
and measures have been also formulated and clearly spelt out in the said policy which is 
available on the website of the Company and can be accessed through the web link: 
http://www.frankrosspharmacy.com.  
 
WHISTLE BLOWER POLICY/ VIGIL MECHANISM 
To create enduring value for all stakeholders and ensure the highest level of honesty, 
integrity and ethical behaviour in all its operations, the Company has adopted a “Whistle 
Blower Policy'' which is available on the website of the Company and can be accessed 
through the web link: http://www.frankrosspharmacy.com.   
 
AUDIT AND AUDITORS  
 
STATUTORY AUDITORS  
At the Annual General Meeting held on 30th September, 2019, M/s. Agrawal Tondon& Co., 
Chartered Accountants (FRN: 329088E) were appointed as Statutory Auditor of the 
Company for the term of 5 consecutive years from the conclusion of the AGM held in year 
2019 to the conclusion of AGM to be held in the year 2024. 
In accordance with the Companies Act, 2013 and on recommendation of the Audit 
Committee and in the best interest of the Company, the Board of Directors have considered 
and recommended the re-appointment of Agrawal Tondon & Co as Statutory Auditor for a 
period of 5 consecutive years i.e. from the conclusion of the ensuing AGM to the conclusion 
of 5th AGM from the ensuing AGM. 
A certificate under section 141 of the companies Act, 2013 has been received form M/S 
Agrawal Tondon & Co to the effect that they are eligible to be re-appointed as Statutory 
Auditors of the company.  
The reports given by the Auditors on the Standalone and Consolidated Financial Statements 
of the Company for the financial year ended March 31, 2024 forms part of this Annual 
Report and there is no qualification, reservation, adverse remark or disclaimer given by the 
Auditors in their Reports. The Auditors of the Company have not reported any fraud in 
terms of the second proviso to Section 143(12) of the Act.  
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SECRETARIAL AUDITORS:  
Pursuant to the provisions of Section 204 of the Companies Act, 2013, Rules made 
thereunder & other applicable provisions if any, the Company has appointed Arun Kumar 
Maitra& Co., Practicing Company Secretaries vide ICSI Unique Code P2015WB086500, as its 
Secretarial Auditor to undertake Secretarial Audit for the Financial Year Ending 31.03.2024. 
The Secretarial Auditor’s Report for the Financial Year ended 31.03.2024 is attached herewith 
as Annexure III, which is self-explanatory. 
 
CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 
Corporate Social Responsibility is the continuing commitment by the business to behave 
ethically and contribute to economic development while improving the quality of life of the 
workforce and their families as well as of the local community and society at large. 
 
As per the provisions of Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the Companies 
(Corporate Social Responsibility Policy) Rules, 2014, the CSR is not applicable to the 
Company for the financial year 2023-2024. 
 
COST AUDIT 
As per the Companies (Cost Records and Audit) Rules, 2014, as amended, maintenance of 
Cost record under Section 148(1) of the Act is not applicable to the Company. 
 
HUMAN RESOURCES 
Your directors would like to take this opportunity to express their gratitude and 
appreciation for the passion, dedication and commitment of the employees and look 
forward to their continued contribution. 
 
DISCLOSURE UNDER THE SEXUAL HARASSMENT OF WOMEN AT WORKPLACE 
(PREVENTION, PROHIBITION AND REDRESSAL) ACT, 2013 
Your Company strongly believes in providing a safe and harassment free workplace for each 
and every individual working for the Company through various interventions and practices. 
It is the continuous endeavour of the Management of the Company to create and provide an 
environment to all its employees that is free from discrimination and harassment including 
sexual harassment. The Company has adopted a policy on prevention, prohibition and 
redressal of sexual harassment at workplace in line with the provisions of the Sexual 
Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013 and 
the Rules made thereunder. 
 
Your Company has complied with provisions relating to the constitution of Internal 
Complaints Committee under the Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, 
Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013. 
 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 
Corporate Governance Report is not Applicable to this Company 
 
SECRETARIAL STANDARDS 
The Company has complied with the applicable Secretarial Standards as amended from time 
to time. 
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LOANS, GUARANTEES & INVESTMENTS 
In terms of Section 186 of the Companies Act and Rules framed thereunder, details of the 
loans given and investments made by the Company have been disclosed as notes to 
accounts of the Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March, 2024 which forms part of 
the Annual Report. 
 
PUBLIC DEPOSITS 
The Company has not accepted any deposit from the Public during the year under review. 
 
CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION AND FOREIGN 
EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND OUTGO 
Information pursuant to Section 134(3) (m) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the 
Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014, related to conservation of energy and technology 
absorption are not applicable to the Company. 
 
Details of Foreign Exchange Earnings and Outgo  
Foreign exchange earned during the year : NIL 
Foreign exchange Outgo during the year : Refer Note-36(c)of Financial Statements. 
 
SIGNIFICANT AND MATERIAL ORDERS PASSED BY THE REGULATORS OR 
COURTS OR TRIBUNALS 
There are no significant and material orders passed by the regulators or courts or tribunals, 
which impact the going concern status. 
 
BUY BACK OF SECURITIES  
The Company has not bought back any of its securities during the financial year 2023-24 
under review. 
 
ANNUAL RETURN 
The Annual Return as required under sub-section (3) of Section 92 of the Companies Act, 
2013 (‘the Act'') in form MGT-7 will be available on the website of the Company and can be 
accessed at http://www.frankrosspharmacy.com.   
 
DETAILS OF APPLICATION MADE OR ANY PROCEEDING PENDING UNDER THE 
INSOLVENCY AND BANKRUPTCY CODE, 2016 (31 OF 2016) DURING THE YEAR 
ALONG WITH THEIR STATUS AS AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR. 
 
There was no application made or any proceeding pending under the Insolvency and 
Bankruptcy Code, 2016 during the year. 
 
DETAILS OF DIFFERENCE BETWEEN AMOUNT OF THE VALUATION DONE AT 
THE TIME OF ONE TIME SETTLEMENT AND THE VALUATION DONE WHILE 
TAKING LOAN FROM THE BANKS OR FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS ALONG WITH 
THE REASONS THEREOF 
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There was no loan taken from Banks or Financial Institutions during the year, so no 
valuation was required to be done. 
 
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
The directors wish to convey their appreciation to all the employees for their enormous 
personal efforts as well as their collective contribution to the company’s performance. The 
directors would also like to thank all the shareholders, customers, suppliers, bankers and all 
other business associates for the continuous support given by them to the company and 
their confidence in its management.                                                                                                                                                          
For and On behalf of the Board 
 
          SD/-                                                                                                      SD/- 
Gautam Jatia       Sujoy Chattaraj 
Managing Director & CEO                                        Whole time Director 
(DIN: 00604926)                      (DIN: 08818352) 
 
 
Place: Kolkata 
Date: 13th August, 2024 



 
                                                                      Annexure I 
                                                                Form No. AOC-1 

(Pursuant to first proviso to sub-section (3) of section 129 read with rule 5 of Companies (Accounts) 
Rules, 2014) 

Statement containing salient features of the financial statement of Subsidiaries/Associate 
Companies/Joint Ventures 

Subsidiary Details as on- 31.03.2024 
(Rupees in Lakhs) 

No. Particulars Details 
1 Name of Subsidiary Lyfresh Private Limited 
2 Date since when the Subsidiary was acquired 11.07.2017 
3 Reporting period for the subsidiary concerned, if 

different from the holding company’s reporting 
period 

NA 

4 Reporting currency and Exchange rate as on the 
last date of the relevant Financial year in the case 

of foreign subsidiaries 

NA 

5 Share capital 600.00 
6 Reserves & surplus (605.13) 
7 Total assets 2.59 
8 Total Liabilities 7.72 
9 Investments - 
10 Turnover - 
11 Profit before taxation (6.01) 
12 Provision for taxation - 
13 Profit after taxation (6.01) 
14 Proposed Dividend - 
15 % of shareholding of Holding Company 100% 

 
For and on behalf of the Board   
 
    SD/-                                                                                                                        SD/- 
Gautam Jatia                                                                                                  Sujoy Chattaraj   
Managing Director & CEO                                                               Whole time Director 
(DIN 00604926)                          (DIN   08818352) 
Place: Kolkata 
Date: 13th August 2024 



 
Annexure II 

Form No. AOC-2 
 

(Pursuant to clause (h) of sub-section (3) of section 134 of the Act and Rule 8(2) of the Companies 
(Accounts) Rules, 2014) Form for disclosure of particulars of contracts/arrangements entered into 
by the company with related parties referred to in sub-section (1) of section 188 of the Companies 
Act, 2013 including certain arm’s length transactions under third proviso thereto. 
 

1. Details of material contracts or arrangement or transactions not at arm’s length basis 
 

Name(s) of the related party and nature of relationship 
 

NA 

Nature of contracts /arrangements /transactions 
 

NA 

Duration of the contracts / arrangements /transactions 
 

NA 

Salient terms of the contracts or arrangements or transactions including the value, if any 
 

NA 

Justification for entering into such contracts or arrangements or transactions 
 

NA 

date(s) of approval by the Board 
 

NA 

Amount paid as advances, if any: 
 

NA 

Date on which the special resolution was passed in general meeting as required under first proviso to section 
188 
 

NA 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
2A. Details of material contracts or arrangement or transactions at arm’s length basis 

with Director(s)/Key Managerial Personnel (KMP) and Relatives 
 

Description NA 
Name of the related party and nature of relationship                               NA 

Nature of Contracts / arrangements/transactions                              NA 

Duration of the contracts/arrangements/ transactions                              NA 

Salient terms of the contracts or arrangements or transactions including the value, if any                              NA 

Justification for entering into such contracts or arrangements or transactions 
 

                            NA 

date(s) of approval by the Board 
 

                           NA 

Amount paid as advances, if any: 
 

                           NA 

Date on which the special resolution was passed in general meeting as required under 
first proviso to section 188 

                          NA 

 
2B. Details of material contracts or arrangement or transactions at arm’s length basis with  

Other Parties 
Description (1) (2) (3) 
Name(s) of the related party  

 
Suraj Finvest Pvt.Ltd. (Formerly Known 

as Sneha Gardens Private Limited) 
Diwakar Finvest Private Limited 

(Formerly known as Sneha Enclave 
Private Limited) 

PAN Emami Cosmed Limited (formerly 
known as Midkot Investment Limited) 

Nature of Relationship Refer Note-29 Related Party Disclosure 
of Financial Statements 

Refer Note-29 Related Party 
Disclosure of Financial Statements 

Refer Note-29 Related Party Disclosure of 
Financial Statements 

Nature of contracts 
/arrangements /transactions 

 

Guarantor against the Bank Loan Guarantor against the Bank Loan Guarantor against the Bank Loan 

Duration of the contracts / 
arrangements /transactions 

 

Yearly Yearly Yearly 

Salient terms of the contracts 
or arrangements or 

transactions including the 
value, if any 

 

Suraj Finvest Private Limited will give 
Guarantee for the loan taken by Emami 

Frank Ross Limited  

Diwakar Finvest Private Limited will 
give Guarantee for the loan taken by 

Emami Frank Ross Limited  

PAN Emami Cosmed Limited (formerly 
known as Midkot Investment Limited) will  

give  guarantee for the loan taken by Emami 
Frank Ross Limited   



Justification for entering into 
such contracts or 

arrangements or transactions 
 

For availing Loan from Banks and for 
issue of Non-Convertible 

Debentures/Bonds 

For availing Loan from Banks and for 
issue of Non-Convertible 

Debentures/Bonds 

For issue of Non-Convertible 
Debentures/Bonds 

date(s) of approval by the 
Board 

 

29th April, 2023 29th April, 2023 29th April, 2023 

Amount paid as advances, if 
any: 

 

No No No 

 
 

Description (4) (5) (6)               
(7) 

 (8)  

Name(s) of the related 
party  

 

Ms Priti A Sureka 
Mr. Jayant Goenka 

Mr. Prashant Goenka 
Emami Foundation 
AMRI Hospitals Ltd 
Emami Papers Mills 

Limited 
A M Medical Centre 

Private Limited 
M Bhattacharyya & 

Co. Pvt Ltd 
Emami Limited 

Emami Agrotech 
Limited 

Emami Limited M Bhattacharyya & Co. 
Pvt Ltd 

Suraj Finvest 
Private 
Limited 
Diwakar 
Finvest 
Private 
Limited 

South City Projects Kolkata Ltd 
Shoppers City Maintenance Co 

Private Limited 
M Bhattacharyya & Co. Pvt Ltd 

AMRI Hospitals Ltd 

Nature of Relationship Refer Note-29 
Related Party 
Disclosure of 

Financial Statements 

Refer Note-29 Related 
Party Disclosure of 

Financial Statements 

Refer Note-29 Related 
Party Disclosure of 

Financial Statements 

Refer Note-
29 Related 

Party 
Disclosure 

of Financial 
Statements 

Refer Note-29 Related Party 
Disclosure of Financial Statements 

Nature of contracts 
/arrangements 
/transactions 

 

Sale of Goods 
 

Display charges 
 
 

Purchase of goods 
 

Guarantee 
Commission 
paid 

Rent & maintenance paid 

Duration of the contracts / 
arrangements /transactions 

 

N.A N.A N.A N.A N.A 

Salient terms of the 
contracts or arrangements 
or transactions including 

the value, if any 
 

N.A N.A N.A N.A N.A 

Justification for entering 
into such contracts or 

arrangements or 
transactions 

 

N.A N.A N.A N.A N.A 



date(s) of approval by the 
Board 

 

29th April, 2023 29th April, 2023 29th April, 2023 29th April, 
2023 

29th April, 2023 

Amount paid as advances, 
if any: 

 

No No No No No 

 
 
 

Description (9) (10) 
Name(s) of the related party  

 
Emami Limited The Trustees Frank Ross Limited 

Employees Provident Fund 

Nature of Relationship Refer Note-29 Related Party Disclosure of Financial Statements Refer Note-29 Related Party Disclosure of 
Financial Statements 

Nature of contracts 
/arrangements /transactions 

 

Royalty Advance/Deposit given 

Duration of the contracts / 
arrangements /transactions 

 

 
The original agreement was renewed with effect from 1st April, 2020 for a term of 5 

(five) years on same conditions and license fees, as contained in the Original 
Agreement for  the period of renewal. 

N.A 

Salient terms of the contracts 
or arrangements or 

transactions including the 
value, if any 

 

1. The Licensee (Emami Frank Ross limited ) shall have the right to use  the 
trademark and logo of the Licensor in all its final products, documents, 
correspondences, advertising materials etc. 

2. The Licensee shall obtain necessary permits, approvals, licenses etc in 
connection with the manufacture of its goods under the said trade mark 
of the Licensor (Emami Limited). 

3. The Licensee shall maintain high standard and repute and shall follow 
clear and transparent business policies with regular statutory 
compliances with various applicable business laws. 

4. The Licensee shall not indulge into any business practice or policy which 
may harm the goodwill of the licensor as a business leader in their line of 
business. 

5. In consideration of the above, the Licensee shall pay an annual license fee 
of 0.5% of Profit before Tax or Rs. 10,00,000 (Rupees ten lakhs only) per 
annum whichever is higher. Taxes/Duties/Cesses etc as applicable from 
time to time, if any, shall be payable extra. 

 

N.A 

Justification for entering into 
such contracts or 

arrangements or transactions 
 

The trade name and logo ‘Emami’ is registered in the name of the Licensor under 
the Trade Mark Act as a ‘trademark. 

The Licensee Company is desirous to use the said trademark in its products, 
correspondences, letterheads, advertisement materials in the daily newspapers, 

journals etc. 

N.A 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 
 
For and on behalf of the Board 
 
       SD/-                                                                                                                     SD/- 
Gautam Jatia                                                    Sujoy Chattaraj  
Managing Director & CEO                                                Whole time Director 
(DIN 00604926)              (DIN   08818352) 
 
Place: Kolkata 
Date: 13th August, 2024 

Description (11) 
Name(s) of the related party  

 
South City Projects Kolkata Ltd 

Shoppers City Maintenance Co Pvt Ltd 
M Bhattacharyya & Co. Pvt Ltd 

AMRI Hospitals Ltd 
Nature of Relationship Refer Note-29 Related Party Disclosure of Financial Statements 

Nature of contracts 
/arrangements /transactions 

 

Electricity Charges 

Duration of the contracts / 
arrangements /transactions 

 

N.A 

Salient terms of the contracts 
or arrangements or 

transactions including the 
value, if any 

 

N.A 

Justification for entering into 
such contracts or 

arrangements or transactions 
 

N.A 

Date of approval by the 
Board 

29th April, 2023 

Amount paid as advances, if 
any 

N.A 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

The Chambers, Suite No 307, 3rd f loor 
l865 Rajdanga Main Road, Kasba 
Opposite Gitanjali Stadium 
west Bengal, India, Kolkata - ?OO 107 
Website_ www.agrawalsanJay.com . 
E-mail Id : agrawa1tondon2019@gmad.com 

To the Members of EMAMI FRANK ROSS LIMITED the Audit 
Report on the Audit of the Stnndnlone Flnnncinl Stntements 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying standalone Ind AS !innncinl statements of EMAMI FRANK ROSS LlMlTED ("the Company'') , which comprise the standalone Balance Sheet as at 31st March 2024. the standalone Statement of Profit and Loss including other comprehensive income, the standalone Statcmi.:nt of Cash Flow and the standalone Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended, and notes to the standalone Ind AS financial statements, including a summary of material accounting pnl icics and other explanatory information. 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us. the aforesaid standalone lnd AS financial statements give the info1111ation required by the Companies Act. 2013, as amended ("the Act") in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in con fom1ity wi th the Indian accounting standards ("Ind AS") prescribed under section 133 of the Act read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 as amended and other accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at 31st March 2024, its losses including other comprehensive income, its cashtlows and its changes in equity for the year ended on that date. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit of the standalone Ind AS financial statements in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) as specified under section 143(10) of the Companies Act, 20 13. Om responsibilities under those Standards are further described in the 'Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Ind AS Financial Statements' section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the 'Code of Ethics' issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the standalone financial statements under the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the rules thereunder, and we have f'uliilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidencewe have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on the standalone Ind AS financial statements. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in om professional judgement, were of most significance in our aud it of standalone Ind AS financial statements for the year ended 3 \S1 March, 2024. Thi.:s~ matters were addressed in the context of our audit of standalone Ind AS financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 



We have dctennined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our 
report: 

Key Audit Matters 

I) Identification and disclosures of Related 
Parties (as described in Note 29 of the 

standalone Ind AS financial statements. 

The Company has related party transactions 
which include, amongst others, sale and 
purchase of goods/services to its related 
parties and lending, investment borrowing to 
and from its related parties. Identification and 
disclosure of related parties was a significant 
area of focus and hence considered it as a Key 
and J\udit Matter. 

Auditor's Response 

Our audit procedures amongst others included the 
following: 

• Evaluated the design and tested the operating 
effectiveness of controls over identification and 
disclosure of related party transactions. 

• Obtained a list of related parties from the Company's 
management and traced the related parties to declarations 
given by directors, where applicable, and to Note 29 of 
the standalone Ind AS financial statements. 

• Read minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors 
and Audit Committee and traced related party 
transactions with limits approved by Audit Committee I 
Board. 

• Read declarations of related party transactions given to 
the Board of Directors and Audit Committee. 

• Verified the disclosures in the standalone Ind AS 
financial statements for compliance with Ind AS 24. 



Key Audit Matters 

2) Existence and valuation of 
lnventories. 

As indicated in Note 9, the value 
of thc Company's inventories at 
year-end was Rs. I 0021.14 lakhs, 
representing 11 .09% of the 
Company's total assets. The 
existence of inventory is a key 
audit matter due to the involvement 
of high risk, basis the nature of the 
retail industry wherein value per 
unit is relatively insignificant but 
high volumes are involved which 
arc distributed across different 
Point of Sales and warehouses. 

Auditor's Response thereon 

In response to this key matter, our audit included, among 
others, the following principal audit procedures: -

• 

• 

Understood Management's control over physical 
inventory counts and valuation 

Evaluation of the design and testing the operating 
effectiveness of the internal controls relating to 
physical inventory counts at the stores and the 
warehouse. in testing this control, we observed the 
inventory cycle count process on a sample basis, 
inspected the results of the inventory cycle count and 
confinned that the variances were approved and 
appropriately accounted for. 

• Evaluation of the design and testing the operating 
effectiveness of the internal controls relating to 
purchases, sales and inventories including automated 
controls 

• We have also perfonned roll-forward and alternate 
procedures on sample basis for establishing the 
existence of inventory as at year-end by validating 
purchases, sales, stock movement of inventory during 
the intervening period i.e. from the date physical 
verification was done till the year end date. 

• For a representative sample, verification that the 
finished goods inventories were correctly measured, 
using a recalculation of the measurement of those 
inventories based on the cost of acquiring them from 
suppliers and considering the costs directly 
attributable to such goods. 



Information Other than the Financial Statements nnd Auditor's Report Thereon 
The Company's Board of Directors is responsible for the other infonnation. Other infonnation 
comprises the infonnation included in the Board's Report including Annexures lo Board's ~eport, 
Management Discussion and Analysis Report, Corporate Governance and Sharcholderlnformat1on but 
docs not include the standalone Ind AS financial statements and our auditor'sreport thereon. 
Our opinion on the standalone Ind AS financial statements docs not cover the other informationand we 
do not express any fonn of assurance conclusion thereon. 
In connection with our audit of the standalone Ind AS financial statements, our responsibility is to 
read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether such other infonnation is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have perfonned on the other information obtained prior to the date of this 
auditor's report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we arc 
required to rcpoti that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibility of Management and Those Charged with Governance for Standalone Ind AS 
Financial Statements 

The Company's Board of Directors are responsible for the matters stated in section 134(5) of the 
Companies Act, 2013 ("the Act") with respect to the preparation of these standalone Ind AS financial 
statements that give a true and fair view of U1e fi nancial position, financial performance including 
other comprehensive income, cash flows and changes in equity of the Company in accordance with the 
Ind J\S and 0U1er accoW1ting principles generally accepted inlndia. This responsibility also includes 
maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for 
safeguarding of the assets of U1e Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other 
i1Tcgularitics; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and 
estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance of adequate 
internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness 
of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of ilie financial statement that 
give a trueand fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
In preparing U1e standalone Ind AS financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate U1e Company or to cease operations, or has no realisticaltemative but to do so. 
Those Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process. 



Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Stnndnlone Ind AS Finnncinl Statements 

Our objl!ctivcs tire to obtuin rcusonublc nssurnncc ubout whether the stnndnlone Ind AS financial 

statements us n whole nrc free from mnteriul misstutement, whether due lo frnud or error, and to issue 

an nuclitor's report thut includes our opinion. Rensonnble nssurnncc is a high level of assurance, but is 

not a guarantee thnt nn audit conducted in accordunce with SAs will always detect a material 

misstulement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 

if'. individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 

decisions of users tu ken on the basis of these standalone Ind AS financial statements. 

As part or an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 

pro fessional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

ldentif'y and assess the risks of material misstatement of the standalone lnd AS financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and pcrfonn audit procedures responsive to 

those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate lo provide a basis for 

our opinion. The risk of' not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 

than for one resulting from ctTor, as fraud may involve collusion, forgety, intentional 

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

Obtain an understanding of internal financial controls relevant Lo the audit in order Lo design 

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the 

Companies Act,2013, we are also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the 

company has adequate internal financial controls system in place and the operating 

effectiveness of such controls. 

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

Conclude on the approp1iateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 

related lo events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to 

continue as a going concern. Ifwe conclude that a material uncertainty exists,we are required to 

draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the standalone Ind AS 

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date ofour auditor's report. 

I lowcver, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going 

concern. 

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Ind AS financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the standalone financial statements represent the 

underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 



We nlsn Climmunicn\c with \hose chnrgcd with guvornnnco rcgnrdlng, 11111011g other 111111ters, the 

p\11111:cd ~cnpc . nm\ timing nr \he nmli\ 11ml slg11llii.:11111 nndll lindings, including 1111y significnn\ 

ddie1cnc1cs 111111\emnl contrnl th11\ we idcnlil'y during um 11ndll. 

We nlsn pwvidc \hose chnrgcd with govcrnnncc with n slnlcmunl 1\1111 we hnvo complied wilh relevnnl 

cthicu\ rcquircmcn\s rcgnrding inclcpcndc11cc, 11ml 10 c111rnnunlc1110 with !hem 1111 roinlionships 11nd 

n\hcr 11111\\crs \hn\ may rcnsnnnbly be \hough! lo bom on unr independence, 1111d whoro npplicnblc, 

rclntcd sa fl:gunnls . 

Frnm the ma\\crs eomnmnicn\l:d wllh \hose ehnrged with guvernnnce, we delermim: !hose mailers that 

were 111' mos\ signilicnnec in !he nudil nf' the stnndnlone Ind /\S finnncinl stnlemcnls for the financial 

ycnr ended Murch 31. 2024 11ml nre therefore llw key nudil mnllers. We describe lhesc mailers in our 

auditm's rcpnr\ unless lnw \11' rcgnln\ion prceludos public disclosure nboul !he mailer or when, in 

cx\n:mcly rare circumstances. we dc\erminc thnl II n1nt\er should 1101 be communicnled in our rcporl 

hccm1sc lhc ndwrsc consequences or doing so would rcnsonnbly be cxpcc\cd to outweigh the publ ic 

in\crc..~t bcncli\s or such communicntiun. 

lll'port on Other Legal nnd Rcgulntwy Requlromcnls 

/\s required by the Companies (J\uditor's Report) Order, 2020 ("the Order"), issued by the Central 

Government of\ndiu in \cnns of'sub-scction ( 11) orseclion 143 oft he Companies Act,20 13, we give in 

the /\nncxurc "B" a sta\emcnt on the matters spccilicd in paragraphs 3 and 4oflhc Order, to lhc cx\en\ 

applicubk. 

I. /\s required by Scc1ion 143(3) ol'\hc Ac\, we report ihn\ : 

(a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our 

knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes or our audit. 

(b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Companyso far as 

it appears from our examination ofthose books. 

( c) The standalone Balance Sheet, the standalone Statement of Profit and Loss (including O\hcr 

Comprehensive Income), the standalone Cash Flow Statement and Statement of Changes in 

Equi1y dealt with by this Report are in agreemen\ with the books of accounts. 

• 



(d) In 1H1r 1ipl11i1rn tho 11 rll· .. · I , 1 1. 
, 

\ , , , S ' 1 mm slnlll ti 0110 lud /\8 l11111m:l11I st11tc11 w11ts uu111ply wi th the lndi1111 

~ \ \
11111

'11
11g ~ lt1 nclnrds spui;ilhid u11du1· Suu1io11 133 1>r tho /\ct 1·c11tl with tho Co111p1111ies (l11d lm1 

1.:rnuntmg ·"11111dnrcls) Rulus 201S, ns 111uu1Hlud, 

(L') On ilw lrnsis 11 r lhi.! wl'ithm rupruse11111tlo11s rnuulvud lhlll1 the dil'culurn ns 011 31'1 M111·uh 2024 

~,k~•n '.'.11 ri.:i:1:1·d by th~ llunnl ur IJirui:turn, 110110 or the diruutms Is dlsqunl i liud us 011 :i I st Murch, 

• ll..,l 1111111 hc111g t1pp1111,t l.!d 11s II dlrui:tor i11 lcl'IHS orSculio11 I (111 (2) or the /\et. 

(I) \~' ith respect to thi: 11dc111~11cy or the l11turn11I l1111111ci11I i:u11trols over li11111a:inl reporting or 1hu 

~ n111p1111y IUH!. thc npcrntmg elfoi: ti vcm:ss ,,r s11eh co11trnls, ru l'cr tu our sepnrnle Report i11 

~.11 11~xuru 1\ •. Our rup11rl i.!Xpresses 1111 1111111mlilii.:d opi11io11 011 th i.: 11di.:q1111uy 11 11d opernl i11g 

cllcL' l1vi:11ess 111 the Co111p1111y's i11tern11I li111111uinl uo11lrols over li111111ci11I rcpmti11g. 

(g) 'v\lith ruspi.:ct tn thu nthcr uutllcrs lo he included i11 tlw Auditor's report i11 11cuortl1111cc wit h thu 

n.:quircmc111 or seutilrn 197( I (1) orthu Acl, ns 11111umlud: 

In lllll' npininn nnd lo tlw bust nrour i11forn111tiun 11ml 11cuortli11g lo the expl111111tio11 givun 10 us, the 

r-:m11111.:rn1inn li11· the yenr encbl l'vlnrch 31, 2024 l111s bee11 provided by the Co111 pnny to its 

diructms in neunrd1111cu with lhu provisions ur section 197 rend with Schedule V lo the /\ut; 

(h) With r-:spcet tu thi.: other m1111ers tu bu i11ulll(lcd i11 the Auditor 's Report in nucordn11cc wit h Ruic 11 

nr the Co111p1111ics (Audit nnd 1\uditors) Rules, 201 4, i11 our opi11in11 11 11d lo the besl or our 

inli1rnm1io1111ml 11ccmdi11g to the cxpln11ntions given lo us: 

1. The C11111pn11y hns disclosed the impncl of' pending liligntions us nl 3 1" Murch 2024 on 

its li11a11ci11 I position i11 its s111mlnlo11e li111111ci11I slnlentenl- Rul'cr Note no- 31 (a) of' thu 

st1111d 11 lo11e li111111ui11I slntc111c11t. 

ii. Thi: Co111pa11y did nut hnvc 1111y long-term conlrncls including durivnlivc contracts l'or 

which there were nny 1111111.:rinl f'oreseenblc losses. 

iii. There hns been no such sum which needs lo be trnnsf'crn:d lo the Investor Education aml 

l'ro1cc1io11 Fund by the Compnny. 

iv . a) The 1111111age111e111 has n.:presented tlmt, lo the bust of' ils knowledge and belier, othur 

1hnn as disclosed in the notes to the ncuuunls, 110 fit11ds hnvc buen advunced or loaned or 

invesll.:d (either from borrowed f'unds or slrnrc premium or nny other sources or kind or 

l'unds) by thu company lo or in uny other person or entity, including foreign entities 

(" l111cr111ediaries"), wi th the understunding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that 

the l111unncdiary shall , whether, directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or 

entities identified i11 any manner whatsoever by or on bchulr or the company ("Ult imate 

lk11cfi ci11 ries") or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf' or the Ultimate 

lle11eficiarics. 

b) The management has represented, that , lo the bust of' its knowledge and belief; other 

than as disclosed in the notus to the accounts, no funds have been ruccived bythc company 

fro111 any person or entity, including foreign entities ("Funding Parties"), wi th the 

understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that thccompany shall, whether, 

direc tly or indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner 

whatsoever by or on bchalf'ofthe Funding Pnrly 



V 

r· t hi mate B<."11clicinrics··1 or pro, idc nn) ~1111r:intcc, ~ec11 rit) or the liJ..e on hch:1( 1 ,,1 the 
\ lti111,1tc lkneficiaric-.. 

c) Based on the audit pn1cedurcs that hnve been considered reasonable and appropri,ltc in the circumstunccs, nothing hus come to our attent ion that ha~ ~u~ed us to belie, e th:it the n:prcsentntlons under sub-clnusc (i) nnd (II) or Ruic 11 (c) n_., pro, idcd under (a) a11J 
(b) above. contain any nrntcrinl misstntcmcnl 

I he Compnn) has neither dcclnred nor puid an) dh tdend during lhc )l:.tr nor 111 the 
pn:vious )Car. 

vi Proviso to Ruh: 3( 1) of the Compnnics (Accounts) Rules. 20 14 for maintaining boo~~ of nccount using aci.:ounting son ware which hru; n fentttrc of recording audit trial (cdil ioc) 1:icility is npplicablc to the Company with effect from I st April 2023. Ba~cd on 0 ~1r examination which included test checks, the Company has used accounting ~on11.irc lor maint;iining its books of account which has a fea ture of recording audit trail (cdt l log) 1:tcilitv and the some has operated throughout the year for all relevant tran~action, recorded in the sofiware. During the course or our audit we did not come aero,~ Urt) it'L~tance or audit trail feature being tampered with in respect of accounting sot\warc. 

!'lace: Kolkata 
Date: 291

1, Mlly. 2024 
l 'Dl:-1: 24308606B KENUG209 1 

For Agrawal Tonclon & Co 
Chartered Accountants 

finn's Registration Number - 329088E 

~~ Kj,,:w-el 
Kaushal Kejriwal 

Partner 
Membership No: 308606 



ANNEX URE "A" TO TIIE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

(Referred to in paragraph l (f) under 'Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements' section of 

our report of even date) 

Heport on the Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting under Clause (I) of 

Subsection 3 of Sect"ion 143 of the Compunlcs Act, 2013 ("the Act") 

Opinion 

\Ve have audited the internal financial controls over financial reporting of Emami Frank RossLimitcd 

("the Company") as of March 31 ", 2024 to the extent of records available with us in conjunction with 

our au<lit of the standalone Intl J\S financial statements of the Company for the year ended on that 

date. 

In our opinion, to the best of our information an<l according to the explanations given to us, the 

Company has, in all material respects, adequate internal financial controls over financial report ing 

and such internal financial controls over financial reporting were operating effectively as at 31st 

March 2024. based on the internal financial controls over financial reporting criteria established by 

the Company considering the essentials components of the internal control stated in the Guidance 

Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of 

Chartered Accountants of India (the "Guidance Note") . 

. \1anagcmcnt's Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls 

The Company's management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls 

based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company considering 

the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Noteon Audit of Internal Financial 

Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of lndia. These 

responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial 

controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, 

the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and 

completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, 

as required under the CompaniesAct, 2013. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the internal financial controls over financial reporting 

of the Company based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with theGuidance Note on 

Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (the "Guidance Note") issued by the 

Inst itute of Chartered Accountants of India and the Standards on Auditing prescribed under Section 

143(10) of the Companies Act, 2013, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls. 

Those Standards and the Guida?ce Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 

and perfonn the audit to obtam reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial 

controls over financial reporting was established and maintained and if such controls operated 

effectively in all material respects. 



I 
I 

Our 11udi1 involves performing proccdurcu 10 ob111ln 1111dl1 evidence r1tw11I lhc udc<fllllCY ol the lmcm:,1 

linanc111l controlH system over fi1 111nt:inl repor1 l11g nml !heir opcnHlnp, cl'li:c1Jvc11c/i/l < J11r 1111d1t 11I 

i11tcrnul finam:iul conlrols over finf!lieiul reporting included uh111i11l11g 1111 1111dcr1111111dl11g ul lmcm:11 

lin11nciul controls over fi111111ci11l reporting, 11HHCHH h1g !he rfNk lhrll fl 111111crl11f wc11k11<:M CJd4tti, 1111d 

te~ting und evaluating the design und opcrnl lng cffcc1f vc11cu11 oli11lcrtlfll conlrof h111wd u11 the 1,~~Chf.cd 

mk. The prUl:edurcs seleclcd dcfll:nd 011 1he 1111dlt0t·'u juduc111c11t , J11cl11dl11g the 111111c1m111c11t 111 tltc 

mk\ of' material 111ih~tu1e111enl of !he fi111111ci11l st111c111e111!1, whclhcr due to lbt11d or ctror, 

We believe that the audit evidence we huve ohtul11cd, lu 1rnf'flclc11I nnd 11ppn,prl111c to provide II h:111111 

for our audit opinion on 1lw Co111p11 11y's inten111l fi111111cl11I co11lrol1111yR1c111 over li111111ci1d rcp11rt/11g, 

\1caninl( of l111 crn11I Ffnancfnl Con1rofH Over Jtf111111cfnf Ucportf11g 

/\ Company·~ internal financia l conlrol over fi111111cl11l rcpor1l11g i11 11 prnccn11 dcu/gncd to prr,vldc 

reasonable assurance regarding llw rcliabill1y of fi11f111ci11I rcpor1/ng und lhc prcpumt/cm ol ll111111c/ul 

~tatement.~ for external purposes in accorduncc with gcncmlly acccplcd 11ccou111/11g pri11c/plc11, /I 

Company·~ internal financial conlrol over financiul repor1l11g includcH tltoue pof/cicH 111HJ proccdurc•i 

that: 

(I) per1ai11 to the mainlenunec of records llwt , in rcusonablc detail, uccuralcly und liiirly rcflect the 

transactions am! dispositions oflhc assets oflhc company; 

(2) provide reasonable assurance Iha! transactions arc recorded au necessary lo permit preparation of 

fin:mcial slalcmcnts in accordance wi1h generally ucccptcd accounting principlcn, and that 

receipts and expcntl ilurcs of !he company arc being nrndc only in accordance with iiuthori;,,,afionu 

ofrnanagerncnl and directors oflhc company; and 

(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or tirm:ly detection of unauthorized 

acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect (/11 the 

financia l statements. 



Limitutlons of lntcrn11I Finnncinl Controls Over Finnncinl Rcporl ing Because o f the inherent limitations of internal finunciul controls over financial reporting, incluclin, 

ihc possibility of collusion or improper munngement override of controls, material misslatemcnt~ du~ 

10 error or fraud may occur nnd not be dciected. Also, projections of any evnluntion o f the internal 

financial controls over financial reporting to future periods (UC s ubject to the risk that the internal 

Ii nancial control over Ii nancial reporting may become inadequate been use of changes in conclilions or 

that the degree of compliance with the policles or procedures may deteriorate. 
' 

Place: Kolkata 
Date: 29th May, 2024 
UDlN: 24308606BKENUG2091 

For Agruwnl Tondon & Co 
Chartered Accountants Firm's Registration Number 329088E 

r".__,a,....)- .,.J ~"' i w ./ 

Kaushal Kejriwal 
Partner 

Membership No: 308606 

I 
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ANNEX URE 'B' TO TIJE INDEPENDENT AUDITOH'S HEl'OHT 

tl~cl'crred lo i,'. pnrngrnph 2 under 'Hepor1 011 Olhcr Legal 1111(I Hcg11l111ory Hcq11 irc111c,M Hcc1io11 

of our rcpo11 of even dnle) 

i) 

ii) 

In respect oflhe Compnny's Properly, 1'1111111111d Equipmenl: 

(a) (A) The compnny h11s 11111in111incd proper records showing /'ull p11r1ic 11l11rs, i11d11d111g 

quanlilalivc dclnils and si111111iu11 of Properly, Pinn! 11nd Equipmcnl 1111cl rclcv11111 dc1:11ls of' 

right-of-use ussels. 

(13) The Company has mninlnined proper records showing liill p;1rlic11l11rs of' in111ngihlcs 

assels. 

(b) The Company has a regular program of verilicnlion lo cover 1111 lhc items of l'ropcrly, 

Plant and Equipment in a phased manner which, in our opinion, is rc11so11ablc having 

regard lo lhc size of the Company and lhc n11l11re of its assets. According to the 

information and explanalions given to us, 110 mall!rial discrepancies were noticed on such 

verification. 

(c) According to the informnlion and explanations given by the management, the title deeds 

of all the immovable properties (other than properties where the Company is_ the lessee 

and the lease agreements arc duly executed in favour of the lessee) arc held in the name 

of the Company. 

(d) The Company has not revalued any of its property, plant and equipment (including Right 

of Use assets) during the year ended 31" March, 2024. 

(c) There were no proceedings initiated or are pending against the company for holding any 

benami property under the Benami Transactions (Prohibition) Act, l 988 (45 ofl 988) and 

rules made thereunder. 

(a) The inventory has been physically verified by the management during the year. In our 

opinion, the frequency of verification by the management is reasonable and the coverage 

and procedure for such verification is appropriate. No discrepancies of I 0% or more in 

aggregate for each class of inventory were noticed. 

(b) The Company has been sanctioned working capital facility in excess of Rs 5 crores from 

banks on the basis of security of current assets of the company. Based on the records 

examined by us in lhe normal course of audit of the financial statements, the monthly returns 

stalcmenls filed by lhe company with such banks are in agreement with the books of 

accounts of the company. 



iii) During the year the compan has d . . . 

advances in the nature ofl y ma e mveSlmenls _ 111, provided guarantee or security, granted Joans or 

oans, W1secured, to compames or any parties, 

(a) During the year the co h 'd 

1 
mpany as prov1 ed loans or provided advances in the nature of 

oans, or stood guarantee, or provided security to entities -

(A) T here were no loans or ad d . . . . . 

d 
. vances an guarantees or security lo subsidiaries JOlnt ventures 

an associates; 
' 

B~ the aggregate amount during the year, and balance outstanding at the balance sheet date 

w11h respect to such Joru d d . . 

. . . . . 1s or a vances an guarantees or security to parties other than 

subsidianes Jomt ventures and associates· , , 

I Agg1 ·egate amount of loan provided during tl1e 

Loans (in Jakhs) I 

1 year 

Others 3576.00 

nee outstanding as at Balance Sheet date in 

ct of above 

Otl1ers 
53147.35 

(b) During the year, the tenns and conditions of the grant of all loans and advances in the 

nature of loans and guarantees provided are not prejudicial to the company's interes t. 

(c) In respect of loans and advances in the nature of loans, are repayable on demand and 

hence, no schedule of repayment of principal and payment of interest has been stipulated. 

(d) There is no overdue amount in respect of Joans and advances in nature of loans given lo 

above parties. 

(e) In respect of any loan or advance in the nature ofloan granted which has fallen due during 

the year, the loan or advance in the nature of loan has neither been renewed nor extended 

nor any fresh loans granted to settle the ·overdues of existing loans given to the same 

parties. 

(I) In respect of any loan or advance in the nature of loan granted by the company which are 

repayable on demand, the details are as follows: 

Followin g loans have been granted that are repayable on demand. I In lakhs 

, TyQ_eofb 

Promoters 

/ Directors 

K:v1Ps 

orrower 

lfties , Related p, 

Others 

As at 31.03.2024 

Amount of loan or advance in nature 
Percentage to the total 

Loans and Advances in 

of loan outstanding nature of loans 
-- --

- 0 

- 0 

- 0 

- 0 

5,314,7.35 100% 

iv) In our opinion and according to the information and explanaf . . 
IDns given to us, 111 respec 

,?"'-'C::::::,-.. 



v) 

vi) 

vii) 

loans and advances given inv tm t d 
s f 185 d 

1 
' es en 5 ma e and, guarantees, and security provisions of 

cc 
1011 

an 86 of the Companies Act have been complied with. ' 

According to the infonn t' d 1 . . 
. a 1011 an exp anallons given to us, the Company has not accepted 

any deposit from the p bl' . 
. . . . u IC nor accepted any amounts which are deemed to be deposits 

durmg the year wi!lim the meaning of Sections 73 and 76 of the Companies. 

In our opinion and according to infonnation and explanations given to us, the Company is no1 

rcqmred to maintain cost records prescribed by the Central Government under section 148( I) 

of the Companies Act, 2013. 

According to the infonnation and explanations given to us, in respect of statutory dues: 

(a) The Company has generally been regular in depositing undisputed stallltory dues, 

including Provident Fund, Employees' State Insurance, Income Tax, Goods and Service 

Tax, Cess and otl)er material statutory dues applicable to it with the appropriate 

authorities and no undisputed dues are in arrears as at March 31, 2024 for a period of 

more than six months from the date they became payable. 

(b) Details of statutory dues referred to in sub-clause (a) above which have not been 

deposited as on March 31 st 2024 on account of dispute are given below-

-
Nan 1e of Statue Nature Amow1t Period to 

of (Rs. in which the Forum where 

Dues Lakhs) amount relates dispute's pending 

(Financial 
Year) 

tral Goods CGST 80.61 2017-18 Deputy 

Services 
Commissioner-Ccn 

and 
Act, 2017 

Chennai, Tamil 

Nadu 

Goods SGST 80.61 2017-18 Deputy 

Services 
Commissioner-

1 State 
and 
Act, 2017 

Chennai, Tamil 

Nadu 

viii) According to the information and explanations given to us, there were no transactions relating 

to previously unrecorded income that have been surrendered or disclosed as income during 

the year in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 (43 of 1961). 

ix) 
(a) Jn our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us by the 

management, the Company has not defaulted in the repayment of dues to banks, financial 

institutions and government during the year. Hence, reporting under clause (ix)(a) of the 

Order is not applicable. 

(b) The Company has not been declared will fol defaulter by any bank or financial institution 

or other lender; 

-

I 



(c) According to the i fi . · , . . 
• . • 

11 onnation and explanat1011 given to us and on the basis of our 

exam111at1on of the rec d f 1 
taken for int d d or s O I le company, the Company has utilized the loan amount 

en e purpose. 

(d) On an overall exam· 1· f 1 . 

I 
. · 1118 ion o t 1e financrnl statements of the Company, funds raised on 

s 101i- tenn basis have p · r. · b . 

b I 
, rnna 1ac1e, not een used durrng the year for long-termpurposes 

y t 1e Company. 

( c) According to the infonnntion and explanations given to us and on an overall examination 

of the financial statements of the Company, we report that the Company has nor taken 

any _ft~nds from nny entity or person on account of or to meet the obligations of its 

subsidiary, as defined under the Act. 

(!) The company has not raised loans during the year on the pledge of securities held in its 

Subsidiary. 

x) (a) According to tl1e infomrntion and explanations given by the management, the 

Company has not made any public offer dw·ing the year. 

xi) 

(b) During tl1e year, t11e Company has not made any preferential allotment or private 

placement of shares or convertible debentures (fully or partly or optionally) and hence 

reporting under clause 3(x) (b) of the Order is not applicable. 

(a) Based on examination of the books and records of the Company and according to the 

infonnation and explanations given to us, we report that no fraud by the Company or on 

the Company has been noticed or reported during the course of the audit. 

(b) To the best of our knowledge, no report w1der sub-section (12) of section 143 of '.he 

Companies Act has been filed in Form ADT-4 as prescribed under rule 13 of Compa111es 

(Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 with the Central Government, during the year and up lo 

the date of this report. 

( c) To the best of our knowledge and according to the information and explanations given to 

us, there were no whistle-blower complaints received during the year by the company. 

xii) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company is 

not a Nidhi Company and hence reporting under clause 3 (xii) (a) to (c) ofthe Order is not 

applicable to the Company. 

xiii) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company is 

in compliance with Section 177 and 188 ofthe Companies Act, 2013 where applicable, for all 

transactions with U1e related parties and the details of related party transactions have been 

disclosed in the financial statements as required by the applicable Indian accounting 

standards. 

xiv) 

(a) The Company has an adequate internal audit system commensurate with U1e size and 

the nature of its business. 

(b) We have considered the inte1~1al audit reports for the year tmder audit, issued to the 

Company dunng the year and tI!l date, in detennining the nature, timing and extent of 
O 

. 

audit procedures. 
tu 



I 

,, ) 1\ ccording to the information and explunation.~ given to us and based on our c,amination of the records of the Compan>, the Company h11S not entered into an:r non-ca\h tran\action~ \'1th 11, directors or persons connected with them ns referred to in Section 192 of Comp,inic-- \ 1.t. ,o 13. Accordingly. pnrngrnph J (xv) of t he Order Is not applicable. 

w i) 
(a) J\ccordi11g to the information n11cl explanations given to tL~. the pro"ision\ of Section ,15-IJ\ of the Reserve Dank of Incl in Act , 193,1 arc not applicable to the Company. ( b) fhc Company is 1101 engaged in any Non-13unking financial or I lou\ing I rnancc uctivitics. J\ccorclingly, the requirement to report on clause J(xvi)(b) of the Order b 1101 applicable to the Company. 
tc) rhe Company is not n Core Investment Company as delined in the regulation\ m,1tkby Reserve Uonk of Indio. J\ccordingly, the requirement to report on clause 3(:-. vi)(c) of the Order is 1101 applicable 10 the Company. 
(d) In our opinion. there are two core investment company within the Group (a~ delinetl in the Core Investment Companies (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016) which arc the promoter compani~ anti holding more thnn 20% equity share capital of the Company. 

:...vii) The company has not incurred any cash losses in the financial year and in thcimmcdiatcly preceding financial year; 
wii i) There hns been no resignation of t he statutory auditors of the Company during the yeaL :...ix) 011 the bas is of the financial ratios. ageing and expected dates of realisation of financial assets and payment of financial liabilities, other information accompanying the financial statcmcn\s, our knowledge of the Board of Directors and management plans.we are of the opinion that no material uncertainty exists as on the date of the audit report that company is capable of meeting its liabilities existing at the date of balance sheet as and when they fall due within a period of one year from the balance sheet date: 
xx) According to the infom1ation and explanations given to us and based on our examination of the records of the Company. the compliance with second proviso lo sub-section (5) of section 135 of the Companies Act. 2013 is not applicable to the company. Accordingly. the requirement to report on clause 3(xx) of the Order is not applicable to the Company. 

Place: Kolkala 
Date: 29'" May, 2024 
L~l)I N: 2-1308606BKENUG209 l 

for Agrawal Tondon & Co 
Chartered Accountan\s 

Firm's Registration Number - 329088E y~...A k.;11 ,w--1 

Kaushal Kejriwal 
Partner 

Membership No: 308606 



Rs. In Lakhs
As at As at

31st March, 2024  31st March, 2023 
ASSETS

NON CURRENT ASSETS
a) Property, Plant and Equipment 2.1 5,167.27               4,003.12                 
b) Capital work-in-progress 2.1 26.42                    11.41                      
c) Other Intangible Assets 2.2 275.45                  223.01                    
d) Right of Use Assets 2.3 5,256.23               4,455.26                 
e) Intangible Assets under Development 2.2 179.11                  60.96                      

f) Financial assets
(i) Investments 3 700.51                  693.28                    
(ii) Other Financial Assets 6 1,408.60               1,221.16                 

g) Deferred Tax Assets (Net) 7 3,833.22               3,560.91                 
h) Other non-current assets 8 315.92                  209.74                    

17,162.73             14,438.85               

CURRENT ASSETS
a) Inventories 9 10,021.14             8,025.83                 
b) Financial assets

(i) Trade receivable 5 7,315.70               5,966.31                 
(ii) Cash and cash equivalents 10 714.99                  768.97                    
(iii) Loans 4 53,147.35             46,506.58               

c) Other current assets 11 1,982.46               581.52                    
73,181.64             61,849.21               

TOTAL ASSETS 90,344.37             76,288.06               

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EQUITY
a) Equity Share Capital 12 408.27                  408.27                    
b) Other Equity 13 7,851.71               8,085.20                 

8,259.98               8,493.47                 
LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
a) Financial liabilities

(i) Borrowings 14 12,845.07             21,596.04               
(i)(a) Lease Liabilities 14 4,853.07               3,779.48                 
(ii) Other Financial Liabilities 15 27.84                    24.18                      

17,725.98             25,399.70               

CURRENT LIABILITIES
a) Financial liabilities

(i) Borrowings 14 55,794.19             34,905.67               
(i)(a) Lease Liabilities 14 875.71                  1,097.51                 
(ii) Trade payables 17

(a) Total outstanding dues of Micro enterprises 
and small enterprises

571.44                  43.53                      

(b)
Total outstanding dues of creditors other than 
Micro enterprises and small enterprises

5,004.21                                 5,058.38 

(iii) Other Financial Liabilities 18 1,602.84               746.15                    
b) Other current liabilities 19 198.95                  231.52                    
c) Provisions 16 311.07                  312.13                    

64,358.41             42,394.89               

TOTAL EQUITY AND  LIABILITIES 90,344.37             76,288.06               

Material accounting polices 1

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

In terms of our attached report of even date

For Agrawal Tondon & Co.

Chartered Accountants

FRN:-329088E SD/- SD/-

Gautam Jatia Sujoy Chattaraj

Managing Director Director

DIN - 00604926 DIN - 08818352

Kaushal Kejriwal SD/-

Partner        Bimal Kr Agarwal

Membership No. 308606 Chief Financial Officer

Dated : 29th May 2024 SD/-

Place : Kolkata Priyanka Agarwal

    Company Secretary

Membership No. - A55000

SD/-

For & on behalf of Board of Directors

Emami Frank Ross Ltd
Balance Sheet as at 31st March 2024

Particulars Notes

Total Non Current Liabilities

Total Non Current Assets

Total Current Liabilities

Total Current Assets

Total Equity



Rs. In Lakhs

Notes
Year ended

31st March 2024
Year ended

31st March 2023

I Revenue from Operations 20 60,806.18                 54,997.00                     

II Other Income 21 6,277.79                   4,479.77                       

III Total Income (I+II) 67,083.97                 59,476.77                     

IV Expenses :

Purchases of Stock-in-Trade 50,191.83                 44,196.96                     

Changes in Inventories of Stock-in-Trade 22 (1,995.31)                  (1,041.87)                      

Employee Benefits Expense 23 7,033.58                   5,464.38                       

Finance Costs 24 7,098.09                   6,493.26                       

Depreciation and Amortisation Expense 2 2,099.44                   1,770.34                       

Other Expenses 25 3,316.16                   3,252.68                       

Total Expenses  (IV) 67,743.79                 60,135.75                     

V Profit/(Loss) before Exceptional Items and Tax (III-IV) (659.82)                     (658.98)                         

VI Tax Expense :

Tax relating to earlier years -                            1.66                              

Deferred Tax 7 (318.86)                     (266.59)                         

VII  Profit / (Loss) for the year (V-VI) (340.96)                     (394.05)                         

VIII Other Comprehensive Income

Items that will not be reclassified to Profit & Loss

i Fair value changes in Equity instrument 7.23                          (8.93)                             

ii Remeasurement of defined benefit obligation 146.82                      -                                

iii Income Tax relating to above (46.56)                       3.22                              

Other Comprehensive income net of tax 107.49                      (5.71)                             

IX Total Comprehensive income for the year (VII+VIII) (233.47)                     (399.76)                         

Earnings per equity share

i Basic (Face value Rs. 10/- each) (8.35)                         (16.92)                           

ii Diluted  (Face value Rs. 10/- each) (8.35)                         (16.92)                           

Material accounting polices 1

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

In terms of our attached report of even date

For Agrawal Tondon & Co.

Chartered Accountants

FRN:-329088E SD/- SD/-

Gautam Jatia Sujoy Chattaraj

SD/- Managing Director Director

Kaushal Kejriwal DIN - 00604926 DIN - 08818352

Partner 

Membership No. 308606

SD/-

Dated : 29th May 2024 Bimal Kr Agarwal

Place : Kolkata Chief Financial Officer

SD/-

Priyanka Agarwal

Company Secretary

Membership No.- A55000

Emami Frank Ross Ltd
Statement of Profit & Loss 

For the year ended 31st March 2024

For & on behalf of Board of Directors

PARTICULARS



Rs. In Lakhs
A Cash flow from operating activities 2023-24 2022-23

Net Profit before tax (659.82)                   (658.99)                        
Adjustments for :-
Depreciation and amortisation expense 2,099.44                 1,770.35                      
Dividend (0.80)                       (0.80)                            
Finance costs 7,098.09                 6,493.25                      
Interest income (6,212.85)                (3,749.24)                     
Profit/(loss) on sale /(disposal) of property, Plant & equipment 
(net)

10.07                      (1.73)                            

Lease Payments -                          (2,510.85)                     
Non Cash items -                          -                               

2,334.13                 1,341.99                      

Adjustments for working capital changes
Increase/(Decrease) in Trade Payables and Other Liabilities 938.58                    2,321.52                      
(Increase)/Decrease in Inventories (1,995.31)                (1,041.87)                     
(Increase)/Decrease in Trade Receivables (1,349.40)                (996.94)                        
(Increase)/Decrease in financial & non financial assets (1,693.83)                (300.14)                        
Increase/(Decrease) in Provisions (1.05)                       45.32                           

(4,101.01)                27.89                           
Cash generated from opreation (1,766.88)                1,369.88                      
Less:- Direct Taxes paid/(refund received)-Net (105.85)                   (5.12)                            

Net Cash flow from opearting activities (1,872.73)                1,364.76                      

B Cash flow from Investing activities
Proceeds from Sale of Property,Plant & Equipment 6.66                        1.32                             
Interest received 1,836.04                 94.76                           
Dividend 0.80                        0.80                             
Purchase of Property,Plant & Equipment (2,274.02)                -                               
Loans given to others (2,345.00)                (23,518.75)                   
Fixed deposit made (0.75)                       (0.53)                            

Net cash flow from ( used ) investing activities (2,776.27)                (23,422.40)                   

C Cash flow from Financing activities
Repayment of Borrowings (Net) (20,220.61)              (7,506.57)                     
Issue/(redemption) of Non Convertible Debentures (1,700.00)                10,500.00                    
Proceeds from  borrowings 33,405.00               25,747.00                    
Interest Paid Including Borrowing costs (6,889.37)                (6,493.25)                     

Net cash flow from (used) financing activities 4,595.02                 22,247.18                    

                     (53.98)                           189.54 
Add:- Cash & Cash Equivalents -Opening balance 768.97                    579.43                         
Cash & cash equivalents -Closing balance 714.99                     768.97                          

Notes:-

(a)

(b) As at As at 
31-Mar-24 31-Mar-23

Cash & cash equivalents includes:-
Cash in hand 156.09                    118.48                         
-Current account 555.71                    647.31                         
Fixed Deposits with Banks [including interest accrued] 3.19                        3.18                             

Cash & Cash Equivalents in Cash Flow Statement 714.99                    768.97                         

Material accounting polices 1

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

In terms of our attached report of even date

For Agrawal Tondon & Co.

Chartered Accountants

FRN:-329088E SD/- SD/-

Gautam Jatia Sujoy Chattaraj

SD/- Managing Director Director

Kaushal Kejriwal DIN - 00604926 DIN - 08818352

Partner 

Membership No. 308606

SD/-

Dated : 29th May 2024

Place : Kolkata

SD/-

Membership No.- A55000

For & on behalf of Board of Directors

Bimal Kr Agarwal

Chief Financial Officer

Priyanka Agarwal

Company Secretary

Net increase /(decrease) in cash & cash equivalents (A+B+C)

The above cash flow statement has been prepared under the "Indirect Method" as set out in the Indian
Accounting  Standard (Ind AS-7)-Statement of Cash Flow

Particulars

Emami Frank Ross Ltd
Cash Flow statement

For the year ended 31st March 2024



A Equity Share Capital
Rs. In Lakhs

1 Current reporting period (2023-24)

Balance at the beginning of the 
current reporting period

Changes in 
Equity Share 

Capital due to prior 
period errors

Restated balance at 
the beginning of the 

current reporting 
period

Changes in equity 
share capital 

during the current 
year

Balance at the 
end of the current 
reporting period

                                                                                408.27                                 -                                   -                                  -                       408.27 

2 Previous reporting period (2022-23)

Balance at the beginning of the 
current reporting period

Changes in 
Equity Share 

Capital due to prior 
period errors

Restated balance at 
the beginning of the 

current reporting 
period

Changes in equity 
share capital 

during the current 
year

Balance at the 
end of the current 
reporting period

                                                                                208.27                                 -                                   -                          200.00                     408.27 

Other Equity Rs. In Lakhs

Balance as on 01.04.2022 (8,646.87)                    2,124.67                     146.40                    60.81                           (6,314.99)       

Fair value changes in Equity instrument (8.93)                      (8.93)              
Tax Effect on above 3.22                        3.22               
Equity Component of Optionally
 Convertible Debenture (OCD)

14,800.00                  14,800.00      

Remeasurement of Defined benefit obligation -                               -                 
Tax Effect on above -                               -                 
Profit/(loss) for the year (394.10)                       -                              -                         -                               (394.10)          

Balance at 31.03.2023 (9,040.97)                    2,124.67                     14,800.00                  140.69                    60.81                           8,085.20        

Balance as on 01.04.2023 (9,040.97)                    2,124.67                     14,800.00                  140.69                    60.81                           8,085.20        
Fair value changes in Equity instrument 7.23                        7.23               

Tax Effect on above (0.75)                      (0.75)              

Remeasurement of Defined benefit obligation 146.82                         146.82           

Tax Effect on above (45.81)                          (45.81)            

Profit/(loss) for the year (340.98)                       -                              -                         -                               (340.98)          

Balance at 31.03.2024 (9,381.95)                    2,124.67                     14,800.00                  147.17                    161.82                         7,851.71        

Material accounting polices 1
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

In terms of our attached report of even date
For Agrawal Tondon & Co.
Chartered Accountants
FRN:-329088E SD/- SD/-

Gautam Jatia Sujoy Chattaraj
Managing Director   Director

DIN - 00604926 DIN - 08818352

SD/-
Kaushal Kejriwal
Partner 
Membership No. 308606

Dated : 29th May 2024
Place : Kolkata

SD/-
Bimal Kr Agarwal

Chief Financial Officer

Priyanka Agarwal
Company Secretary

Membership No.- A55000

SD/-

 Retained 
Earnings 

 Equity 
Instruments 
through OCI 

 Remeasurement of 
Defined Benefit 

Plans 

Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31st March,2024

Particulars

Reserves & Surplus Other Comprehensive Income

 Total 
Other
Equity 

 General 
Reserve 

 Equity Component 
of Optionally 
Convertible 
Debenture

(OCD) 
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1 Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 24

Corporate Information

Emami Frank Ross Limited, the Company, is primarily engaged in pharmacy business.
The Company is domiciled in India and is incorporated under the provisions of the
Companies Act applicable in India. The registered office of the Company is located at
Kolkata.

1 Material Accounting Policies
Basis of Preparation and compliance with Ind AS

(i) This note provides a list of the material accounting policies adopted in the preparation
of these financial statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all the
years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

a Basis of Preparation

These accounts have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards
(Ind AS) prescribed under Section 133 of the Companies Act 2013 ("Act") read with Rule
3 of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules 2015 and the relevant
amendment rules issued thereafter.These IndAS Financial Statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis using historical cost convention, except for the
following:

1 Derivative Financial Instruments at FVTPL
2 Certain financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value (refer accounting policy

regarding financial Instruments)
3 Defined Benefit Plans which have been measured at Actuarial Valuation as required

by relevant Ind AS. 

Functional and presentation currency
These IndAS Financial Statements are prepared in Indian Rupee which is the
Company’s functional and presentation currency. All figures are rounded off to nearest
lakhs.

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies

a) Property, Plant and equipment

Property, Plant and Equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation
(other than Freehold Land) and accumulated impairment loss, if any. The cost of
Property, Plant & Equipment comprises of its purchase price, including import duties
and other non-refundable taxes or levies and any directly attributable cost of bringing
the asset to its working condition for its intended use. Interest and other financial
charges on loans borrowed specifically for acquisition of capital assets are capitalised
till the start of commercial production. Depreciation is provided on the written down
value method .The company has used written down value method based on the
useful life  with the requirements of Part C of Schedule II of the Companies Act, 2013.  

Leasehold property  is amortised during the period of lease.

Advances paid towards the acquisition of property, plant and equipment outstanding
at each balance sheet date is classified as Capital Advances under other Non-Current
Assets and the cost of assets not put to use before such date are disclosed under
‘Capital Work in Progress’. The cost and related accumulated depreciation are
eliminated from the Financial Statements upon sale or retirement of the asset and the
resultant gains or losses are recognized in the Statement of Profit & Loss. The method of
depreciation, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year end.



When significant parts of property, plant & equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Company recognizes such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly. Subsequent expenditure related to an item of
property, plant & equipment is added to its book value only if it increases the future
benefits from the existing asset beyond its previously assessed standard of
performance. All other expenses on existing property plant and equipment, including
day-to-day repair and maintenance expenditure and cost of replacing parts, are
charged to the statement ofprofit and loss for the period during which such expenses
are incurred.

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of fixed assets are measured as the
difference between the estimated / actual disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and are recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss when the
asset is derecognized.

Depreciation and useful lives

Depreciation is provided on the written down value method. The company has used
written down value method based on the useful life with the requirements of Part C of
Schedule II of the Companies Act, 2013.  

b) Intangible assets 

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at
cost.Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. 

The Company’s intangible assets constitutes
i) Computer software which has finite useful economic lives and these are amortised on

a straight line basis, over their useful life of 3 years. 

ii) Tenancy right is depreciated over a period of 10 years from the date it is available for 
use.

iii) Online Application Software is written off  in 6 years on Straight Line basis over the 
estimated useful life.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period.

c) Impairment of property plant and equipment and intangible assets

The carrying amount of assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine
if there is any indication of impairment based on external or internal factors. An
impairment loss is recognisedwherever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount which represents the greater of the net selling price of assets and
their ‘value in use’. The estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using pre-tax discount rates and risks specific to the asset.

d) Revenue Recognition
The Company derives revenue on retail trade of Pharmaceutical products and Leisure
products.
Revenue is recognised on satisfaction of performance obligation at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange of
Pharmaceutical products and Leisure products.

Contract assets and Contract Liability
Revenue in excess of invoicing are classified as contract assets (which we referred as
unbilled revenue) while invoicing in excess of revenues are classified as contract
liabilities (which we refer as unearned revenue)
Revenue from retail sales is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
.Revenue is reduced for discounts and rebates and value added tax, sales tax and
Goods and Service tax.



Revenue is recognised on the delivery of the merchandise to the customer ,when the
property in goods and control are transferred for a price and no effective ownership
control is retained 

Facility management fees are recognised pro-rata over the period of the contract.
Revenue from stores displays and sponsorships are recognised based on the periods for
which the products or the sponsors advertisement are promoted.

Interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis taking into account the
amount outstanding and the applicable effective interest rate (EIR). EIR is the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts over the expected
life of a financial liability or a financial asset to their gross carrying amount.

Interest and Dividend income are included under the head “other income” in the 
Statement of Profit and Loss.Dividend is recognised when the company’s right to 
receive dividend is established.

e) Foreign currency transactions
Initial recognition
Foreign currency transactions are recorded in the reporting currency, by applying to
the foreign currency amount the exchange rate between the reporting currency and
the foreign currency at the date of the transaction.

Conversion

Foreign currency monetary items are retranslated using the exchange rate prevailing
at the reporting date. Non-monetary items, which are measured in terms of historical
cost denominated in a foreign currency, are reported using the exchange rate at the
date of the transaction. Non-monetary items, which are measured at fair value or other
similar valuation denominated in a foreign currency, are translated using the exchange
rate at the date when such value was determined.

Exchange differences
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on reporting
monetary items of Company at rates different from those at which they were initially
recorded during the year, or reported in previous financial statements, are recognized
as income or expenses in the year in which they arise.

f) Inventories
Inventories are valued at lower of cost and realizable value. Cost is determined on First
in First Out basis. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less estimated costs of completion and estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.

g) Employee benefits
Employee benefits payable wholly within twelve months of receiving employee
services are classified as short‐term employee benefits. These benefits include salaries
and wages, bonus and ex‐gratia. The undiscounted amount of short‐term employee
benefits to be paid in exchange for employee services is recognized as an expense as
the related service is rendered by employees.

h) Post-employment benefits
The Company operates the following post‐employment schemes:



i)

Gratuity is funded with Life insurance corporation of India . Gratuity liability is defined
benefit obligation and is provided for on the basis of an actuarial valuation on
projected unit credit method done at the end of each financial year in accordance
with the provision of Ind AS 19 - Employee Benefits. The Company recognizes the net
obligation of a defined benefit plan in its balance sheet as an asset or liability. Gains
and losses through re-measurements of the net defined benefit liability/(asset) are
recognized in other comprehensive income and are not reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods. The actual return of the portfolio of plan assets, in excess of the
yields computed by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit
obligation is recognized in other comprehensive income. The effect of any plan
amendments are recognized in the Statement of Profit & Loss.

The long-term and short term classification of gratuity is based on the actuarial 
valuations.

ii) Retirement benefits in the form of provident fund is a defined benefit contribution
scheme and the Company recognizes the contribution payable to the provident fund
scheme as expenditure when an employee renders the related services. The Company
has no obligations other than the contribution payable to the respective funds already
paid.
 

iii) Leave encashment
The Group provides for the encashment of leave with pay subject to certain rules. The
employees are entitled to accumulate leave subject to certain limits, for future
encashment / availment. The liability is provided based on the number of days of
unutilized leave at each Balance Sheet date on the basis of an independent actuarial
valuation. Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in actuarial assumptions are
recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

iv)
Re-measurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses excluding amounts
included in net interest on the net defined benefit liability and the return on plan assets
(excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefit liability), are
recognised through Other Comprehensive Income in the period in which they occur.
Re-measurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit
liability or asset. The Company recognizes the following changes in the net defined
benefit obligation as an expense in the statement of profit and loss.

i)  Leases
The Company has applied Ind AS 116 using the modified retrospective approach and
has accordingly not restated the comparative information. The Company at the
inception of a contract, assesses whether a contract, is or contains a lease. A contract
is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Ind AS 116
introduces a single balance sheet lease accounting model for lessees. A lessee
recognises a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset and a
lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments.

The Company has elected not to recognise right-of-use of assets and lease liabilities for
short term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low value
assets. The Company recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as
an expense on a straight line basis over the lease term . Lessor accounting remains
similar to the accounting under the previous standard i.e. lessor continues to classify
leases as finance or operating lease. For contracts entered into before 1st April 2019,
the determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the
substance of the arrangement at the inception of the lease. The arrangement is, or
contains, a lease if fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific
asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset or assets, even if
that right is not explicitly specified in an arrangement.



As a lessee

The Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease
commencement date. The right of use asset is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct cost incurred and
an estimate of cost to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.
The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated over the useful life of the asset. On
the balance sheet date, the right-of-use of asset is included in property, plant and
equipment and lease liabilities have been included in the borrowings and other
financial liabilities.

Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s inception at the fair value of the leased
property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The
corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in borrowings or
other financial liabilities as appropriate. Each lease payment is allocated between the
liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to the profit or loss over the lease
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance
of the liability for each period.

As a lessor
Lease income from operating leases, where the Company is a lessor, is recognised in 
income on a straight-line basis over the lease term unless the receipts are structured to 
increase in line with expected general inflation to compensate for the expected 
inflation.

j) Taxes
Current income tax

Current income tax is measured at the amount expected to be paid to the tax
authorities in accordance with Indian Income Tax Act. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in the tax returns vis a vis position taken in books of account
which are subject to interpretation and creates provisions where appropriate.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between
the tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes at the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available in future supported by convincing evidence against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carried forward unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilized. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized
deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognized to the
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred
tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to
apply in the year when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognized outside profit or loss is recognized outside
profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or in equity). Such deferred tax
items are recognized, in correlation to the underlying transaction either, in OCI or
directly in equity. 



k) Provisions

A provision is recognized when an enterprise has a present obligation as a result of past
event; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, in respect of which a reliable estimate can be made. 

If the effect of time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a
current pre-tax rate that reflects, when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.
When discounting is used the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognised as a finance cost.

l) Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events whose
existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events beyond the control of the Company or a present obligation
that is not recognized because it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation. The Company does not recognize a contingent liability 
but discloses its existence in the financial statements.

m) Earnings Per Share

Basic Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit or loss before OCI for
the year by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the
year. 

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the net profit or loss for the
year attributable to equity shareholders and the weighted average number of shares
outstanding during the year are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential equity
shares.

n) Cash Flow Statement

Cash flows are reported using indirect method as set out in Ind AS -7 “Statement of
Cash Flows”, whereby profit / (loss) before tax is adjusted for the effects of transactions
of non-cash nature and any deferrals or accruals of past or future cash receipts or
payments. The cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities of the
Company are segregated based on the available information.

o) Financial Instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity
and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from
the fair value measured on initial recognition of financial asset or financial liability.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either 
amortised cost or fair value, depending on the classification of the financial assets

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost if they are held within a
business whose objective is to hold these assets in order to collect contractual cash
flows and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.



Financial assets at fair value through Other Comprehensive Income
Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets cash flow represent solely payments of principal and interest,
are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income(FVTOCI). There is no
recycling of the amounts from OCI to Statement of Profit & Loss, even on sale of
investment. However, the company may transfer the cumulative gain/loss within Other
Equity.

Fair value through profit or loss

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at fair
value through profit or loss. Interest income from these financial assets is included in
other income.

Equity instruments
The company subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where
the company’s management has elected to present fair value gains and losses
on equity investments in other comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss. Dividends from such
investments are recognised in profit or loss as other income when the company’s
right to receive the dividend is established.

Preference Shares
The Company measures all investments in Preference shares at amortised
cost.Subsequently Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance
income on EIR basis. 

Impairment of financial assets
In accordance with Ind AS 109: Financial Instruments, the Company recognizes
impairment loss allowance on trade receivables based on historically observed default
rates. Impairment loss allowance recognized during the year is charged to Statement
of Profit and Loss.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Offsetting of financial instruments
The Company offsets a financial asset and a financial liability when it currently has a
legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts and the Company intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

p) Segment Reporting
Identification of Segments

The Company’s operating businesses are organized and managed separately
according to the nature of products and services provided, with each segment
representing a strategic business unit that offers different products and serves different
markets. The analysis of geographical segments is based on the areas in which the
customers of the Company are located.Since the Company operates only in India
there is no geographical segment. 

Segment accounting policies
The Company prepares its segment information in conformity with the accounting
policies adopted for preparing and presenting the financial statements of the
Company as a whole.

q) Cash & Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at banks and on hand
and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. For the purpose of the statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and Balances with Bank.



r) Borrowing Costs

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. 
Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost. Any difference between the 
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the 
income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest rate 
method. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the 
reporting date.

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of a qualifying asset are capitalized as part of the cost of the asset. Other
borrowing costs are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection
with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing cost also includes exchange differences to the
extent regarded as an adjustment to the borrowing costs.

2 Critical estimates and judgements

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimating uncertainty as at the balance sheet date that may have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year. The Company based its assumptions and estimates on
parameters available when the financial statements were prepared. Existing
circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change
due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Company.
Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

A. Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The company has adopted the useful lives as specified in Schedule II of Companies
Act, 2013 for Property, Plant & Equipment . The Company reviews the estimated useful
lives at the end of each reporting period. Such useful lives depend upon various factors
such as usage, maintenance practices etc. and can involve estimation uncertainty.
Changes in the expected level of usage and technological developments could
impact the economic useful lives and the residual values of these assets, therefore,
future depreciation charges could be revised. 

B Impairment of property, plant and equipment

An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. The fair
value less costs to sell calculation is based on available data from binding sales
transactions in an arm's length transaction of similar assets or observable market prices
less incremental costs for disposing the asset. The value in use calculation is based on a
discounted cash flow model and requires the Company to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

C. Fair value measurements and valuation processes
Some of the Company's assets are measured at fair value for financial reporting 
purposes.
Significant estimates are used in fair valuation of assets.

D. Employee Defined Benefit Plans



The determination of Company's liability towards defined benefit obligations to
employees is made through independent actuarial valuation including determination
of amounts to be recognized in the income statement and in the other comprehensive
income. Such valuation depend upon assumptions determined after taking into
account inflation, promotion and other relevant factors such as supply and demand
factors in the employment market.

E. Provisions and Contingencies
Provisions and contingencies are based on management’s best estimate of the
liabilities based on the facts known at the balance sheet date.

F. Estimation of current tax expenses and payable

Taxes recognized in the financial statements reflect management’s best estimate of
the outcome based on the facts known at the balance sheet date. These facts include
but are not limited to interpretation of tax laws of various jurisdictions where the group
operates. Any difference between the estimates and final tax assessments will impact
the income tax as well the resulting assets and liabilities.

G. Impairment of financial assets (including trade receivable)

Allowance for doubtful receivables represent the estimate of losses that could arise
due to inability of the Customer to make payments when due. These estimates are
based on the customer ageing, customer category, specific credit circumstances and
the historical experience of the group as well as forward looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period. 

H. Recent pronouncements Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”)
Notifies new standards or amendments to the existing standards under Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules as issued from time to time. For the year ended 
March 31, 2024, MCA has not notified any new standards or amendments to the existing 
standards applicable to the Company.



Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 24

2.1 Property, Plant & Equipment
[Current year ] Rs. In Lakhs

a Tangible Assets
Building 4,185.02                             32.95                                0.45                                  4,217.52                        1,507.62                170.26                   0.02                       1,677.86               2,539.66                     2,677.40                  
Plant & Equipment 23.51                                  -                                   -                                   23.51                             15.74                     1.41                       -                        17.15                    6.36                            7.77                         
Electrical Installation 521.73                                74.85                                35.85                                560.73                           413.90                   31.63                     34.05                     411.48                  149.25                        107.83                     
Furniture & Fixture 3,467.89                             1,393.61                           97.41                                4,764.09                        2,531.66                360.48                   92.53                     2,799.61               1,964.48                     936.23                     
Office Equipments 685.52                                292.82                              3.95                                  974.39                           553.21                   110.78                   3.13                       660.86                  313.53                        132.31                     
Computers 611.54                                177.79                              1.41                                  787.92                           491.60                   130.80                   1.05                       621.35                  166.57                        119.94                     

Vehicles 73.13                                  16.59                                21.97                                67.75                             51.49                     8.75                       19.91                     40.33                    27.42                          21.64                       
Total (A) 9,568.34                             1,988.61                           161.04                              11,395.91                      5,565.22                814.11                   150.69                   6,228.64               5,167.27                     4,003.12                  

b Capital Work-in-Progress * 11.41                                  26.42                                11.41                                26.42                             -                         -                        -                        -                       26.42                          11.41                       

Total (B) 11.41                                  26.42                                11.41                                26.42                             -                         -                        -                        -                       26.42                          11.41                       

Grand Total (A+B) 9,579.75                             2,015.03                           172.45                              11,422.33                      5,565.22                814.11                   150.69                   6,228.64               5,193.69                     4,014.53                  

* Capital Work-in-Progress ageing schedule - As at 31st March , 2024

Projects in Progress # 26.42                        -                          -                          -                        26.42              

# All projects in progress includes capital work in progress , whose completion is neither overdue nor exceeded its cost as compared to its original plan .
    There are no projects as on the reporting date where activity has been suspended.

Particulars

TOTAL

Amount in CWIP for a period of

1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 years

Additions during the 
year

Disposals / 
Adjustments

Capital Work-in-Progress 
under development Less than 1 year

Gross Block Accumulated Depreciation and amortisation Net Block

Balance as at 31st 
March 2024

Balance as at 1st 
April 2023

Depreciation 
charge for the 

year

Disposals / 
Adjustments

Balance as at 31st 
March 2024

Balance as at 31st 
March 2024

Balance as at 31st 
March 2023

Balance as at 1st April 
2023



Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 24

2.2 Intangible Assets
[Current year ] Rs. In Lakhs

a Intangible Assets
Computer Software 555.37                               145.86                      6.60                      694.63                    347.02                   82.28                     0.22                       429.08                  265.55                        208.35                     
Online application software 924.37                               -                           -                       924.37                    924.37                   -                        -                        924.37                  -                             -                           
Tenancy Rights 91.48                                -                           -                       91.48                      76.82                     4.76                       -                        81.58                    9.90                           14.66                       

Total (A) 1,571.22                            145.86                      6.60                      1,710.48                 1,348.21                87.04                     0.22                       1,435.03               275.45                        223.01                     

b
Intangible assets under 
development *

60.96                                179.11                      60.96                    179.11                    -                         -                        -                        -                       179.11                        60.96                       

Total (B) 60.96                                179.11                      60.96                    179.11                    -                         -                        -                        -                       179.11                        60.96                       

Grand Total (A+B) 1,632.18                            324.97                      67.56                    1,889.59                 1,348.21                87.04                     0.22                       1,435.03               454.56                        283.97                     

* Intangible assets under development ageing schedule

Projects in Progress # 179.11                     -                    179.11            

1-2 years 2-3 years
More than 3 

years
TOTAL

Disposals / 
Adjustments

Balance as at 31st 
March 2024

Balance as at 1st 
April 2023

Depreciation 
charge for the 

year

Disposals / 
Adjustments

Balance as at 31st 
March 2024

Balance as at 31st 
March 2024

Balance as at 31st 
March 2023

Gross Block Accumulated Depreciation and amortisation Net Block

Additions during 
the year

Balance as at 1st April 
2023

Intangible assets under 
development Less than 1 year

Amount in Intangible assets under development for a period of

Particulars



Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 24

2.3 Right of Use Assets
[Current year ] Rs. In Lakhs

a Right of Use Assets
Building 9,618.17                        2,012.95                            53.23                                11,577.89                          5,162.91                 1,198.28                39.53                     6,321.66               5,256.23                     4,455.26                   
Grand Total (A) 9,618.17                        2,012.95                            53.23                                11,577.89                          5,162.91                 1,198.28                39.53                     6,321.66               5,256.23                     4,455.26                   

Balance as at 1st April 
2023

Particulars

Gross Block Accumulated Depreciation and amortisation Net Block

Balance as at 31st 
March 2024

Balance as at 31st 
March 2024

Balance as at 31st 
March 2023

Additions during the 
year

Disposals / 
Adjustments

Balance as at 31st March 
2024

Balance as at 1st 
April 2023

Depreciation 
charge for the 

year

Disposals / 
Adjustments



Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 24

2.1 Property, Plant & Equipment
[Previous year ] Rs. In Lakhs

a Tangible Assets
Building 4,180.75                             4.27                                  -                                   4,185.02                        1,331.57                179.11                   3.06                      1,507.62               2,677.40                     2,849.18                  
Plant & Equipment 23.51                                  -                                   -                                   23.51                             14.02                     1.72                       -                        15.74                    7.77                            9.49                         
Electrical Installation 519.24                                20.04                                17.55                                521.73                           387.60                   31.71                     5.41                      413.90                  107.83                        131.64                     
Furniture & Fixture 3,170.46                             377.83                              80.40                                3,467.89                        2,285.36                272.89                   26.59                    2,531.66               936.23                        885.10                     
Office Equipments 599.71                                89.10                                3.29                                  685.52                           499.08                   54.78                     0.65                      553.21                  132.31                        100.63                     
Computers 509.70                                104.77                              2.93                                  611.54                           422.47                   69.72                     0.59                      491.60                  119.94                        87.23                       

Vehicles 71.76                                  10.68                                9.31                                  73.13                             49.61                     10.51                     8.63                      51.49                    21.64                          22.15                       
Total (A) 9,075.13                             606.69                              113.48                              9,568.34                        4,989.71                620.44                   44.93                    5,565.22               4,003.12                     4,085.42                  

b Capital Work-in-Progress * 67.46                                  19.75                                75.80                                11.41                             -                         -                        -                        -                       11.41                          67.46                       

Total (B) 67.46                                  19.75                                75.80                                11.41                             -                         -                        -                        -                       11.41                          67.46                       

Grand Total (A+B) 9,142.59                             626.44                              189.28                              9,579.75                        4,989.71                620.44                   44.93                    5,565.22               4,014.53                     4,152.88                  

* Capital Work-in-Progress ageing schedule - As at 31st March , 2023

Projects in Progress # 11.41                        -                          -                          -                        11.41              

# All projects in progress includes capital work in progress , whose completion is neither overdue nor exceeded its cost as compared to its original plan .
There are no projects as on the reporting date where activity has been suspended.

Particulars Disposals / 
Adjustments

Gross Block Accumulated Depreciation and amortisation Net Block

Balance as at 31st 
March 2023

Balance as at 1st 
April 2022

Depreciation 
charge for the 

year

Disposals / 
Adjustments

Balance as at 31st 
March 2023

Balance as at 31st 
March 2023

Balance as at 31st 
March 2022

Balance as at 1st April 
2022

Capital Work-in-Progress 
under development

Amount in CWIP for a period of

Additions during the 
year

Less than 1 year TOTAL1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 years
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2.2 Intangible Assets
[Previous year ] Rs. In Lakhs

a Intangible Assets
Computer Software 310.29                               249.96                      4.88                      555.37                    268.29                   80.02                     1.29                    347.02                  208.35                        42.00                       
Online application software 924.37                               -                           -                       924.37                    916.27                   8.100                     -                      924.37                  0.00                           8.10                         
Tenancy Rights 91.48                                -                           -                       91.48                      68.61                     8.21                       -                      76.82                    14.66                         22.87                       

Total (A) 1,326.14                            249.96                      4.88                      1,571.22                 1,253.17                96.33                     1.29                    1,348.21               223.01                        72.97                       

b
Intangible assets under 
development *

189.96                               60.96                       189.96                  60.96                      -                         -                      -                       60.96                         189.96                     

Total (B) 189.96                               60.96                       189.96                  60.96                      -                         -                        -                      -                       60.96                         189.96                     

Grand Total (A+B) 1,516.10                            310.92                      194.84                  1,632.18                 1,253.17                96.33                     1.29                    1,348.21               283.97                        262.93                     

* Intangible assets under development ageing schedule

Projects in Progress # 60.96                       -                    -                 -                   60.96              

# All projects in progress includes Intangible assets under development , whose completion is neither overdue nor exceeded its cost as compared to its original plan .
    There are no projects as on the reporting date where activity has been suspended.

Particulars

TOTAL

Gross Block Accumulated Depreciation and amortisation Net Block

Balance as at 31st 
March 2023

Balance as at 1st 
April 2022

Depreciation 
charge for the 

year

Disposals / 
Adjustments

More than 3 
years

Intangible assets under 
development

Amount in Intangible assets under development for a period of

Balance as at 31st 
March 2023

Balance as at 31st 
March 2023

Balance as at 31st 
March 2022

Additions during 
the year

Disposals / 
Adjustments

Balance as at 1st April 
2022

Less than 1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years
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2.3 Right of Use Assets
[Previous year ] Rs. In Lakhs

a Right of Use Assets
Building 6,351.94                        3,266.23                            -                                    9,618.17                            4,109.34                 1,053.57                -                         5,162.91               4,455.26                     2,242.60                   

Grand Total (A) 6,351.94                        3,266.23                            -                                    9,618.17                            4,109.34                 1,053.57                -                         5,162.91               4,455.26                     2,242.60                   

Gross Block Accumulated Depreciation and amortisation Net Block

Particulars Balance as at 31st 
March 2023

Balance as at 31st 
March 2023

Balance as at 31st 
March 2022

Additions during the 
year

Disposals / 
Adjustments

Balance as at 31st March 
2023

Balance as at 1st 
April 2022

Depreciation 
charge for the 

year

Disposals / 
Adjustments

Balance as at 1st April 
2022
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3 Non Current Investments Rs. In Lakhs

3.1

A [Investments carried at Cost ]
1 Investment in Equity Instruments (Unquoted)
i Subsidiary
a Lyfresh Pvt Ltd

60,00,000                                                                                                            Equity Shares of Rs 10/- each fully paid up 600.00               600.00     
Less:- Provision for diminution in value of investment (600.00)              -                     (600.00)   -                  

ii Others

a Medico Association #
12                                                                                                                        Shares** 0.42                   0.42         

Less:- Provision for diminution in value of investment (0.42)                  -                     (0.42)       -                  

b All India Origin Chemists & Distributors Limited #
2,000                                                                                                                   Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each fully paid up 0.20                   0.20         

Less:- Provision for diminution in value of investment (0.20)                  -                     (0.20)       -                  

c Shoppers City Maintenance Co. P Ltd #
19,800                                                                                                                 Equity Shares of Re.1/- each fully paid up 0.20                   0.20         

Less:- Provision for diminution in value of investment (0.20)                  -                     (0.20)       -                  

B [Investments carried at Fair Value through OCI ]

1 M. Bhattacharyya & Co. Private. Limited 165.09               165.09            
222                                                                                                                      Equity Shares of Rs.500/- each fully paid up 

2 PAN Emami Cosmed Limited - Note - 1 50.80                 50.80              
4,61,825                                                                                                              Equity Shares of Rs.10/- each fully paid up

Investment in Equity Instruments (Quoted)

3 Emami Limited 42.94                 35.86              
10,000                                                                                                                 Equity shares of Rs. 1/- each fully paid up. 

4 Emami Realty  Limited 0.35                   0.20                
333                                                                                                                      Shares of Rs. 10/- each fully paid up

259.18               251.95            

C Investment in Preference Shares (Unquoted)
[ Investments carried at amortised cost ]
Others
M. Bhattacharyya & Co. Private Limited 16.33                 16.33              

35,000                                                                                                                 10% Cumulative Preference Shares of Rs.100/-each fully paid up
Redeemable at par at any time within 20 years from date of issue

16.33                 16.33              

D Investment in Debentures (Unquoted)
[ Investments carried at amortised cost ]
Others
M. Bhattacharyya & Co. Private Limited -Note - 2 425.00               425.00            

425 Optionally Convertible Debentures of Rs 100000/- each fully paid up
Redeemable on or Before 120 months from the date of Issue.

425.00               425.00            
700.51               693.28            

Aggregate value of Quoted Investment and market value thereof 43.29                 36.06              
Aggregate value of Unquoted Investment 657.22               657.22            
#Aggregate provision for dimunition in value of investments 600.82               600.82            

** Formed under Bombay Non - Trading Corporations Act, 1959 not having Face value of Shares
** For credit risk and provision for loss allowance refer note no 36

Note- 1
PAN Emami to Midkot shares

Note- 2

425 nos. Unsecured Optionally Convertible Debentures @ 100,000/- each issued by M Bhattacharya & co Pvt Ltd. Date of allotment- 12-Jan-2022. The same is convertible into equity at the option of the issuer , or 
be redeemed any time within 120 months after date of allotment @ 2% premium. 

Midkot Investments Private Limited has been changed from Private Limited Company to Public Limited Company w.e.f. 13th November, 2023. Further, the name of Midkot Investments Limited has been 
changed to PAN Emami Cosmed Limited w.e.f. 8th December, 2023.

Total (A+B)

Total (C)

Grand Total (A+B+C+D)
Total (D)

31st March, 2024 31st March, 2023Particulars
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Rs. In Lakhs

4 Loans 

Considered Good-Unsecured 
To others 53,147.35      46,506.57         

Total  Current 53,147.35      46,506.57       
Total Loans 53,147.35      46,506.57       

5 Trade receivables

Current
Considered good -Unsecured*
    :Related party 52.12          2,073.04    
     :Others 7,263.58     7,315.70        3,893.26    5,966.31          

Credit impaired 7.09               7.09                 
Less:- Allowance for doubtful debts and advances (7.09)              (7.09)                

Total Current 7,315.70        5,966.31         

*- For credit risk and provision for loss allowance refer note no. 36

Trade Receivables Ageing - As at 31st March, 2024

Less than 6 
months

6 months - 1 
year

1-2 years 2-3 years
More than 3 

years

(i) Undisputed Trade Receivable - Considered Good 7,071.17      73.90              167.47       0.00                 3.16             7,315.70    

(ii) Undisputed Trade Receivable - Which have 
significant increase in credit risk

-            

(iii) Undisputed Trade Receivable - Credit Impaired 7.09             7.09           

(iv) Disputed Trade Receivable - Considered Good -            

(v) Disputed Trade Receivable - Which have significant 
increase in credit risk

-            

(vi) Disputed Trade Receivable - Credit Impaired -            

(vii) Less : Allowances for credit impaired 7.09             7.09           

TOTAL 7,071.17     73.90             167.47     0.00               3.16            7,315.70    

Trade Receivables Ageing - As at 31st March, 2023

Less than 6 
months

6 months - 1 
year

1-2 years 2-3 years
More than 3 

years

(i) Undisputed Trade Receivable - Considered Good 5,662.37      114.26            93.87         39.39               56.42           5,966.31    

(ii) Undisputed Trade Receivable - Which have 
significant increase in credit risk

-            

(iii) Undisputed Trade Receivable - Credit Impaired 7.09             7.09           

(iv) Disputed Trade Receivable - Considered Good -            

(v) Disputed Trade Receivable - Which have significant 
increase in credit risk

-            

(vi) Disputed Trade Receivable - Credit Impaired -            

(vii) Less : Allowances for credit impaired 7.09             7.09           

TOTAL 5,662.37     114.26           93.87       39.39              56.42          5,966.31    

6 Other Financial Assets

Security Deposits
Security Deposits 1,396.66        1,209.97          

Other Advances
Fixed Deposits pledged with Banks [including interest 
accrued]*

11.94             11.19               

Total 1,408.60        1,221.16         

*- Lien marked towards Bank Guarantee

31st March, 2023

31st March, 2024 31st March, 2023

31st March, 2024 31st March, 2023

31st March, 2024

Total

TotalParticulars
Outstanding for the following period from due date of payments

Outstanding for the following period from due date of payments
Particulars
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Rs. In Lakhs
7 Movements in Deferred Taxes

31-Mar-24 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-19

29.31                        28.55                                 138.65                

3,831.03                   3,557.96                            1,438.29             

(3,801.72)                 (3,529.41)                          (1,299.64)            

(31.50)                      (31.50)                               (31.50)                 

(3,833.22)                 (3,560.91)                          (1,331.14)            

3833.22 3560.91

 Movement in Deferred Tax Liabilities/(Assets) 
 Liabilities/Provisions that are 

deducted for tax purposes when 
paid 

 Defined Benefit 
Obligation 

 On Unabsorbed 
Losses 

 Depreciation 
differences 

 Financial Assets 
(FVOCI)-Equity Shares 

 Total 

As at 01 April, 2022
Charged/(Credited)
 Recognised in Profit & Loss 35.89                                                      (13.20)                             (125.19)                           (164.09)                    -                                    (266.59)               
 Recognised in Other Comprehensive Income -                                                          -                                  -                                  -                           (0.89)                                 (0.89)                   
Recognised in Other Equity -                                                          -                                  -                                  -                           -                                    -                      
As at 31st March, 2023 (31.05)                                                     (48.57)                             (2,820.30)                        (658.05)                    28.56                                 (3,529.41)            
Add:- MAT Credit Entitlement -                                                          -                                  -                                  -                           -                                    (31.50)                 

 Net Deferred Tax Liabilities /(Asset)-as at 
31-Mar-2023 (31.05)                                                     (48.57)                             (2,820.30)                        (658.05)                    28.56                                 (3,560.91)            

As at 01 April, 2023
Charged/(Credited)
 Recognised in Profit & Loss 30.28                                                      (46.14)                             (205.87)                           (97.14)                      -                                    (318.87)               
 Recognised in Other Comprehensive Income -                                                          45.81                              -                                  -                           0.75                                   46.56                  
Recognised in Other Equity -                                                          -                                  -                                  -                           -                                    -                      
As at 31st March, 2024 (0.77)                                                       (48.90)                             (3,026.17)                        (755.19)                    29.31                                 (3,801.72)            
Add:- MAT Credit Entitlement -                                                          -                                  -                                  -                           -                                    (31.50)                 

 Net Deferred Tax Liabilities /(Asset)-as at 
31-Mar-2024 (0.77)                                                       (48.90)                             (3,026.17)                        (755.19)                    29.31                                 (3,833.22)            

Deferred Tax Liabilities/(Asset) (Net)

Particulars

Deferred Tax Liability

Deferred Tax Assets

Deferred Tax Liabilities/(Asset) (Gross)

Add:- MAT Credit Entitlement



Rs. In Lakhs

Note7(ii) Effective tax reconciliation

Income Tax Recognised in Statement of Profit & Loss 31.03.2024 31.03.2023

Current Tax - -
(Excess)/Short Provision for Earlier Years -                    1.67                 
Deferred Tax (318.86)             (266.60)            
Total Income tax Expense recognised in the current year              (318.86)             (264.93)

The income tax expense can be reconciled
to the accounting profit as follows:

Particulars
March 31,2024 March 31,2023

Profit before tax (659.83)             (658.99)            
Applicable tax rate 31.20% 31.20%
Computed Tax Expense              (205.87)             (205.60)

Add/(Deduct)                       -                         -   

Tax effect of amount which are not deductible/(taxable)                620.15               522.14 

in calculating taxable income
Tax efftect of amount which are deductible              (592.59)             (715.26)

(Excess)/Short Provision for Earlier Years                       -                     1.67 

Tax effect of certain temporary differences measured at lower rates              (143.26)             (177.30)

Others                    2.72               309.41 

Total Income Tax Expense/(Credit)              (318.86)             (264.93)
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Rs. In Lakhs

8 Other non-current assets

Capital Advances 46.93               -                 

Other advances
Prepaid Expenses 2.43                 4.18               
Rent paid in advance 266.56             205.56           

Total 315.92             209.74           

9
Inventories-At lower of cost and Net realisable 

value

Total 10,021.14        8,025.83        

10 Cash and cash equivalents

Balances with Banks
On Current Accounts 536.77             646.42           

Other Bank Balance
Fixed Deposits with Banks                              
[including interest accrued]

3.19                 3.18               

Cheques in hand 18.94               0.89               
Cash in hand 156.09             118.49           

Total 714.99             768.98           

11 Other current assets

Considered good ,Unsecured
Advance to Employees Provident Fund Trust* 799.00             -                 
Advance to Directors 21.09               27.09             
Advance to Employees 80.28               45.32             
Insurance Claim Receivable 52.49               33.11             
Advance to Vendors -                   8.36               
Balances with Statutory Authorities 701.52             332.08           
Prepaid Expenses 223.80             53.28             
Advance against Expenses 104.28             82.28             

Total 1,982.46          581.52           
* :- (Refer Note No. 43)

Stock- In-Trade 10,021.14        8,025.83        

31st March, 2024 31st March, 2023

31st March, 2024 31st March, 2023

31st March, 2024 31st March, 2023

31st March, 2024 31st March, 2023
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12 Equity Share Capital
Rs. In Lakhs

As at
 31st March, 2024

As at
 31st March, 2023

Authorised
580.00                       580.00                                     

620.00                       620.00                                     

1,200.00                   1,200.00                                
Issued,Subscribed & Fully Paid up

408.27                       408.27                                     

408.27                       408.27                                   

Reconciliation of Number of Shares

Number of Shares Amount Number of Shares Amount

40,82,707                             408.27                       20,82,707                               208.27                        
-                                           -                              20,00,000                               200.00                        

40,82,707                             408.27                       40,82,707                             408.27                       

Rights, Preferences and Restrictions Attached to Shares

The details of shareholders holding more than 5% shares as at the end of the reporting period is stated as below:-

Number of Shares Held % of Holding Number of Shares Held % of Holding

PAN Emami Cosmed Limited 6,93,747                                16.99                         6,93,747                                16.99                         
Suraj Finvest Private limited 15,35,137                             37.60                         15,35,137                             37.60                         
Diwakar Finvest Private limited ( formerly known as Sneha enclave private ltd ) 15,02,678                             36.81                         15,02,678                             36.81                         

Shareholding of Promoters as at 31st March'2024

Sl.No Promoter name
No.of Shares as on 

01.04.2023
Change during the 

year
No.of Shares as on 

31.03.2024
% of Total shares

%Change during 
the year

1 PRITI  A SUREKA 1,04,135                                 -                               1,04,135                                 2.55% 0.00%
2 JAYANT GOENKA 15,448                                     -                               15,448                                     0.38% 0.00%
3 USHA AGARWAL 4,000                                       -                               4,000                                       0.10% 0.00%
4 PRASHANT GOENKA 2,655                                       -                               2,655                                       0.07% 0.00%
5 PAN EMAMI COSMED LIMITED - Note - 1 6,93,747                                 -                               6,93,747                                 16.99% 0.00%
6 SURAJ FINVEST PRIVATE LIMITED 15,35,137                               -                               15,35,137                               37.60% 0.00%
7 DIWAKAR FINVEST PRIVATE LIMITED 15,02,678                               -                               15,02,678                               36.81% 0.00%

38,57,800                             -                              38,57,800                             94.49%

Sl.No Promoter name  No.of Shares as on 
01.04.2022 

 Change during the 
year 

 No.of Shares as on 
31.03.2023 

 % of Total shares 
 %Change during 

the year 

1 PRITI  A SUREKA 46,561                                     57,574                        1,04,135                                 2.55% 123.65%
2 JAYANT GOENKA 15,448                                     -                               15,448                                     0.38% 0.00%
3 USHA AGARWAL 4,000                                       -                               4,000                                       0.10% 0.00%
4 PRASHANT GOENKA 2,655                                       -                               2,655                                       0.07% 0.00%
5 PAN EMAMI COSMED LIMITED - Note - 1 7,51,321                                 (57,574)                      6,93,747                                 16.99% -7.66%
6 SURAJ FINVEST PRIVATE LIMITED 5,35,137                                 10,00,000                  15,35,137                               37.60% 186.87%
7 DIWAKAR FINVEST PRIVATE LIMITED 5,02,678                                 10,00,000                  15,02,678                               36.81% 198.93%

18,57,800                             20,00,000                38,57,800                             94.49%
Note

1
Midkot Investments Private Limited has been changed from Private Limited Company to Public Limited Company w.e.f. 13th November. 2023. Further, the name of Midkot Investments Limited has been changed to PAN 
Emami Cosmed Limited w.e.f. 8th December, 2023.

Shareholding of Promoters as at 31st March'2023

Equity Shares held by Promoters at the end of the Previous year

Equity Shares held by Promoters at the end of the current year

 As at 31st March, 2024

Particulars

Total

58,00,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each

6,20,000 Non Cumulative Redeeemable Preference shares of Rs. 100/- each

40,82,707 Equity Shares Rs.10/- Each fully paid up 

 As at 31st March, 2023

The Company has only one class of Equity shares having a par value of Rs.10/- per share. Each holder of Equity Shares is entitled to one vote per share. The company declares and pays dividend
in Indian Rupees . The dividend proposed , if any, by the Board of Directors is subject to the approval of the shareholders in the ensuing Annual General Meeting. 

In the event of liquidation of the company the holders of Equity Shares will be entitled to receive remaining assets of the company after distribution of all preferential amounts. However, no such
preferential  amounts exist currently.The distribution will be in proportion to the number of equity shares held by the shareholders.

Shares outstanding at the end of the year

As at 31st March 2024 As at 31st March 2023

Name of the shareholder

Balance at the Beginning
Shares Issued during the year 

Particulars
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13 Other Equity
Rs. In Lakhs

As at As at As at As at

General Reserve
As per Last Balance Sheet 2,124.67                   2,124.67                  
Add: Transferred during the year -                           2,124.67               -                          2,124.67              

Retained Earnings
As per Last Balance Sheet (9,040.97)                  (8,646.92)                 
Add: Profit/Loss for the year (340.98)                     (9,381.95)              (394.05)                    (9,040.97)             

Other Comprehensive Income*
As per Last Balance Sheet 201.50                      207.21                     
Add: Movement in OCI during the year 107.49                      308.99                  (5.71)                        201.50                 

Optionally Convertible Debentures-Unsecured (Note-13.1) 14,800.00                 14,800.00             14,800.00                14,800.00            

*:- Includes re-measurement gains/losses on defined benefit
plans and gain/loss on fair value of investments

Total 7,851.71               8,085.20              

13.1
Zero Coupon Unsecured Optionally Convertible Debentures (OCD)

The OCDs shall be optionally convertible into the equity shares of the company and/ or redeeemable at any time at the option of the issuer within a period of 10 years 
from the date of allotment. The OCD shall be redeemed within a period of 30 days after the expirey of 10 years i.e. at the end of tenure of the OCD if not converted into 
equity shares. If the debentures are redeemed, then the debentures shall be redeemed at mutually agreed price.

Particulars
31st March, 2024 31st March, 2023

The company has restructure its finances and has issued 14800 zero coupon unsecured Optionally Convertible Debentures @ Rs.1,00,000/- each on preferential 
basis amounting to Rs.148 crores in F Y 22-23 in pursuance of articles of association of company and as approved by board of directors and shareholders of the 
company.

31st March, 2024 31st March, 2023
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Rs. In Lakhs

14 Financial Liabilities
(i) Borrowings

Term Loans- Secured

From Banks # 15,110.97       26,313.63       
Less:- Current Maturities 7,665.90          7,445.07           11,299.23       15,014.40            
Non-Convertible Debentures ##
Secured 8,800.00          10,500.00       
Unsecured -                     9,017.95          
Total 8,800.00          19,517.95       
Less:- Current Maturities 3,400.00          5,400.00           12,936.31       6,581.64              

Total-Borrowings-(i) 12,845.07        21,596.04          

(i)(a) Lease Liability :
Long Term Maturities of Lease Obligation 4,853.07           3,779.48              

Total-Lease Liability-(i)(a) 4,853.07           3,779.48              

Total-Non Current- A 17,698.14        25,375.52          

(i) Borrowings
Loans Repayable on Demand
Secured Loan from Banks
Cash Credit [ Note 14.1 ] (64.71)              (717.88)           
Working Capital Demand Loan [ Note 14.1 ] 6,400.00          6,335.29           6,400.00          5,682.12              

Unsecured #
Related Party 38,393.00        4,988.00              

Current Maturities of Long Term Borrowings 11,065.90        24,235.55            
Term Loan from Banks 7,665.90          11,299.23       
Non-Convertible Debentures 3,400.00          12,936.31       

Total-Borrowings-(i) 55,794.19        34,905.67          

(i)(a) Lease Liability :
Current Maturities of Lease Obligation 875.71               1,097.51              

Total-Lease Liability-(i)(a) 875.71               1,097.51            

Total-Current-B 56,669.90        36,003.18          
Total Borrowings (A+B) 74,368.04        61,378.70          

  # Refer Note 28

14.1    

##Secured Rated, listed and unlisted redeemable  Non Convertible debenture (NCD)

15 Other Financial Liabilities

Interest due to MSME 5.34                    1.68                      
Deposit against rent 22.50                 22.50                   

Total Non Current 27.84                 24.18                   

The company has issued 980 listed secured Rated & 220 unlisted secured Rated redeemable & non convertible debentures of face 
value of Rs.10,00,000/- each on private placement basis aggregating to Rs. 120 crores (98 crores+22 crores) during FY 22-23 in 
pursuance of articles of association of company and as approved by board of directors of the company.

 As at 31st March, 2024  As at 31st March, 2023

Bank-1 - Cash Credit And Working Capital Demand Loan are secured primarily by way of hypothecation on the entire Current 
Assets of the company existing and future comprising of Stock-in-trade, receivables, book debts and other current assets. These 
loans are further secured Collateraly by way of Hypothecation / mortgage on all  fixed assets (excluding vehicles ) of the company, 
both present and future. The loan carries interest @ 8.75 % p.a.

Bank-2 - Subservient charge by way of Hypothecation over entire Current asset & moveable Fixed assets of the company (both 
present & future). Also, exclusive charge by way of pledge of shares of promoter shareholder and also corporate guarantee by a 
promoter shareholder . The loan carries interest @ 10.35% p.a.

The coupon related to NCDs will be linked to and be equivalent to average of 1 year MCLR (ie. Marginal Cost of Funds Based 
Lending Rate) of 4 banks viz. ICICI Bank, HDFC Bank, SBI and Bank of Baroda plus applicable Spread and shall be reset on 
quarterly basis at the begining of each quarter ( i.e. on April 1, July 1, October 2, and January 1 of each year) As on date of 
execution of this Deed, the Coupon comprises of (i) the average 1-year MCLR as on April 1, 2023, of 8.60% p.a and (ii) spread of 
2.40% p.a.

 As at 31st March, 2024  As at 31st March, 2023



Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March'24 Rs. In Lakhs

16 Provisions

Provision for Employee Benefits*
For Gratuity 161.56       182.06         
For Leave 149.51       311.07          130.07         312.13            

Total 311.07          312.13          
* :- (Refer Note No. - 34.1 & 34.2)

17 Trade payables

a
Total outstanding dues of Micro enterprises and small 
enterprises

571.44          43.53              

b
Total outstanding dues of creditors other than Micro 
enterprises and small enterprises

5,004.21       5,058.38        

Total 5,575.65       5,101.91      

Trade Payables Ageing - As at 31st March, 2024

Less than 1 
year

1-2 years 2-3 years
More than 3 

years
(i) MSME 570.71          0.12                  0.11                0.50                  571.44         
(ii) Others 2,750.61       2,004.69          153.68           95.25                5,004.23     
(iii) Disputed dues - MSME
(iv) Disputed dues - Others

TOTAL 3,321.33     2,004.81        153.79         95.75               5,575.67    

Trade Payables Ageing - As at 31st March, 2023

Less than 1 
year

1-2 years 2-3 years
More than 3 

years
(i) MSME 42.96             0.33                  0.24                -                    43.53           
(ii) Others 2,368.73       2,408.08          172.32           109.25             5,058.38     
(iii) Disputed dues - MSME
(iv) Disputed dues - Others

TOTAL 2,411.69     2,408.41        172.56         109.25            5,101.91    

18 Other Financial Liabilities

Interest accrued but not due on Borrowings 644.08          271.16            

Other Payables
Employee Expenses 831.79       301.42         
Liabilities for Expenses 126.97       958.76          173.57         474.99            

Total 1,602.84       746.15          

19 Other current liabilities

Statutory Liabilities 196.49          187.75            
Advance from Customers 2.46                43.77              

Total 198.95          231.52          

TotalParticulars

Outstanding for the following period from
 due date of payments

 As at 31st March, 2024  As at 31st March, 2023

 As at 31st March, 2024  As at 31st March, 2023

 As at 31st March, 2024  As at 31st March, 2023

 As at 31st March, 2024  As at 31st March, 2023

Outstanding for the following period from due date 
of payments

TOTALParticulars



Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March'24
Rs.- In Lakhs

20  Revenue from Operations 

Sale of Products 60,346.49           54,748.98         

Other Operating Revenues
Rent 83.03          61.85          
Income From Store Displays 372.14        140.03        
Franchisee Fees -              44.88          
Facility Management Fees 4.52            459.69                1.26            248.02              

Total 60,806.18           54,997.00         

21  Other Income 

Interest Income
Interest on Loan given 6,131.81             3,681.12           

Interest on Others
Interest Income on Security Deposit at Amortised Cost 69.66          65.95          
Interest on Deposit 1.54            2.18            
Interest on Income Tax Refund 9.84            81.04                  -             68.13                

Income From Slump Sale -                      671.61              

Dividend Income 0.80                    0.80                  
Profit on sale of Fixed Assets -                      1.73                  

Insurance Claim 19.57                  33.11                
Liabilities Written Back 39.26                  4.22                  
Miscellaneous Receipts 5.31                    19.05                

Total 6,277.79             4,479.77           

22  Changes in Inventories of Stock-in-Trade 

(I) Opening Inventory 8,025.83             6,983.96           

(II) Closing Inventory 10,021.14           8,025.83           

(Increase)/Decrease (1,995.31)           (1,041.87)          

23  Employee Benefits Expense 

Salaries and Wages 6,332.75             4,949.67           
Contribution to Provident and Other Funds 516.24                380.61              
Staff Welfare Expense 184.59                134.10              

Total 7,033.58             5,464.38           

 Year ended
31st March 2024 

 Year ended
31st March 2023 

 Year ended
31st March 2024 

 Year ended
31st March 2023 

 Year ended
31st March 2024 

 Year ended
31st March 2023 

 Year ended
31st March 2024 

 Year ended
31st March 2023 



Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March'24

24  Finance Costs 

Interest Expense on Lease Obligation 581.64    454.77      
Interest Expense- Debentures & Bonds 1,346.43 2,132.36   
Interest Expense - Bank & Others 4,878.71 3,332.97   
Other Borrowing Costs 291.31    573.16      

Total 7,098.09 6,493.26   

25  Other Expenses 

Power & Fuel 351.65    323.31      
Rent & License Fees 465.33    506.07      
Repairs to Building -          13.18        
Maintenance Charges 618.94    666.04      
Security Charges 74.37      61.52        
Insurance 33.25      11.18        
Rates & Taxes 123.65    119.55      
Advertisement & Sales Promotion 362.50    197.46      
Commission 43.93      69.91        
Professional & Legal Charges [Refer note - 26] 393.01    529.12      
Travelling & Conveyance expenses 297.07    265.81      
Internet and other communication expenses 83.26      71.38        
Amortisation of SD Prepaid Rent 60.63      58.54        
Loss on sale / discard of Fixed Assets 10.07      1.46          
Miscellaneous Expenses 398.50    358.13      

Total 3,316.16 3,252.68   

 Year ended
31st March 2024 

 Year ended
31st March 2023 

Rs. In Lakhs
 Year ended

31st March 2024 
 Year ended

31st March 2023 



Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March'24
Rs. In Lakhs

26 Payment To Auditors

Particulars

Audit Fees 17.10                            12.54                                
Tax Audit Fees 1.80                              0.96                                  
Limited Review 2.10                              1.50                                  
Other Services 7.98                              5.92                                  

Total 28.98                            20.92                                

27 Information for Earnings per share as per IND AS 33

Net Profit (340.96)                         (394.05)                             
Weighted average number of shares 40,82,707 23,29,282
Earnings per share - Basic & diluted (8.35)                             (16.92)                               

Particulars FY 23-24 FY 22-23
Equity shares at the beginning of the year 40,82,707                     20,82,707                         
Equity Shares issued on 14th February 2023 -                                20,00,000                         

Weighted Average number of shares 40,82,707                      23,29,282                          

Particulars
As at 31st March 

2024

Year ended 
31st March 2024

Year ended 
31st March 2023

As at 31st March 
2023

Calculation of Weighted Average number shares



Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March'24
Rs. In Lakhs

28 Details of Borrowings:-
Details of Term Loans from Bank

Sl. Type of Loan Security

No.
1 Principal amount                 1,109.17 1,774.67       

Date Amount Date Amount
30-Apr-24 55.46           30-Apr-23 55.46      

31-May-24 55.46           31-May-23 55.46      
30-Jun-24 55.46           30-Jun-23 55.46      
31-Jul-24 55.46           31-Jul-23 55.46      

31-Aug-24 55.46           31-Aug-23 55.46      
30-Sep-24 55.46           30-Sep-23 55.46      
31-Oct-24 55.46           31-Oct-23 55.46      
30-Nov-24 55.46           30-Nov-23 55.46      
31-Dec-24 55.46           31-Dec-23 55.46      
31-Jan-25 55.46           31-Jan-24 55.46      
28-Feb-25 55.46           29-Feb-24 55.46      
31-Mar-25 55.46           31-Mar-24 55.46      
30-Apr-25 55.46           30-Apr-24 55.46      

31-May-25 55.46           31-May-24 55.46      
30-Jun-25 55.46           30-Jun-24 55.46      
31-Jul-25 55.46           31-Jul-24 55.46      

31-Aug-25 55.46           31-Aug-24 55.46      
30-Sep-25 55.46           30-Sep-24 55.46      
31-Oct-25 55.46           31-Oct-24 55.46      
30-Nov-25 55.46           30-Nov-24 55.46      

31-Dec-24 55.46      
31-Jan-25 55.46      
28-Feb-25 55.46      
31-Mar-25 55.46      
30-Apr-25 55.46      

31-May-25 55.46      
30-Jun-25 55.46      
31-Jul-25 55.46      

31-Aug-25 55.46      
30-Sep-25 55.46      
31-Oct-25 55.46      
30-Nov-25 55.46      

2 Term Loan-Rupee Principal amount                              -   333.33          

Date Amount Date Amount
01-Jun-23 83.33      
01-Sep-23 83.33      
01-Dec-23 83.33      
01-Mar-24 83.33      

3 Principal amount                              -   1,200.00       

Date Amount Date Amount
30-Jun-23 300.00        
30-Sep-23 450.00        
30-Dec-23 450.00        

4 Term Loan-Rupee Principal amount                              -   2,100.00       

Date Amount Date Amount
30-Jun-23 1,050.00     
28-Sep-23 1,050.00     

5 Term Loan-Rupee Principal amount                 4,498.90 6,499.30       

Date Amount Date Amount
30-Apr-24 166.70                30-Apr-23 166.70          

31-May-24 166.70                31-May-23 166.70          
30-Jun-24 166.70                30-Jun-23 166.70          
31-Jul-24 166.70                31-Jul-23 166.70          

31-Aug-24 166.70                31-Aug-23 166.70          
30-Sep-24 166.70                30-Sep-23 166.70          
31-Oct-24 166.70                31-Oct-23 166.70          
30-Nov-24 166.70                30-Nov-23 166.70          
31-Dec-24 166.70                31-Dec-23 166.70          
31-Jan-25 166.70                31-Jan-24 166.70          

Amount outstanding

as on 31-Mar-24 as on 31-Mar-23

Repayment Schedule

1yr MCLR+0.45% - At 
present-9.10% p.a on 

outstanding INR

Subservient charge by way of hypothecation over entire 
current asset and moveable fixed asset of the company 
(both present and future). The same is further secured 
by pledge of shares by a promoter shareholder .Further 
secured by way of corporate guarantee of a promoter 
shareholder

Repayment Schedule Repayment Schedule

ROI as on 31-Mar-24 Amount outstanding

Repayment Schedule

Repayment Schedule Repayment Schedule

15%p.a on outstanding 
INR

1st Charge by way of Hypothecation / mortgage on all 
the fixed assets (movable and Immovable) of the 
company, both present and future excluding Vehicles. 
.The same is further secured by pledge of shares by a 
promoter shareholder 

Repayment Schedule Repayment Schedule

Working Capital_term 
Loan- Under ECLGS of 

NCGTC

9.25% p.a on 
oustanding INR

Second charge over all existing primary & collateral 
securities including mortagages created in favour of the 
bank, subject to the subsisting charges created over 
various primary and collateral securities, including 
securities charged by third parties.

Term Loan-Rupee 15%p.a on outstanding 
INR

First  Charge by way of Hypothecation / mortgage on all 
the fixed assets (movable and Immovable) of the 
company, both present and future excluding 
Vehicles..The same is further secured by pledge of 
shares by a promoter shareholder 

Repayment Schedule

15%p.a on outstanding 
INR

1st Charge by way of Hypothecation / mortgage on all 
the fixed assets (movable and Immovable) of the 
company, both present and future excluding Vehicles. 
.The same is further secured by pledge of shares by a 
promoter shareholder 

Repayment Schedule



28-Feb-25 166.70                29-Feb-24 166.70          
31-Mar-25 166.70                31-Mar-24 166.70          
30-Apr-25 166.70                30-Apr-24 166.70          

31-May-25 166.70                31-May-24 166.70          
30-Jun-25 166.70                30-Jun-24 166.70          
31-Jul-25 166.70                31-Jul-24 166.70          

31-Aug-25 166.70                31-Aug-24 166.70          
30-Sep-25 166.70                30-Sep-24 166.70          
31-Oct-25 166.70                31-Oct-24 166.70          
30-Nov-25 166.70                30-Nov-24 166.70          
31-Dec-25 166.70                31-Dec-24 166.70          
31-Jan-26 166.70                31-Jan-25 166.70          
28-Feb-26 166.70                28-Feb-25 166.70          
31-Mar-26 166.70                31-Mar-25 166.70          
30-Apr-26 166.70                30-Apr-25 166.70          

31-May-26 166.70                31-May-25 166.70          
30-Jun-26 164.70                30-Jun-25 166.70          

31-Jul-25 166.70          
31-Aug-25 166.70          
30-Sep-25 166.70          
31-Oct-25 166.70          
30-Nov-25 166.70          
31-Dec-25 166.70          
31-Jan-26 166.70          
28-Feb-26 166.70          
31-Mar-26 166.70          
30-Apr-26 166.70          
31-May-26 166.70          
30-Jun-26 164.70          

6 12% interest p.a Principal amount                              -   11,250.00    

Date Amount Date Amount
10-Jul-23 11,250.00     

7 Term Loan-Rupee 10.25% Principal amount                 4,791.67 7,291.67       

Date Amount Date Amount
30-Apr-24 208.33         30-Apr-23 208.33          

31-May-24 208.33         31-May-23 208.33          
30-Jun-24 208.33         30-Jun-23 208.33          
31-Jul-24 208.33         31-Jul-23 208.33          

31-Aug-24 208.33         31-Aug-23 208.33          
30-Sep-24 208.33         30-Sep-23 208.33          
31-Oct-24 208.33         31-Oct-23 208.33          
30-Nov-24 208.33         30-Nov-23 208.33          
31-Dec-24 208.33         31-Dec-23 208.33          
31-Jan-25 208.33         31-Jan-24 208.33          
28-Feb-25 208.33         29-Feb-24 208.33          
31-Mar-25 208.33         31-Mar-24 208.33          
30-Apr-25 208.33         30-Apr-24 208.33          

31-May-25 208.33         31-May-24 208.33          
30-Jun-25 208.33         30-Jun-24 208.33          
31-Jul-25 208.33         31-Jul-24 208.33          

31-Aug-25 208.33         31-Aug-24 208.33          
30-Sep-25 208.33         30-Sep-24 208.33          
31-Oct-25 208.33         31-Oct-24 208.33          
30-Nov-25 208.33         30-Nov-24 208.33          
31-Dec-25 208.33         31-Dec-24 208.33          
31-Jan-26 208.33         31-Jan-25 208.33          
28-Feb-26 208.33         28-Feb-25 208.33          

31-Mar-25 208.33          
30-Apr-25 208.33          

31-May-25 208.33          
30-Jun-25 208.33          
31-Jul-25 208.33          

31-Aug-25 208.33          
30-Sep-25 208.33          
31-Oct-25 208.33          
30-Nov-25 208.33          
31-Dec-25 208.33          
31-Jan-26 208.33          
28-Feb-26 208.33          

Rated unlisted 
Redeemable Non-

Convertible Debentures

112.5 Bonds issued at face value of Rs 1cr each 
repayable by way of bullet repayment on the expiry of 
the term of debenture . Secured by way of pledge of 
shares by promoter shareholding and also guaranteed 
by a promoter shareholder. Also, hypothecation over a 
designated account .

Repayment Schedule Repayment Schedule

First charge by way of Hypothecation / mortgage on all 
the fixed assets (movable and immovable) of the 
company, both present and future.Second charge by 
way of hypotecation of the entire Current assets of the 
company, existing and future, comprising , inter alia, of 
stocks of raw material, work in progress, finished goods, 
receivables, book debts nad other current assets.

Repayment Schedule Repayment Schedule



8 Term Loan-Rupee 10.25% Principal amount                 4,791.67 7,291.67       

Date Amount Date Amount
30-Apr-24 208.33         30-Apr-23 208.33          

31-May-24 208.33         31-May-23 208.33          
30-Jun-24 208.33         30-Jun-23 208.33          
31-Jul-24 208.33         31-Jul-23 208.33          

31-Aug-24 208.33         31-Aug-23 208.33          
30-Sep-24 208.33         30-Sep-23 208.33          
31-Oct-24 208.33         31-Oct-23 208.33          
30-Nov-24 208.33         30-Nov-23 208.33          
31-Dec-24 208.33         31-Dec-23 208.33          
31-Jan-25 208.33         31-Jan-24 208.33          
28-Feb-25 208.33         29-Feb-24 208.33          
31-Mar-25 208.33         31-Mar-24 208.33          
30-Apr-25 208.33         30-Apr-24 208.33          

31-May-25 208.33         31-May-24 208.33          
30-Jun-25 208.33         30-Jun-24 208.33          
31-Jul-25 208.33         31-Jul-24 208.33          

31-Aug-25 208.33         31-Aug-24 208.33          
30-Sep-25 208.33         30-Sep-24 208.33          
31-Oct-25 208.33         31-Oct-24 208.33          
30-Nov-25 208.33         30-Nov-24 208.33          
31-Dec-25 208.33         31-Dec-24 208.33          
31-Jan-26 208.33         31-Jan-25 208.33          
28-Feb-26 208.33         28-Feb-25 208.33          

31-Mar-25 208.33          
30-Apr-25 208.33          

31-May-25 208.33          
30-Jun-25 208.33          
31-Jul-25 208.33          

31-Aug-25 208.33          
30-Sep-25 208.33          
31-Oct-25 208.33          
30-Nov-25 208.33          
31-Dec-25 208.33          
31-Jan-26 208.33          
28-Feb-26 208.33          

Total Outstanding as at year end-Principal 15,191.41             37,740.64    
Current Maturities-Principal 7,665.90               22,549.16    

Sl. Type of Loan Security
No.

1 Principal amount                 1,600.00        3,300.00 

Date Amount Date Amount
21-Apr-24 1,600.00             30-Jun-23 500.00          

` 30-Sep-23 600.00          
31-Dec-23 600.00          
21-Apr-24 1,600.00       

2 Principal amount                 4,200.00        4,200.00 

Date Amount Date Amount
30-Jun-25 600.00                30-Jun-25 600.00          
30-Sep-25 600.00                30-Sep-25 600.00          
31-Dec-25 600.00                31-Dec-25 600.00          
31-Mar-26 600.00                31-Mar-26 600.00          
30-Jun-26 600.00                30-Jun-26 600.00          
30-Sep-26 600.00                30-Sep-26 600.00          
31-Dec-26 600.00                31-Dec-26 600.00          

3 Principal amount                     800.00            800.00 

Date Amount Date Amount
30-Jun-24 400.00                30-Jun-24 400.00        
30-Sep-24 400.00                30-Sep-24 400.00        

4 Principal amount                 1,000.00        1,000.00 

Date Amount Date Amount
31-Dec-24 500.00                31-Dec-24 500.00        
31-Mar-25 500.00                31-Mar-25 500.00        

5 Principal amount                 1,200.00        1,200.00 

Date Amount Date Amount
31-Mar-27 600.00                31-Mar-27 600.00        
30-Jun-27 600.00                30-Jun-27 600.00        

ROI as on 31-Mar-24 Amount outstanding

First charge by way of Hypothecation / mortgage on all 
the fixed assets (movable and immovable) of the 
company, both present and future.Second charge by 
way of hypotecation of the entire Current assets of the 
company, existing and future, comprising , inter alia, of 
stocks of raw material, work in progress, finished goods, 
receivables, book debts nad other current assets.

Repayment Schedule Repayment Schedule

10.25%p.a on 
outstanding INR

Repayment Schedule

Amount outstanding
as on 31-Mar-24 as on 31-Mar-23

Repayment Schedule

Bond Listed 
(INE711X07062)

Average of 1 year of MCLR of 4 Banks viz. ICICI Bank, 
HDFC Bank, SBI & Bank of Baroda plus applicable spread 
rates 

Repayment Schedule Repayment Schedule

Bond Listed 48 Cr 
(INE711X07070)

Average of 1 year of MCLR of 4 Banks viz. ICICI Bank, 
HDFC Bank, SBI & Bank of Baroda plus applicable spread 
rates 

10.25%p.a on 
outstanding INR

10.25%p.a on 
outstanding INR

Repayment Schedule

Bond UnListed 
(INE711X07096)

Average of 1 year of MCLR of 4 Banks viz. ICICI Bank, 
HDFC Bank, SBI & Bank of Baroda plus applicable spread 
rates 

Repayment Schedule Repayment Schedule

Bond UnListed 
(INE711X07088)

Average of 1 year of MCLR of 4 Banks viz. ICICI Bank, 
HDFC Bank, SBI & Bank of Baroda plus applicable spread 
rates 

Repayment Schedule Repayment Schedule

Bond Listed 
(INE711X07054)

Average of 1 year of MCLR of 4 Banks viz. ICICI Bank, 
HDFC Bank, SBI & Bank of Baroda plus applicable spread 
rates 

10.25%p.a on 
outstanding INR

10.25%p.a on 
outstanding INR Repayment Schedule
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29 Related Party Disclosure

I) Parties where control exists
Subsidiary
Lyfresh Pvt Ltd- Wholly Owned Subsidiary

II) Key Managerial Personnel & Other Directors
Key Managerial Personnel Description of Relationship

1 Mr Gautam Jatia Managing Director  & Chief Executive Officer
2 Mr Sujay Chattaraj Wholetime Director 
3 Ms Chadaravalli Srinivasa Bhatta Nalini Wholetime Director
4 Mr. Anurag Jatia Wholetime Director 
5 Mr. Amit Agarwal [ Joined w.e.f 02-05-2022 & resigned on 19-01-2023 ] Chief Financial Officer
6 Mr. Bimal Agarwal [ Joined w.e.f 29-04-2023 & resigned on 31-05-2024 ] Chief Financial Officer
7 Ms Amrita Bhattacharya [ Resigned on 20-12-2023 ] Company Secretary 
8 Ms Priyanka Agrawal [ Joined w.e.f 12-02-2024 ] Company Secretary 

Other Directors
1 Mr. Debashish Bhaumik Independent Director
2 Mr. Pramod Kumar Shah   Independent Director
3 Mrs Karabi Sengupta Independent Director

III) Relatives of Key Mangerial personnel
1 Mr. R.K. Jatia (Upto 31.01.2023-Demise)
2 Mrs Vandana Jatia

IV) Entities having significant influence over the group

1

2 Suraj Finvest Private Limited [ name changed from Sneha Gardens Pvt. Ltd. ] [ Company is an associate of the Entity ]

3 Diwakar Finvest Private limited ( formerly known as Sneha enclave private ltd )[ Company is an associate of the Entity ]

V) Other related parties with which Company has transaction.
1 AMRI Hospitals Ltd. (up to 20.09.2023)
2 Archana promoters & Developers Pvt Ltd
3 Emami Agrotech Ltd.
4 Emami Realty Ltd.
5 Emami Art Pvt. Ltd
6 Emami Ltd.
7 Emami Paper Mills Ltd.
8 Emami Foundation
9 M Bhattacharyya & Co. Pvt. Ltd.

10 Niramay Distributors Pvt Ltd.
11 PAN Emami Cosmed Limited
12 Premier Ferro Alloys & Securities Ltd
13 Shopper's city maintenance company Pvt Ltd
14 South city Projects Kolkata Ltd
15 Shri Prashant Goenka
16 Nayee Disha Communications Pvt ltd
17 Shri Jayant Goenka 
18 Smt Priti A Surekha 
19 A M Medical Centre Pvt Ltd
20 Emami Frank Ross Limited Employees Gratuity Fund
21 The Trustees Frank Ross Limited Employees Provident Fund

Details of Related Party Transactions Rs. In Lakhs
Description of relationship Nature of

with party Transaction 2023-24 2022-23 As on 31.03.24 As on 31.03.23
Subsidiary Reimbursement of expenses 6.66                    -                   6.66                           -                                
Key Managerial Personnel Salary 324.17               302.23            (8.47)                         -                                

Perquisites 17.16                 19.11              -                             -                                
Sale of Goods 0.59                    3.52                 0.03                           0.05                              
Loans & Advance Given 96.63                 5.07                 24.17                        -                                

Other Directors Sitting fees 3.15                    2.75                 (0.14)                         -                                
Salary 13.76                 12.48              (0.76)                         -                                
Perquisites 1.51                    1.99                 -                             -                                
Retainership -                      64.00              -                             -                                

Other Entities Sale of Goods 3,346.79           11,386.97      52.12                        2,073.04                      
Display Charges 49.66                 35.37              -                             -                                
Rent Received 0.47                    0.47                 -                             -                                
Dividend Received 0.80                    0.80                 -                             -                                
Purchase of Assets -                      5.34                 -                             -                                
Purchase of Goods 9,433.15           8,946.52        (429.08)                   (70.53)                          
Guarantee Commission Paid 81.54                 138.54            -                             (21.76)                          
Interest on Loan taken 2,084.92           1,023.66        (644.08)                   (253.47)                       
Rent & maintenance paid 406.42               344.65            (96.94)                      -                                
Royalty 11.80                 11.80              -                             -                                
Electricity Charges 31.52                 34.47              (1.92)                         13.07                            
Interest on Loan Given -                      1.64                 -                             -                                
Donation Paid 6.00                    6.00                 -                             -                                
Advance/Deposit given 1,777.00           -                   820.02                     21.02                            
Reimursment of exp 318.66               387.13            -                             -                                
Loan Given refunded -                      75.39              -                             -                                
Loan Taken 38,768.00        32,164.00      (38,393.00)             (4,988.00)                    
Loan Taken refund back 5,363.00           36,417.00      -                             -                                
Post employment benefit expense 10.00                 55.75              161.56                     182.06                         

**- Figures in brackets denote Credit Balance

For the Financial year Amount outstanding **

Relatives of Key Managerial Personnel

PAN Emami Cosmed Limited [ named changed from Midkot Investments Limited ] 
[ Company was an associate of the Entity upto 14.02.2023. Now a promoter company]



Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March'24
Rs. In Lakhs

30

31 Contingent Liabilities & Commitments :-
a Contingent Liabilities

Rs. In Lakhs
Particulars 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-23

Bank Guarantees 586.78         476.95                 
Disputed GST Demands under appeal 161.22         -                        

b Commitments
Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on Capital account & not provided  - Rs. Nil (P. Y. Rs. Nil/-).

32 Assets given on Operating Lease

a

b

Rs. In Lakhs
31-Mar-24 31-Mar-23

Lease contributions for the year 0.40                     0.40                       
Minimum Lease payment contributions
-Not later than one Year 0.40                     0.40                       
-Later than one year but not later than five years 2.00                     2.00                       
-Later than 5 years 12.80                  13.20                     

33 Assets taken on Operating Lease

a

Rs. In Lakhs

-Not later than one Year 1,206.51            875.71                 1,512.09     1,097.51             
-Later than 1 Year 6,533.63            4,853.07             5,088.27     3,779.48             

The difference between minimum lease payments and the present value of minimum lease payments of Rs. 2,011.36 lakh
(P.Y- Rs. 1,723.37 lakh) represents interest not due .

The company has taken shops on rent. The total minimum lease payments and present value of minimum
lease payments are as follows:-

31-Mar-24

 Minimum 
Lease payments 

 Present value of 
Minimum lease 

payments 

31-Mar-23

 Minimum 
Lease 

payments 

 Present value of 
Minimum lease 

payments 

Particulars

Particulars

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that 
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. Therefore, Net Deferred Tax Asset 
of Rs. 3,833.22 lakhs (P.Y.- Rs. 3,560.91 lakhs) has been recognised till date in the accounts in compliance with IND AS 12
on" Income Taxes".

Contingent Liability disclosed above represents possible obligations where the possibility of cash outflow to settle the obligation is 
remote .

The company has given assets under non-cancellable operating lease . The total lease rent received on the same is Rs. 0.40 Lakh- [ 
P.Y - Rs 0.40 Lakh ]

The minimum future lease rentals receivable in respect of non-cancellable lease as at 31-March-24 are as under:



Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March'24
Rs. In Lakhs

Defined benefit plan  
34.1  Defined benefit plan  (Gratuity)

i

Particulars

A Components of Employer Expenses
1 Current Service Cost 118.59          86.06             
2 Past service Cost -                 -                 
3 Loss/(Gain) on settlement -                 -                 
4 Net interest income/(cost) on the net defined benefit liability 

(Asset)
13.11             10.44             

5 Total Expenses recognised in the Statement of Profit & Loss 131.70          96.50             

B Net asset/(liability) recognised in balance sheet as at 31st March 
2024

1 Present value of Defined Benefit Obligation 636.96          641.95          
2 Fair value of plan assets 475.40          459.90          
3 Funded Status [Surplus/(deficit)] (161.56)         (182.06)         
4 Net asset/(liability) recognised in balance sheet (161.56)         (182.06)         

C Change in Defined Benefit Obligation during the year ended 31st 
March 2024

-    1 Present value of DBO at beginning of period    641.95          572.11          
2 Current Service Cost        118.59          86.06             
3 Interest Cost        46.22             41.76             
4 Re-measurement (or actuarial)(gain)/loss arising from -                 -                 

-Change in demographic assumptions -                 -                 
-Change in financial assumptions (138.02)         7.61               
-Experience variation (i.e Actual experience vs assumptions) (7.51)             (10.31)           

5 Past Service cost -                 -                 
6 Benefits Paid   (24.26)           (55.27)           
7 Acquisition adjustment -                 
8 Effect of business combinations or disposals -                 
7 Present value of DBO at the end of period   636.97          641.96          

D Change in Fair Value of Assets
-    1 Fair value of Planned assets at beginning of period 459.90          429.07          

2 Investment income 33.11             31.32             
3 Employer's contribution 5.38               57.51             
4 Benefits paid (24.26)           (55.27)           
5 Return on plan assets, excluding amount recognised in net 

interest expense
1.28               (2.73)             

-                 
6 Acquistion adjustment
7 Fair value of Plan assets at end of the period 475.41          459.90          

E Other Comprehensive Income
1 Actuarial (gains)/Losees

-Changes in demographic assumptions -                 -                 
-Changes in financial assumptions (138.02)         7.61               
-Experience variance (i.e Actual experience vs assumptions) (7.51)             (10.31)           

2 Return on plan assets, excluding amount recognised in net 
interest expense

(1.28)             2.73               

3 Components of defined benefit costs recognised in other 
comprehensive income 

(146.82)         0.03               

ii The Major categories of plan assets as a % of total plan assets

Fund managed by insurer 100% 100%

Gratuity Funded Gratuity Funded

Year ended 
31st March 2024

Year ended 
31st March 2023

Gratuity: The Company has a defined Gratuity Plan for its employees. Every employee who has completed five years or more
of service gets a gratuity on departure at 15 days salary (last drawn salary) for each completed year of service. The Scheme is
funded with an insurance company in the form of qualifying insurance policy.

Year ended 
31st March 2024

Year ended 
31st March 2023



iii Assumptions

Financial assumptions
Discount rate % 7.00% 7.20%
Rate of increase in salaries 7% p.a 9% p.a
Demographic assumptions
Mortality rate (% of IALM 2012-14) 100% 100%
Normal retirement age 58 years 58 years
Attrition rates, based on age(% p.a) for all ages 2% p.a 2% p.a

iv Sensitivity analysis

Revenue from operation

Defined benefit obligation base 636.96          641.95          

Particulars Decrease Increase Decrease Increase
a Discount rate (-/ +1%) 710.25 575.29 726.24 571.66

(% change compared to base due to sensitivity) 11.51% -9.68% 13.13% -10.95%
b Salary growth rate (-/ +1%) 575.09 709.12 572.61 722.98

(% change compared to base due to sensitivity) -9.71% 11.33% -10.80% 12.62%
c Attrition rate (-/ +50%) 638.22 635.72 654.5 630.97

(% change compared to base due to sensitivity) 0.20% -0.20% 1.95% -1.71%
d Mortality rate (-/ +10%) 636.91 637.01 643.45 640.48

(% change compared to base due to sensitivity) -0.01% 0.01% 0.23% -0.23%

v Effect of plan on Entity's Future Cash Flows
a) Funding arrangements and funding policy

b)
Particulars

The Company's best estimate of Contribution during the next
year

267.99          286.38          

c) Maturity profile of Defined benefit obligation
Particulars

Weighted average duration ( based on discounted cash flows) 12 years 13 years

Expected cash flows over the next years (valed on undiscounted 
basis)
1 year 57.87             33.51             
2 to 5 years 175.06          156.31          
6 to 10 years 206.43          205.99          
More than 10 years 1,188.32       1,490.51       

Year ended 
31st March 2024

Year ended 
31st March 2023

Year ended 
31st March 2024

Year ended 
31st March 2023

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of the actual change in defined benefit obligation as it is
unlikely that the change in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may be
correlated .

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the defined benefit obligation are discount rate expected salary
increase and mortality . The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on reasonable possible changes of the
assumptions occuring at the end of the reporting period , while holding all other assumptions constant. The results of
sensitivity analysis is given below:-

Year ended 
31st March 2024

Year ended 
31st March 2024

Year ended 
31st March 2023

The company has purchased an insurance policy to provide for payment of gratuity to the employees . Every year , the
insurance company carries out a funding valuation based on the latest emplyee data provided by the Company. Any deficit in
the assets arising as a result of such valuation is funded by the company

Expected contibution during the next annual reporting period
Year ended 

31st March 2024
Year ended 

31st March 2023

Year ended 
31st March 2023

Year ended 
31st March 2024

Year ended 
31st March 2023



Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March'24
Rs. In Lakhs

Defined benefit plan  
34.2 Defined benefit plan  -Leave

Particulars

A Components of Employer Expenses
1 Current Service Cost 64.38           11.42                      
2 Past service Cost -               -                          
3 Loss/(Gain) on settlement -               -                          
4 Net interest income/(cost) on the net defined benefit liability 

(Asset)
9.37             9.03                        

5 change in demographic assumptions
6 Actuarial (gains)/ Losses due to Change in financial assumption (47.56)         1.55                        

7 Actuarial (gains)/ Losses due to Change in experience variance 36.08           17.38                      

8 Total Expenses recognised in the Statement of Profit & Loss 62.27           39.38                      

B Net asset/(liability) recognised in balance sheet as at 31st 
March 2024

1 Present value of Defined Benefit Obligation 149.51         130.07                    
2 Fair value of plan assets -               -                          
3 Funded Status [Surplus/(deficit)] (149.51)       (130.07)                  
4 Net asset/(liability) recognised in balance sheet (149.51)       (130.07)                  

C Change in Defined Benefit Obligation during the year ended 
31st March 2024

1 Present value of DBO at beginning of period    130.07         123.76                    
2 Current Service Cost        64.38           11.42                      
3 Interest Cost        9.36             9.03                        
4 Re-measurement (or actuarial)(gain)/loss arising from -               -                          

-Change in demographic assumptions -               -                          
-Change in financial assumptions (47.56)         1.55                        
-Experience variation (i.e Actual experioence vs assumptions) 36.08           17.38                      

5 Past Service cost -               -                          
6 Benefits Paid   (42.82)         (33.07)                     
7 Acquisition adjustment -               
8 Effect of business combinations or disposals -               
7 Present value of DBO at the end of period   149.51         130.07                    

D Change in Fair Value of Assets
1 Fair value of Planned assets at beginning of period -               -                          
2 Investment income -               -                          
3 Employer's contribution 42.82           33.07                      
4 Benefits paid (42.82)         (33.07)                     
5 Return on plan assets , excluding amount recognised in net 

interest expense
-               -                          

6 Acquistion adjustment
7 Fair value of Plan assets at end of the period -               -                          

ii The Major categories of plan assets as a % of total plan assets

Fund managed by insurer NA NA

Unfunded Unfunded

Year ended 
31st March 2024

Year ended 
31st March 2023

Year ended 
31st March 2024

Year ended 
31st March 2023

Leave encashment Leave encashment



iii Assumptions

Financial assumptions
Discount rate % 7.00% 7.20%
Rate of increase in salaries 7% p.a. 9% p.a.
Demographic assumptions
Mortality rate (% of IALM 2012-14) 100% 100%
Normal retirement age 58 years 58 years
Attrition rates, based on age(% p.a) for all ages 2% p.a 2% p.a

iv Sensitivity analysis

Revenue from operation

Defined benefit obligation base 149.51 130.07

Particulars Decrease Increase Decrease Increase
a Discount rate (-/ +1%) 169.42 133.08 147.35 115.89

(% change compared to base due to sensitivity) 13.32% -10.99% 13.29% -10.90%
b Salary growth rate (-/ +1%) 132.01 170.41 115.29 147.77

(% change compared to base due to sensitivity) -11.70% 13.98% -11.36% 13.61%
c Attrition rate (-/ +50%) 149.00             149.95 132.88 127.66

(% change compared to base due to sensitivity) -0.34% 0.29% 2.16% -1.85%
d Mortality rate (-/ +10%) 149.45 149.57 130.4 129.74

(% change compared to base due to sensitivity) -0.04% 0.04% 0.26% -0.25%

v Effect of plan on Entity's Future Cash Flows
a) Maturity profile of Defined benefit obligation

Particulars

Weighted average duration ( based on discounted cash flows) 12 Years 14 Years

Expected cash flows over the next years (valued on 
undiscounted basis)
1 year 9.71             17.35                      
2 to 5 years 33.22           22.99                      
6 to 10 years 44.25           33.75                      
More than 10 years 355.10         330.40                    

Year ended 
31st March 2024

Year ended 
31st March 2023

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of the actual change in defined benefit obligation as it is
unlikely that the change in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may be
correlated .

Year ended 
31st March 2024

Year ended 
31st March 2023

Year ended 
31st March 2024

Year ended 
31st March 2023

Year ended 
31st March 2024

Year ended 
31st March 2023

Year ended 
31st March 2024

Year ended 
31st March 2023

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the defined benefit obligation are discount rate expected salary
increase and mortality . The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on reasonablepossible changes of the
assumptions occuring at the end of the reporting period , while holding all other assumptions constant. The results of
sensitivity analysis is given below:-



35 Fair Value Measurement

a)  Financial Instruments by category Rs. In Lakhs

Amortised Cost FVTOCI FVTPL Amortised Cost FVTOCI FVTPL
Financial Assets
Investment in Equity shares (Quoted) -                               43.29                -                      -                           36.06                -                      
Investment in Equity shares (Unquoted) -                               215.90             -                      -                           215.90              -                      
Investment in Preference Shares (Unquoted) 16.33                          -                     -                      16.33                       -                     -                      
Investment in Debentures (Unquoted) 425.00                       -                     -                      425.00                    -                     -                      
Trade Receivables 7,315.70                   -                     -                      5,966.31                 -                     -                      
Loans and Advances 53,147.35                 -                     -                      46,506.58              -                     -                      
Other Financial Assets 1,408.60                   -                     -                      1,221.16                 -                     -                      
Cash and Cash Equivalents 714.99                       -                      -                       768.97                    -                     -                      
Financial Liabilities
Borrowings(including interest accrued) 69,283.34                 -                     -                      56,772.86              -                     -                      
Trade Payables 5,575.65                   -                     -                      5,101.91                 -                     -                      
Lease Liabilities 5,728.78                   -                     -                      4,876.99                 -                     -                      
Other Financial Liabilities 986.60                       -                     -                      499.17                    -                     -                      

b) Fair Value Hierarchy

Particulars Fair Value 
Hierarchy

 As at  As at 

Financial Assets 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-23

Investment in Equity Share(Quoted) Level 1 43.29                 36.06                   
Investment in Equity Share(Unquoted) Level 3 215.90              215.90                

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical assets or liabilities. 

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the year.

(c)  Fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost :

Carying Value Fair Value Carying Value Fair Value
Financial Assets
Investment in Preference Shares (Unquoted) 16.33                          16.33                16.33                   16.33                       
Investment in Debentures (Unquoted) 425.00                       425.00             425.00                425.00                    
Security Deposit 1,396.66                   1,396.66         1,209.97             1,209.97                 
Financial Liabilities
Borrowings(including interest accrued) 69,283.34                 69,283.34      56,772.86          56,772.86              

Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March'24

31 March 2023

The fair value of financial assets & liabilities is classified in various fair value hierarchy based on following three levels:-

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted price included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices)
or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using
market approach and valuation techniques which maximize the use of observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-
specific estimates. 

Particulars
31 March 2024

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidated sale.

Based on the evaluation of Trade Receivables, allowances are considered to account for the expected losses of these receivables. As at end
of each reporting year, the carrying amount of such receivables , net of allowances (if any) , are not materially different from their
calculated Fair values.

Level 3: Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

When the fair value of unquoted instruments cannot be measured with sufficient reliability, the group carries such instruments at cost
less impairment, if applicable.

Particulars
31-Mar-24 31-Mar-23

The Company uses Discounted Cash Flow Valuation Technique which involves determination of present value of expected receipt 
discounted using appropriate discounting rate.

The Management has assessed that the Fair Value of other financial assets and liabilities (fixed deposits, short term loans and advances 
and other current liabilities) approximates their carrying amounts largely due to the short term nature of these instruments. Fair value of 
non-current financial instruments (other than above) approximates to their carrying value which is based on effective interest rate.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          



Rs. In Lakhs

36 Financial risk management

(A) Credit risk

(B) Liquidity risk

Year ended 31.3.2024
Rs. In Lakhs

Particulars Less than 1 year 1 to 5 years More than 5 years Total
Borrowings 11,065.90                57,573.36          -                                   68,639.26              
Interest on borrowings 644.08                      -                       -                                   644.08                    
Trade Payables 5,575.65                   -                       -                                   5,575.65                
Employee Benefits Payable 831.79                      -                       -                                   831.79                    
Other Liabilities 126.97                      -                       -                                   126.97                    
Total 18,244.39               57,573.36        -                                  75,817.75            

Year ended 31.3.2023
Rs. In Lakhs

Particulars Less than 1 year 1 to 5 years More than 5 years Total
Borrowings 24,235.55                32,266.16          -                                   56,501.71              
Interest on borrowings 271.16                      -                       -                                   271.16                    
Trade Payables 5,101.91                   -                       -                                   5,101.91                
Employee Benefits Payable 301.42                      -                       -                                   301.42                    
Other Liabilities 173.57                      -                       -                                   173.57                    
Total 30,083.61               32,266.16        -                                  62,349.77            

Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March'24

The company’s activities expose it to market risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. In order to minimise any adverse
effects on the financial performance of the company, the company has risk management policies as described below :-

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that the company fails to honour its financial obligations in accordance with terms of
contract. Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities and the
availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities to meet obligations when due and to
close out market positions. Management monitors rolling forecasts of the company’s liquidity position and cash and
cash equivalents on the basis of expected cash flows. In addition, the company’s liquidity management policy involves
projecting cash flows and considering the level of liquid assets necessary to meet these, monitoring balance sheet
liquidity ratios against internal and external regulatory requirements and maintaining debt financing plans.

Credit risk refers to the risk of financial loss arising from default / failure by the counterparty to meet financial
obligations as per the terms of contract. The company is exposed to credit risk for receivables, cash and cash
equivalents, financial guarantees. None of the financial instruments of the Company result in material concentration of
credit risks. Credit risk on receivables is minimum since sales through different mode are made after judging credit
worthiness of the customers or advance payment . The history of defaults has been minimal and outstanding
receivables are regularly monitored. For credit risk on the loans to parties, the company is not expecting any material
risk on account of non-performance by any of the parties.The company creates allowances for all unsecured
receivables and advances based on lifetime expected credit loss . The company has written off the Expected credit loss
amounting to Rs. Nil (PY:Rs. Nil ) in current year.

The Company does not have any derivative financial liability.The following are the remaining contractual maturities of
non derivative financial liabilities at the reporting period:



( C) Market risk

There is no transaction which will result in foreign currency exposure during the year .

Rs. In Lakhs

Particulars
Increase/ 

decrease in Basis 
points

Effect on Profit 
before tax

31.03.2024 +0.50 (346.42)              
-0.50 346.42                

31.03.2023 +0.50 (283.86)              
-0.50 283.86                

(iii) Price risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates.

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates.

Foreign Currency paid for the year w.r.t imports amounts to Rs. 121.78 Lakhs (PY: Rs. Nil), and w.r.t travelling
amounts to Rs. 2.82 Lakhs (PY: Rs. Nil).

The Company’s main interest rate risk arises from short term and long-term borrowings with variable rates, which
expose the company to cash flow interest rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible changes in interest rates on that portion of
loans and borrowings affected. With all other variables remaining constant, the company's profit before tax is affected
through the impact on floating rate borrowings, as follows:

The company’s exposure to equity securities price risk arises from investments held - both quoted and unquoted and
classified in the balance sheet either as fair value through OCI or at fair value through profit or loss. The company is
not expecting high risk exposure from its investment in securities.



Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March'24 Rs. In Lakhs

37 Ratio Analysis & its Elements % variance Reason for variance 
Sl. No. Particulars Numerator Denominator 2023-24 2022-23

1 Current Ratio ( in times ) Current Assets Current Liabilities             1.15            2.07 -44.31%
 The variance is mainly on 
account of increase of short term 
loan 

2 Debt Equity Ratio ( in times ) Net Debt Shareholder's Equity           (5.40)          (4.58) 17.87%  Not Appliable 

3 Debt Service Coverage Ratio ( in times ) Net Operating Income Debt Service             0.57            0.51 12.58%  Not Appliable 

4 Return on Equity Ratio ( in % ) Profit for the period Avg. Shareholders Equity                -                 -    Net worth is Negative 

5 Inventory Turnover Ratio ( in times ) Cost of Goods sold Average Inventory             5.34            5.77 -7.43%  Not Appliable 

6 Trade Receivables Turnover Ratio ( in times )  Sales Average Trade Receivables             9.16          10.09 -9.25%  Not Appliable 

7 Trade Payables Turnover Ratio ( in times ) Total Purchases Average Trade Payables             9.40          11.50 -18.25%  Not Appliable 

8 Net Capital Turnover Ratio ( in times ) Net Sales Average Working Capital             6.27            1.73 262.39%
 The variance is mainly on 
account of increase in customer 
outstanding  

9 Net Profit Ratio ( in % ) Net Profit Net Sales -0.56% -0.71% 21.02%  Not Appliable 

10 Return on Capital employed ( in % ) EBIT Capital Employed 8.37% 8.98% -6.77%  Not Appliable 

11 Return on Investment ( in % ) Return/Profit/Earnings Investment -83.52% -96.52% 13.47%  Not Appliable 

* Investment for the purpose of calculation of Return on Investment comprises of Equity Share Capital only .

38  Capital Management

Rs. In Lakhs

Particulars 31st March 2024 31st March 2023
Long term Borrowings 
incl current maturities

38,710.97                                                                   60,631.58                        

Short term Borrowings 44,728.29                                                                   10,670.12                        
Less:- Cash & Cash 
equivalent

(714.99)                                                                       (768.97)                            

Net Debt 82,724.27                                                                 70,532.73                      

Equity (6,540.02)                                                                 (6,306.53)                       

Gearing Ratio NIL NIL

Ratios

For the purpose of the Company's Capital Management, Capital includes issued equity capital and all other Equity Reserves attributable to the Equity holders .
The Primary objective of the Company's capital management is to maximise the Shareholder value.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   

In order to achieve this overall objective, the Company’s capital management, amongst other things, aims to ensure that it meets financial covenants attached to the  interest-bearing 
loans and borrowings that define capital structure requirements.   

There have been no breaches in the financial covenants of any interest-bearing loans and borrowing in the current period.



Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March'24

39 Since the company operates only in one segment i.e. retailing and also in one country i.e. India, hence information on segment reporting with respect to operating
and geographical segment is not provided .

40

41

42

43 Advance to Employees Provident Fund Trust

44

45

46 Disclosure in relation to undisclosed income
The Company have not any such transaction which is not recorded in the books of accounts that has been surrendered or disclosed as income during the current

47 Details of Benami Property held

48 Registration of charges or satisfaction with Registrar of Companies (ROC).

49 Details of Crypto Currency or Virtual Currency 

50 Disclosure for no wilful default

51 Rounding-Off requirements

52
For & on behalf of Board of Directors

In terms of our attached report of even date SD/- SD/-
For Agrawal Tondon & Co. Gautam Jatia Sujoy Chattaraj
Chartered Accountants Managing Director Director
FRN:-329088E DIN - 00604926 DIN - 08818352

SD/-
Bimal Kr Agarwal

Chief Financial Officer

SD/-
Priyanka Agarwal

SD/- Company Secretary
Kaushal Kejriwal Membership No. - A55000
Partner 
Membership No. 308606

Dated : 29th May 2024
Place : Kolkata

Previous year's figures have been regrouped and rearranged wherever necessary.

These financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees Rs. In lakhs, which is also the Company’s functional currency. All values are 
rounded off to the nearest Rs. In lakhs up to two decimals, except when otherwise indicated.

All the title deeds of the immovable property disclosed in Note No.2 of the financial statements (other than properties where the Company is the lessee and the 
lease agreements are duly executed in favour of the lessee) are held in the name of the Company.

The Company is filing monthly statement of Inventories, Trade payables and Trade receivables to banks for working capital loan which have no material 
discrepancies.

Reconciliation and reasons of material discrepancies, in monthly statements submitted to bank and books of accounts.

Compliance with number of layers of companies.
The Company has complied with the number of layers prescribed under clause (87) of  section 2 of the Act read with Companies (Restriction on number of Layers) 
Rules, 2017.

The Company has not been declared as a wilful defaulter by any bank or financial institution or government or any government authority.

The Company do not have any charges or satisfaction which is yet to be registered with ROC beyond the statutory period as at March 31, 2024.

The Company have not traded or invested in Crypto currency or Virtual Currency during the current and previous financial year.

The Company does not have any Benami property. Further, there are no proceedings initiated or are pending against the Company for

holding any benami property under the Prohibition of Benami Property Transactions Act, 1988 and rules made thereunder.

Immovable Property

A) The Company has not advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources or other kind of funds) to or in any 
other person or entity, including foreign entity (“Intermediaries”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, 
directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Group (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or 
provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries. 

B) The Company has not received any funds (which are material either individually or in the aggregate) from any person or entity, including foreign entity 
(“Funding Parties”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Company shall, directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other 
persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the 
like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.  

Financing disclosure

Relationship with Struck off Companies 

and previous financial year in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 (such as, search or survey or any other relevant provisions of the Income Tax Act, 
1961).

The Company do not have any transactions with company’s struck off during the current and previous financial year.

The Company has decided to dissolve the "Frank Ross Employees Provident Fund Trust" & transfer the fund into EPFO. Therfore, the said advance has been given 
to fund the trust till all investments are redeemed.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To 

the i'\lkmhcrs of EMAMI FRANK ROSS UMITED 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Finuncinl Statements 

Opinion 

Wc have nuclited the accompanying Consolidntcd Ind AS financial stntemcnts of EMAMI FRANK 

ROSS LIMITED ("the Holding Compnny") and its subsidiary( the Holding Compnny nnd its 

subsidiary together refetTecl to as "the Group") which comprise the consolidated Bnlnnce Sheet us at 

31st i'vlarch 2024. the consolidated Statement of Profit nnd Loss (including other comprehensive 

income), the consolidnted Statement of Cush Flow nnd the consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 

for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated Ind AS financial statements, including a summary 

ol" material accounting policies and other explanatory infonnation (hereinafter referred to as ''the 

consolidated Ind AS financial statements"). 

In om opinion and to the best of our infommtion and according to the explanations given to us and 

based on the consideration of reports of other auditor on separate financial statements and on the other 

financial infom1ntion of the subsidiary, the aforesaid consolidated lnd AS financial statements give the 

information required by the Companies Act, 2013,as amended ("the Act") in the manner so required 

and give a true and fair view in confonnity with the lndian accounting standards ("Ind AS"') prescribed 

under section 133 of the Act rend with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules. 2015 ns 

amended and other accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the consolidated state of affairs 

of the Group as at 31st March 2024, their Consolidated loss including Other Comprehensive Income. 

thcir Consolidated cash flows, and the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the yenr ended 

on that elate. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit of the consolidated Ind AS financial statements in accordance with the 

Standards on Auditing (SAs) specified under section 143(10) of the Companies Act, 2013. Our 

responsibilities under those Standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the 

Audit of the Consolidated Ind AS Financial Statements section of our report. \\I<! nre independent of 

the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 

India together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial 

statements under the provisions of the Companies Act, 201 3 and the rules thereunder. and we lum: 

fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our opinion on the consolidated Ind AS financial statements. 



Key Audit Matters 

Key_ audit matt~rs are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most signi ficancc in our 
audit of consolidated Ind AS financial statements for the year ended 31 '1 March, 2024. These matters 
were addressed in the context of our audit of Consolidated Ind AS financial statements as a whole, and 
in fom1ing our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

\Ve have dctennincd the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our 
report: 

Key Audit Matters 

1) Identification and disclosures of 
Related Parties (as described in Note 
29 of the standalone Ind AS 
financial statements. 

The Company has related party transactions 
which in\:lude, amongst 0U1ers, sale and 
purchase of goods/services to its related 
parties and lending, investment and 
bonowing to/from its related parties. 
Identification and disclosure ofrelated 
parties was a significant area of focus and 
hence considered it as a Key Audit Matter. 

Auditor's Response 

Our audit procedures amongst others included the 
following: 

• Evaluated the design and tested the operating 
effectiveness of controls over identification and 
disclosure of related party transactions. 

• Obtained a list of related parties from the Company's 
management and traced the related parties to 
declarations given by directors, where applicable, and 
to Note 29 of the standalone Ind AS financial 
statements. 

• Read minutes of the meetings of the Board of 
Directors and Audit Committee and traced related 
party transactions with limits approved by Audit 
Committee I Board. 

• Read declarations of related party transactions given 
to U1e Board of Directors and Audit Committee. 

• Verified the disclosures in the standalone Ind AS 
financial statements for compliance with Ind AS 24. 



2) Existence and valuation of 
Inventories. 

The value of the Company's 
mventones at year-end was Rs 
10021.14 lakhs, representin~ 
11 .09%,of the Company's total 
assets. The existence of inventory 
is a key audit matter due to the 
involvement of highrisk, basis the 
nature of the retail industiy wherein 
value . per unit is relatively 
111s1g111ficant but high volumes are 
involved which are distributed 
across different Point of Sales 
and warehouses. 

In response to this key matter, our audit included, among 
others, the following principal audit procedures 

Understood Management's control over physical inventory 
counts and valuation 

• Evaluation of the design and testing the operating 
effectiveness of the internal controls relat ing to 
physical inventory counts at the stores and the 
warehouse. ln testing this control, we observed the 
inventmy cycle cmmt process on a sample basis, 
inspected the results of theinventory cycle count and 
confinned that the variances were approved and 
appropriately accounted for. 

• Evaluation of the design and testing the operating 
effectiveness of the internal controls relating to 
pmchases, sales and inventories including automated 
controls 

• We have also performed roll-forward and alternate 
procedures on sample basis for establishing the 
existence of inventmy as at year-end by validating 
purchases, sales, stockmovement of inventory during 
the intervening period i.e. from the date physical 
verification was done till the year end date. 

• For a representative sample, verification that the 
finished goods inventories were correctly measured, 
using a recalculation of the measurement of those 
inventories based on the cost of acquiring them from 
suppliers and considering the costs directly 
attributable to such goods. 



Information Other th th . . an e Fmencrnl Statements and Auditor's Report Thereon 
The Holding Company's B d fD ' . . . . . 

. 
1 

. oar o 1rectors 1s responsible for the other mfonnat10n. Other mfonnat1on 
:mpnses I 

lC '.nfonnation included in tl1c Board's Report including Annexurcs 10 Board's Report, 
d anagcmcnt Discussion and Analysis Report, Corporate Governance and Shareholder lnfonnation bul 
ocs not mclude the consolidated Ind AS linancial statements and our auditor's report thereon. 

Our opinion on the Consolidated lnd AS linancial statements does not cover the other infonnation and 
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of U1e financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
mfomiation and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
fii~ancial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work we have perfonned on the otl1er infonnation obtained prior to the date of this 
auditor's report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other infonnation, we arc 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibility of Management and Those Charged with Governance for Consolidated Ind AS 
Financial Statements 

The I lolding Company's Board of Directors are responsible for the mailers staled in section 134(5) of 
the Companies Act, 2013 ("the Act") with respect to the preparation and presentation of these 
Consolidated Ind AS financial statements that give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial 
position, consolidated financial perfonnance including other comprehensive income, consolidated cash 
flows and consolidated changes in equity of the Group in accordance with the Ind AS and other 
accounting p1inciples generally accepled in lndia. This responsibility also includes maintenance of 
adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the assets 
of the Group and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and application 
of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
and design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating 
effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the 
preparation and presentation of tlie consolidated lnd AS financial statements that give a true and fair 
view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, which have been used for 
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated Ind AS financial statements by the Directors of the 
I lolding Company, as aforesaid. 

In preparing tlie consolidated Ind AS financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
ability of the Group to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate 
the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process 
of the Group. 
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Auditor's Rcsponsihiliti, , 1 .. . 1 . 
cs 01 t tc Audit' ol t.hc Consolldntcd Ind AS Flnnnclnl Stnt·cmcnts 

Om objectives 11re to obt · ., , . . 

. , ; , " 11111 1c11so1111blc 11ssurn1icc nboul whether the eonsolidntcd Ind AS f11111nc111I 
slnlcmcnls ns II whole llre l'i· ,., ~. . . I · 

cl'! , cc 11 0111 11111ten11I 1111sst11lc111e11t whulhcr clue lo frnud or error, !IIH lo issue 
1111 

till 
I 

or s report thnt includes Olli' opinion. Rc11son11blc n'ssurnncc is u high level nf' nssurnncc, but is 

1101 a gunrnntce thnt III l't d · I 
. 

1 nuc I con uclcd in nccorclnncc with SAs will ulwnys detect a mntcnn 

~rns_st ~ilcmcnt w_hen it exists. Misst11tc111ents cnn nl'ise from frnud or error 11ncl nrc considered mulcrinl if, 

1nd1v1dunlly or 111 the ng, 1 , , 1 I • ' I · · · 
. gi egn e, t icy could rcnsonnbly be ex peeled lo 111nuencc the economic c cc1s1011s 

01 users taken on the bnsis of'thcsc linnncinl stntements. 

As !1:ir~ or an audit in nccordnnce with SAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 

prnkssionnl scepticism thrnughout the nudit. We nlso: 

ldcntily and nsscss the risks or 11111tcri11l misstnlcment of the consoliclatccl Incl AS financial 

st ntcm~nts, whether due to frnud or error, design and perform nudit procedures responsive lo 

those nsks, and obtain audit evidence thnl is sufficient and appropriate to provide a bnsis for 

our o!iinion. The risk of' not detecting a material misstatement resulling from fraud is higher 

than for one resulting from error, as fruud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

Obtain an understanding or internal financial controls relevant. lo the audit in order to design 

audit procedures thnt arc npproprinte in the circumstnnces. Under section 143(3)(i) of the 

Companies Act ,20 I J, we arc nlso responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the 

Holding Company has adcquute internal financial controls system in place and the operating 

cr!'cctivcncss of such controls. 

!(valuate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

cstimates and related disclosures mnde by management. 

Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting 

and , based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainly exists related to 

events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability lo continue as a 

going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 

attention in our auditor's report t.o the related disclosures in the Consolidated Ind AS financial 

statcments or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions arc 

based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 

dalc or our audi1or's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 

to con I inue as a going concern. 

livaluatc the overall prcscntalion, structure and content of the consolidated Ind AS financial 

statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated Ind AS financial statements 

rcprcscnl lhc underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

Wc also communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other mallcrs, the planned 

scopc and liming of the audit and signilicant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 

internal cunlrol lhal we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 

ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 

mailers !hat may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 

saleguards. 
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From the matters commtt · t d · 1 1 . . 
ntca e w1l 1 t 10se charged with governance we delermme those mailers that 

wcrcofmostsignifica11c . · t·I d' f . ' . . 
' e m 1e au tl o the consoltdnted Lnd AS financtal statements for the /inanctal 

year ended March 3 I 2024 d . 1 ti . . • 
. , , an ate t 1ere ore the key audit matters. We descnbe these mailers 111 our 

at'.d.ttor s report _unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 

cxticmcly rare circumstances, we detem1ine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 

because thc adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 

mlcrest benefits of such communication. 

Other Matters 

We did not audit the financial statements of the subsidiary whose financial statements reflect t~tal 

assets of Rs.2.59 Lakhs as at March 31 2024 total revenues of N]L and net cash outflows amountmg 

to Rs.0.05 Lakhs for the year ended on tlmt daie, as considered in the consolidated financial stat_cments. 

These financial statements have been audited by other auditors whose reports have been forn1shcd to 

us by the Management and our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, in so far _as it relates 

to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of this subsidiary, and our report Ill terms of 

subsection (3) of Section 143 of the Act, in so far as it relates to the aforesaid subsidiaiy is based solely 

on the reports of the other auditors. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements above and our report on Other Legal and 

Regulatmy Requirements below, is not modified in respect of the above matters with respec~ to our 

reliance on the work done and the reports of the other auditors and the financial statements ce1i1fied by 

the Management. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

As required by the Companies (Auditor's Report) Order, 2020 ("the Order"), issued by the Central 

Government of India in tenns of sub-section ( I 1) of section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013, we give 

in the Annexure "B" a statement on the matters specified in paragraph 3(xxi) of the Order. 

I. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report that: 

(a) We the other auditor whose report we have relied upon have sought and obtained all the infonnation 

and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of 

our audit of the aforesaid consolidated Ind AS Financial Statement. 

(b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law relating to preparation of aforesaid 

consolidation of the financial statements have _been kept so far as it appears from our examination 

of those books and reports of the other auditors. 

(c) The Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss including Other 

Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and Consolidated Statement of 

Changes in Equity dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the books of account maintained 

for the purpose of preparation of consolidated Ind AS financial statement. 

(d) Jn our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated Ind AS financial statements comply with the Indian 

J\ccounlmg Standards specified under Section 133 of the Act read with the Companies (Indian 

Accounting Standards) Rules 2015, as amended. 
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I (c) On the basis of the writt . . 

31 st March, 2024 ta
 en representations receive~ from the directors of Holding company as on 

of th t tu ~en on record by the Board of Directors of the Holding company and the report 

ti d c s a tory auditor appointed under section I 39 of the Act of its subsidiary company, none of 

1
: . Ircct~rs of the Group company is disqualified as on 31st March, 2024 from being appointed as 

a ircctor m terms of Section 164 (2) of the Act. 

(f) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated Jnd 

AS financial statements of the Holding Company and its subsidiary and the operating effectiveness 

of ~u_ch controls, refer to our separate Report in "A.nnexure A". Our report expresses an unmodified 

opmwn on ~he adequacy and operating effectiveness of the Company's internal financial controls 

over financial reporting. 

(g) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor's report in accordance with the 

requirement of section 197(16) of the Act, as amended: 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanation given to us, the 

remuneration for the year ended March 31 , 2024 has been paid / provided by the Holding Company 

to its directors in accordance with the provisions of section 197 of the Act; 

(h) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor's Report in accordance with Rule 11 

of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our 

infonnation and according to the explanations given to us: 

i. The Group has disclosed its pending litigations on its financial position in its Consolidated 

financial statement in Note no. 3 I (a) 

ii. The Group did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for which 

there were any material foreseeable losses. 

iii. There has been no such sum which needs to be transferred to the Investor Education and 

Protection Fund by the Company. 

iv. a) The respective management of the Holding Company and its subsidiary have represented 

that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, other than as disclosed in the notes to the 

accounts, no funds have been advanced or loaned or invested ( either from borrowed funds 

or share premium or any other sources or kind of funds) by 

the Holding Company and its subsidiary to or in any other person or entity, including 

foreign entities ("Intermediaries"), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or 

otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, whether, directly or indirectly lend or invest in other 

persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the respecti ve 

Holding Company or its subsidiary ("Ultimate Beneficiaries") or provide any guarantee, 

security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries. 

b) The respective management of the Holding Company and its subsidiary have 

represented, that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, other than as disclosed in the notes 

to the accounts, no funds have been received by the company from any person or entity, 

including foreign entities ("Funding Parties"), with the understanding, whether recorded in 

writing or otherwise, that the Holding Company or any of its subsidiary shall, whetl1er, 

directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner 

whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party (" Ultimate Beneficiaries") or provide any 

guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries. 



c) Based on the uudit p. d 1 
ll . . 10cc ures t ml huvc been considered rcusonable nnd uppropriate in 
ie c11cumslances per~ . I b 

ti . 
01 me( Y us und lhul performed by the auditor or the subsidiary, 

no 1111g has come lo our . ti , . d' ' . . b . 01 o 1c1 uu 1tor s ullenllon !hut has caused us or the other auditor 
lo elteve that the representations under sub-cluuse (i) and (ii) of Ruic 11 (c) as provided 
under (a) ·md (b) ab • . . ' ove, contum any mutcnul 1111sstate111enL 

v. The Company has neither declnred nor pnid nny dividend during the year nor in the previous 
year. 

vi. Proviso to Ruic 3(1) or the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 for maintaining 
books of account using accounting so fl ware which has a feature of recording audit 
trial (edit log) facility is applicable to the Company with effect from I st April 2023. 
Based on our examination which included test checks, the Company has used 
accounting software for maintaining its books of account which has a feature of 
recording audit trail (edit log) facility and the same has operated throughout the 
year for all relevant transactions recorded in the software. During the course of ~ur 
audit we did not come across any instance of audit trail feature being tampered with 
in respect of accounting software. 

Place: Kolkata 
Date: 29 May, 2024 
UDtN: 24308606BKENUH9 I 08 

For Agrawal Tondon & Co 
Chartered Accountants 

Firm's Registration Number - 329088E 

~ ru:1,,,;v-1 

Kaushal Kcjriwal 
Partner 
Membership No: 308606 



ANNEXURE "A" T 
(Referred to in paragrO Tl lIE INDEPENDENT 
our repo.. f ap l l(f) und , AUDITOR• 1

' 0 even date) er Report on O S REPORT 
ther Legal and R l 

egu atory R · 
equ1rements' section of 

Report on the Inter . 
Subsectio 3 nal Financial c 

n of Section 143 of th ontrols Over Financial R . 

0 . . e Companies Act 2013 ("ti epAortmg under Clause (i) of 
Plnton ' 1c ct") 

We have audited tl · 
(" l 1e mtemal fi • 

t 1~ Holding Com an " nane1al controls over financial re . . 
conJunction witl p Y _) as of March 3 !'1 2024 1 h portmg of Emami Frank Ross Limited 

1 our audit of th C ' 0 t e extent of rec d ·1 bl • ended on that d t e onsolidated Ind AS fi . 
1 

or s ava1 a e with us in 
a e. mancrn statements of the Group for the year 

ln our opinion, to the best of . . 
Comp I · our mfonnation and ac d' I 

. any 1as, 111 all material respects ade . cor mg to l _1e explanations given lo us, the Holding 
such mternal financial controls o ,fin q~ate mtemal financ1al controls over financial reporting and 
2024, based on the internal fi ve~ 

1 
anc1al reporting were operating effectively as al 31st March 

Hold' c mancia controls over fin · I · · • . 
mg ompany considering ti . ancrn _reportmg cntena established by the 

Note on Audit of Intern I F' 1e ~ssentials components of the mlemal control stated in the Guidance 
Cl a manc1al Controls Over f' · I R · · 

1artercd Accountants oft- d' (ti "G . manc1a eportmg issued by the Institute of 111 18 1e mdance Note"). 

Manao·ement's Re ·b·i· 
b sponsi 1 ity for Internal Financial Controls 

The Company's manageme t. .bl fi . . . 
b d . n IS respons1 e or estabhshmg and mamtaining internal financial controls 
asc on t_he mtemal control_ over financial reporting criteria established by the Company considering 

the csscntrnl corr~ponents of mternal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial 
Controls Over Fmancial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India These 
responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial 
contrnls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, 
the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and 
completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation ofreliable financial infom1ation, as 
required under the Companies Act, 2013. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the internal financial controls over financial reporting of 
the Holding Company based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance 
Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (the "Guidance Note") issued 
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India and the Standards on Auditing prescribed under 
Section 143(10) of the Companies Act, 20 13, to the extent applicable to an audit ofintemal financial 
controls. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial 
controls over financial reporting was established and maintained and if such controls operated 
effectively in all material respects. 

Our audit involves perfonning procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal 
financial controls system over financial reporting and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of 



internal financial controls ov . fi . 
(i . 1 er mancrnl reporti · I d d · · 
mancia controls over finai1c1· I . ng me u e obtammg an understanding of internal 

d • a reportmg asse · ti · k . 
an evaluatmg the design and . . ' s~mg 1e ns that a material weakness exists and testing 
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· . pen on the auditor' · d · • 
material misstatement of the fi . 
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s JU gement, mcludmg the assessment of the risks of 

. manc1a statements, whether due to fraud or error. 

We believe that the audit evidence w . . . 
for our audit opinion 
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th H 

1 
. e have obtame?, 1s sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

reporting. 
11 

e O dmg Company's mtemal financial controls system over financial 

Meaning of Internal F. • 
•mancial Controls Over Financial Reporting 

/\ Company's internal fin · 1 1 - . . . -
ancrn contra over financial reportmg 1s a process designed to provide 

reasonable assurance re ·d· 1 1- b'l' . . . . 
gai mg t 1e re Ia 1 1ty of financial reportmg and the preparation of financial 

statements for external p · d · 1 · · · 1 A 
, . m-poses m accor ance wit 1 generally accepted accountmg prmc1p es. 

Company s mternal financial control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures 

that 

( 1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the 

transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; 

(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to pennit preparation of 

financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 

principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance 

with authorisations of management and directors of the company; and 

(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, 

use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial 

statements. 

Limitations of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting 

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over financial reporting, including the 

possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to 

error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal 

financial controls over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal 

financial control over financial reporting may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or 

that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

Place: Kolkata 
Date: 29 May, 2024 
UDI N: 24308606BKENUH9108 

For Agrawal Tondon & Co 

Chartered Accountants 

Finn's Registration Number - 329088E 

Kaushal Kejriwal 
Partner 
Membership No: 308606 



ANNEXURE 'B' TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

(Referred lo in paragraph 2 tmder 'Report on Other Legal nml Regulatory Requirements' section or our 
report or even date) 

In tcnns or the information and explanations sought by us nnd given by the Holding Company and the 

books of account and records examined by us in the nonmtl course of audit and lo the best of our 

knowledge and belief and based on the consideration of report of other auditor of the subsidiary 

company , we slate that: 

(xxi) There are no qualifications or adverse remarks by the respective auditors in their report on 

Companies (Auditors Report) Order, 2020 of the companies included in the consolidated financial 

statements. 

Place: Kolkata 
Date: 29 May, 2024 
u DI N: 24308606BKENUH9108 

For Agrawal Tandon & Co 
Chartered Accountants 

Finn's Registration Number - 329088E 

Kaushal Kejriwal 
Partner 
Membership No : 308606 



Rs. In Lakhs
As at As at

31st March, 2024  31st March, 2023 
ASSETS

NON CURRENT ASSETS
a) Property, Plant and Equipment 2.1 5,167.27               4,003.12                 
b) Capital work-in-progress 2.1 26.42                    11.41                      
c) Other Intangible Assets 2.2 275.45                  223.01                    
d) Right of Use Assets 2.3 5,256.23               4,455.26                 
e) Intangible Assets under Development 2.2 179.11                  60.96                      
f) Goodwill on Consolidation 36.23                    36.23                      

g) Financial assets
(i) Investments 3 700.51                  693.28                    
(ii) Other Financial Assets 6 1,408.60               1,221.16                 

h) Deferred Tax Assets (Net) 7 3,833.22               3,560.91                 
i) Other non-current assets 8 315.92                  209.74                    

17,198.96             14,475.08               

CURRENT ASSETS
a) Inventories 9 10,021.14             8,025.83                 
b) Financial assets

(i) Trade receivable 5 7,315.70               5,966.31                 
(ii) Cash and cash equivalents 10 717.58                  771.56                    
(iii) Loans 4 53,147.35             46,506.58               

c) Other current assets 11 1,975.80               581.52                    
73,177.57             61,851.80               

TOTAL ASSETS 90,376.53             76,326.88               

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EQUITY
a) Equity Share Capital 12 408.27                  408.27                    
b) Other Equity 13 7,882.81               8,122.31                 

8,291.08               8,530.58                 
LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
a) Financial liabilities

(i) Borrowings 14 12,845.07             21,596.04               
(i)(a) Lease Liabilities 14 4,853.07               3,779.48                 
(ii) Other Financial Liabilities 15 27.84                    24.18                      

17,725.98             25,399.70               

CURRENT LIABILITIES
a) Financial liabilities

(i) Borrowings 14 55,794.19             34,905.67               
(i)(a) Lease Liabilities 14 875.71                  1,097.51                 
(ii) Trade payables 17

(a) Total outstanding dues of Micro enterprises 
and small enterprises

571.44                  43.53                      

(b)
Total outstanding dues of creditors other than 
Micro enterprises and small enterprises

5,004.21                                5,058.38 

(iii) Other Financial Liabilities 18 1,602.84               746.15                    
b) Other current liabilities 19 199.89                  232.71                    
c) Provisions 16 311.19                  312.65                    

64,359.47             42,396.60               

TOTAL EQUITY AND  LIABILITIES 90,376.53             76,326.88               

Material accounting polices 1 -                               (0.00)                              

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

In terms of our attached report of even date

For Agrawal Tondon & Co.

Chartered Accountants

FRN:-329088E SD/- SD/-

Gautam Jatia Sujoy Chattaraj

Managing Director Director

DIN - 00604926 DIN - 08818352

Kaushal Kejriwal SD/-

Partner        Bimal Kr Agarwal

Membership No. 308606 Chief Financial Officer

Dated : 29th May 2024 SD/-

Place : Kolkata Priyanka Agarwal

    Company Secretary

Membership No. - A55000

Total Current Assets

Total Equity

SD/-

For & on behalf of Board of Directors

Emami Frank Ross Ltd
Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31st March 2024

Particulars Notes

Total Non Current Liabilities

Total Non Current Assets

Total Current Liabilities



Rs. In Lakhs

Notes
Year ended

31st March 2024
Year ended

31st March 2023

I Revenue from Operations 20 60,806.18                 54,999.07                     

II Other Income 21 6,277.79                   4,479.77                       

III Total Income (I+II) 67,083.97                 59,478.84                     

IV Expenses :

Purchases of Stock-in-Trade 50,191.83                 44,196.96                     

Changes in Inventories of Stock-in-Trade 22 (1,995.31)                  (1,041.87)                      

Employee Benefits Expense 23 7,033.58                   5,464.38                       

Finance Costs 24 7,098.09                   6,493.26                       

Depreciation and Amortisation Expense 2 2,099.44                   1,770.34                       

Other Expenses 25 3,322.17                   3,253.79                       

Total Expenses  (IV) 67,749.80                 60,136.86                     

V Profit/(Loss) before Exceptional Items and Tax (III-IV) (665.83)                     (658.02)                         

VI Tax Expense :

Tax relating to earlier years -                            1.66                              

Deferred Tax 7 (318.86)                     (266.59)                         

VII  Profit / (Loss) for the year (V-VI) (346.97)                     (393.09)                         

VIII Other Comprehensive Income

Items that will not be reclassified to Profit & Loss

i Fair value changes in Equity instrument 7.23                          (8.93)                             

ii Remeasurement of defined benefit obligation 146.82                      -                                

iii Income Tax relating to above (46.56)                       3.22                              

Other Comprehensive income net of tax 107.49                      (5.71)                             

IX Total Comprehensive income for the year (VII+VIII) (239.48)                     (398.80)                         

Earnings per equity share

i Basic (Face value Rs. 10/- each) (8.50)                         (16.88)                           

ii Diluted  (Face value Rs. 10/- each) (8.50)                         (16.88)                           

Material accounting polices 1

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

In terms of our attached report of even date

For Agrawal Tondon & Co.

Chartered Accountants

FRN:-329088E SD/- SD/-

Gautam Jatia Sujoy Chattaraj

SD/- Managing Director Director

Kaushal Kejriwal DIN - 00604926 DIN - 08818352

Partner 

Membership No. 308606

SD/-

Dated : 29th May 2024 Bimal Kr Agarwal

Place : Kolkata Chief Financial Officer

SD/-

Priyanka Agarwal

Company Secretary

Membership No.- A55000

For & on behalf of Board of Directors

PARTICULARS

Emami Frank Ross Ltd
Consolidated Statement of Profit & Loss 

For the year ended 31st March 2024



Rs. In Lakhs
A Cash flow from operating activities 2023-24 2022-23

Net Profit before tax (665.83)                   (658.02)                        
Adjustments for :-
Depreciation and amortisation expense 2,099.44                 1,770.35                      
Dividend (0.80)                       (0.80)                            
Finance costs 7,098.09                 6,493.25                      
Interest income (6,212.85)                (3,749.24)                     
Profit/(loss) on sale /(disposal) of property, Plant & equipment 
(net)

10.07                      (1.73)                            

Lease Payments -                          (2,510.85)                     
Non Cash items -                          -                               

2,328.12                 1,342.96                      

Adjustments for working capital changes
Increase/(Decrease) in Trade Payables and Other Liabilities 938.34                    2,321.68                      
(Increase)/Decrease in Inventories (1,995.31)                (1,041.87)                     
(Increase)/Decrease in Trade Receivables (1,349.40)                (996.94)                        
(Increase)/Decrease in financial & non financial assets (1,687.17)                (300.14)                        
Increase/(Decrease) in Provisions (1.46)                       44.86                           

(4,095.00)                27.59                           
Cash generated from opreation (1,766.88)                1,370.55                      
Less:- Direct Taxes paid/(refund received)-Net (105.85)                   (5.12)                            

Net Cash flow from opearting activities (1,872.73)                1,365.43                      

B Cash flow from Investing activities
Proceeds from Sale of Property,Plant & Equipment 6.66                        1.32                             
Interest received 1,836.04                 94.76                           
Dividend 0.80                        0.80                             
Purchase of Property,Plant & Equipment (2,274.02)                -                               
Loans given to others (2,345.00)                (23,518.75)                   
Fixed deposit made (0.75)                       (0.53)                            

Net cash flow from ( used ) investing activities (2,776.27)                (23,422.40)                   

C Cash flow from Financing activities
Repayment of Borrowings (Net) (20,220.61)              (7,506.57)                     
Issue/(redemption) of Non Convertible Debentures (1,700.00)                10,500.00                    
Proceeds from  borrowings 33,405.00               25,747.00                    
Interest Paid Including Borrowing costs (6,889.37)                (6,493.25)                     

Net cash flow from (used) financing activities 4,595.02                 22,247.18                    

                     (53.98)                           190.21 
Add:- Cash & Cash Equivalents -Opening balance 771.56                    581.35                         
Cash & cash equivalents -Closing balance 717.58                     771.56                          

Notes:-

(a)

(b) As at As at 
31-Mar-24 31-Mar-23

Cash & cash equivalents includes:-
Cash in hand 156.09                    118.48                         
-Current account 558.30                    649.90                         
Fixed Deposits with Banks [including interest accrued] 3.19                        3.18                             

Cash & Cash Equivalents in Cash Flow Statement 717.58                    771.56                         

Material accounting polices 1

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

In terms of our attached report of even date

For Agrawal Tondon & Co.

Chartered Accountants

FRN:-329088E SD/- SD/-

Gautam Jatia Sujoy Chattaraj

SD/- Managing Director Director

Kaushal Kejriwal DIN - 00604926 DIN - 08818352

Partner 

Membership No. 308606

SD/-

Dated : 29th May 2024

Place : Kolkata

SD/-

Net increase /(decrease) in cash & cash equivalents (A+B+C)

The above cash flow statement has been prepared under the "Indirect Method" as set out in the Indian
Accounting  Standard (Ind AS-7)-Statement of Cash Flow

Particulars

Emami Frank Ross Ltd
Consolidated Cash Flow statement
For the year ended 31st March 2024

Membership No.- A55000

For & on behalf of Board of Directors

Bimal Kr Agarwal

Chief Financial Officer

Priyanka Agarwal

Company Secretary



A Equity Share Capital
Rs. In Lakhs

1 Current reporting period (2023-24)

Balance at the beginning of the 
current reporting period

Changes in 
Equity Share 

Capital due to prior 
period errors

Restated balance at 
the beginning of the 

current reporting 
period

Changes in equity 
share capital 

during the current 
year

Balance at the 
end of the current 
reporting period

                                                                                408.27                                 -                                   -                                  -                       408.27 

2 Previous reporting period (2022-23)

Balance at the beginning of the 
current reporting period

Changes in 
Equity Share 

Capital due to prior 
period errors

Restated balance at 
the beginning of the 

current reporting 
period

Changes in equity 
share capital 

during the current 
year

Balance at the 
end of the current 
reporting period

                                                                                208.27                                 -                                   -                          200.00                     408.27 

Other Equity Rs. In Lakhs

Balance as on 01.04.2022 (8,610.72)                    2,124.67                     146.40                    60.81                           (6,278.84)       

Fair value changes in Equity instrument (8.93)                      (8.93)              
Tax Effect on above 3.22                        3.22               
Equity Component of Optionally
 Convertible Debenture (OCD)

14,800.00                  14,800.00      

Remeasurement of Defined benefit obligation -                               -                 
Tax Effect on above -                               -                 
Profit/(loss) for the year (393.14)                       -                              -                         -                               (393.14)          

Balance at 31.03.2023 (9,003.86)                    2,124.67                     14,800.00                  140.69                    60.81                           8,122.31        

Balance as on 01.04.2023 (9,003.86)                    2,124.67                     14,800.00                  140.69                    60.81                           8,122.31        
Fair value changes in Equity instrument 7.23                        7.23               

Tax Effect on above (0.75)                      (0.75)              

Remeasurement of Defined benefit obligation 146.82                         146.82           

Tax Effect on above (45.81)                          (45.81)            

Profit/(loss) for the year (346.99)                       -                              -                         -                               (346.99)          

Balance at 31.03.2024 (9,350.85)                    2,124.67                     14,800.00                  147.17                    161.82                         7,882.81        

Material accounting polices 1
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

In terms of our attached report of even date
For Agrawal Tondon & Co.
Chartered Accountants
FRN:-329088E SD/- SD/-

Gautam Jatia Sujoy Chattaraj
Managing Director   Director

DIN - 00604926 DIN - 08818352

SD/-
Kaushal Kejriwal
Partner 
Membership No. 308606

Dated : 29th May 2024
Place : Kolkata

For & on behalf of Board of Directors

Emami Frank Ross Ltd

 Retained 
Earnings 

 Equity 
Instruments 
through OCI 

 Remeasurement of 
Defined Benefit 

Plans 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31st March,2024

Particulars

Reserves & Surplus Other Comprehensive Income

 Total 
Other
Equity 

 General 
Reserve 

 Equity Component 
of Optionally 
Convertible 
Debenture

(OCD) 

Membership No.- A55000

SD/-

SD/-
Bimal Kr Agarwal

Chief Financial Officer

Priyanka Agarwal
Company Secretary



1 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 24

Corporate Information

Emami Frank Ross Limited, the Group, is primarily engaged in pharmacy business. The
Group is domiciled in India and is incorporated under the provisions of the Companies
Act applicable in India. The registered office of the Group is located at Kolkata.

1 Material Accounting Policies
Basis of Preparation and compliance with Ind AS

(i) This note provides a list of the material accounting policies adopted in the preparation
of these financial statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all the
years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

a Basis of Preparation

These accounts have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards
(Ind AS) prescribed under Section 133 of the Companies Act 2013 ("Act") read with Rule
3 of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules 2015 and the relevant
amendment rules issued thereafter.These IndAS Financial Statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis using historical cost convention, except for the
following:

1 Derivative Financial Instruments at FVTPL
2 Certain financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value (refer accounting policy

regarding financial Instruments)
3 Defined Benefit Plans which have been measured at Actuarial Valuation as required

by relevant Ind AS. 

Functional and presentation currency

These IndAS Financial Statements are prepared in Indian Rupee which is the Group’s
functional and presentation currency. All figures are rounded off to nearest lakhs.

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies

a) Property, Plant and equipment

Property, Plant and Equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation
(other than Freehold Land) and accumulated impairment loss, if any. The cost of
Property, Plant & Equipment comprises of its purchase price, including import duties
and other non-refundable taxes or levies and any directly attributable cost of bringing
the asset to its working condition for its intended use. Interest and other financial
charges on loans borrowed specifically for acquisition of capital assets are capitalised
till the start of commercial production. Depreciation is provided on the written down
value method .The Group has used written down value method based on the useful
life  with the requirements of Part C of Schedule II of the Companies Act, 2013.  

Leasehold property  is amortised during the period of lease.

Advances paid towards the acquisition of property, plant and equipment outstanding
at each balance sheet date is classified as Capital Advances under other Non-Current
Assets and the cost of assets not put to use before such date are disclosed under
‘Capital Work in Progress’. The cost and related accumulated depreciation are
eliminated from the Financial Statements upon sale or retirement of the asset and the
resultant gains or losses are recognized in the Statement of Profit & Loss. The method of
depreciation, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year end.



When significant parts of property, plant & equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognizes such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives
and depreciates them accordingly. Subsequent expenditure related to an item of
property, plant & equipment is added to its book value only if it increases the future
benefits from the existing asset beyond its previously assessed standard of
performance. All other expenses on existing property plant and equipment, including
day-to-day repair and maintenance expenditure and cost of replacing parts, are
charged to the statement ofprofit and loss for the period during which such expenses
are incurred.

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of fixed assets are measured as the
difference between the estimated / actual disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and are recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss when the
asset is derecognized.

Depreciation and useful lives

Depreciation is provided on the written down value method. The Group has used
written down value method based on the useful life with the requirements of Part C of
Schedule II of the Companies Act, 2013.  

b) Intangible assets 

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at
cost.Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. 

The Group’s intangible assets constitutes
i) Computer software which has finite useful economic lives and these are amortised on

a straight line basis, over their useful life of 3 years. 

ii) Tenancy right is depreciated over a period of 10 years from the date it is available for 
use.

iii) Online Application Software is written off  in 6 years on Straight Line basis over the 
estimated useful life.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period.

c) Impairment of property plant and equipment and intangible assets

The carrying amount of assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine
if there is any indication of impairment based on external or internal factors. An
impairment loss is recognisedwherever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount which represents the greater of the net selling price of assets and
their ‘value in use’. The estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using pre-tax discount rates and risks specific to the asset.

d) Revenue Recognition
The Group derives revenue on retail trade of Pharmaceutical products and Leisure
products.
Revenue is recognised on satisfaction of performance obligation at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange of
Pharmaceutical products and Leisure products.

Contract assets and Contract Liability
Revenue in excess of invoicing are classified as contract assets (which we referred as
unbilled revenue) while invoicing in excess of revenues are classified as contract
liabilities (which we refer as unearned revenue)
Revenue from retail sales is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
.Revenue is reduced for discounts and rebates and value added tax, sales tax and
Goods and Service tax.



Revenue is recognised on the delivery of the merchandise to the customer ,when the
property in goods and control are transferred for a price and no effective ownership
control is retained 

Facility management fees are recognised pro-rata over the period of the contract.
Revenue from stores displays and sponsorships are recognised based on the periods for
which the products or the sponsors advertisement are promoted.

Interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis taking into account the
amount outstanding and the applicable effective interest rate (EIR). EIR is the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts over the expected
life of a financial liability or a financial asset to their gross carrying amount.

Interest and Dividend income are included under the head “other income” in the 
Statement of Profit and Loss.Dividend is recognised when the Group’s right to receive 
dividend is established.

e) Foreign currency transactions
Initial recognition
Foreign currency transactions are recorded in the reporting currency, by applying to
the foreign currency amount the exchange rate between the reporting currency and
the foreign currency at the date of the transaction.

Conversion

Foreign currency monetary items are retranslated using the exchange rate prevailing
at the reporting date. Non-monetary items, which are measured in terms of historical
cost denominated in a foreign currency, are reported using the exchange rate at the
date of the transaction. Non-monetary items, which are measured at fair value or other
similar valuation denominated in a foreign currency, are translated using the exchange
rate at the date when such value was determined.

Exchange differences
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on reporting
monetary items of Group at rates different from those at which they were initially
recorded during the year, or reported in previous financial statements, are recognized
as income or expenses in the year in which they arise.

f) Inventories
Inventories are valued at lower of cost and realizable value. Cost is determined on First
in First Out basis. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less estimated costs of completion and estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.

g) Employee benefits
Employee benefits payable wholly within twelve months of receiving employee
services are classified as short‐term employee benefits. These benefits include salaries
and wages, bonus and ex‐gratia. The undiscounted amount of short‐term employee
benefits to be paid in exchange for employee services is recognized as an expense as
the related service is rendered by employees.

h) Post-employment benefits
The Group operates the following post‐employment schemes:



i)

Gratuity is funded with Life insurance corporation of India . Gratuity liability is defined
benefit obligation and is provided for on the basis of an actuarial valuation on
projected unit credit method done at the end of each financial year in accordance
with the provision of Ind AS 19 - Employee Benefits. The Group recognizes the net
obligation of a defined benefit plan in its balance sheet as an asset or liability. Gains
and losses through re-measurements of the net defined benefit liability/(asset) are
recognized in other comprehensive income and are not reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods. The actual return of the portfolio of plan assets, in excess of the
yields computed by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit
obligation is recognized in other comprehensive income. The effect of any plan
amendments are recognized in the Statement of Profit & Loss.

The long-term and short term classification of gratuity is based on the actuarial 
valuations.

ii) Retirement benefits in the form of provident fund is a defined benefit contribution
scheme and the Group recognizes the contribution payable to the provident fund
scheme as expenditure when an employee renders the related services. The Group has
no obligations other than the contribution payable to the respective funds already
paid.
 

iii) Leave encashment
The Group provides for the encashment of leave with pay subject to certain rules. The
employees are entitled to accumulate leave subject to certain limits, for future
encashment / availment. The liability is provided based on the number of days of
unutilized leave at each Balance Sheet date on the basis of an independent actuarial
valuation. Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in actuarial assumptions are
recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

iv)
Re-measurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses excluding amounts
included in net interest on the net defined benefit liability and the return on plan assets
(excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefit liability), are
recognised through Other Comprehensive Income in the period in which they occur.
Re-measurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit
liability or asset. The Group recognizes the following changes in the net defined benefit
obligation as an expense in the statement of profit and loss.

i)  Leases
The Group has applied Ind AS 116 using the modified retrospective approach and has
accordingly not restated the comparative information. The Group at the inception of a
contract, assesses whether a contract, is or contains a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration. Ind AS 116 introduces a single balance
sheet lease accounting model for lessees. A lessee recognises a right-of-use asset
representing its right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability representing its
obligation to make lease payments.

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use of assets and lease liabilities for
short term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low value
assets. The Group recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as an
expense on a straight line basis over the lease term . Lessor accounting remains similar
to the accounting under the previous standard i.e. lessor continues to classify leases as
finance or operating lease. For contracts entered into before 1st April 2019, the
determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the
substance of the arrangement at the inception of the lease. The arrangement is, or
contains, a lease if fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific
asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset or assets, even if
that right is not explicitly specified in an arrangement.



As a lessee

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease
commencement date. The right of use asset is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct cost incurred and
an estimate of cost to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.
The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated over the useful life of the asset. On
the balance sheet date, the right-of-use of asset is included in property, plant and
equipment and lease liabilities have been included in the borrowings and other
financial liabilities.

Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s inception at the fair value of the leased
property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The
corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in borrowings or
other financial liabilities as appropriate. Each lease payment is allocated between the
liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to the profit or loss over the lease
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance
of the liability for each period.

As a lessor
Lease income from operating leases, where the Group is a lessor, is recognised in 
income on a straight-line basis over the lease term unless the receipts are structured to 
increase in line with expected general inflation to compensate for the expected 
inflation.

j) Taxes
Current income tax

Current income tax is measured at the amount expected to be paid to the tax
authorities in accordance with Indian Income Tax Act. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in the tax returns vis a vis position taken in books of account
which are subject to interpretation and creates provisions where appropriate.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between
the tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes at the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available in future supported by convincing evidence against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carried forward unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilized. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized
deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognized to the
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred
tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to
apply in the year when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognized outside profit or loss is recognized outside
profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or in equity). Such deferred tax
items are recognized, in correlation to the underlying transaction either, in OCI or
directly in equity. 



k) Provisions

A provision is recognized when an enterprise has a present obligation as a result of past
event; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, in respect of which a reliable estimate can be made. 

If the effect of time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a
current pre-tax rate that reflects, when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.
When discounting is used the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognised as a finance cost.

l) Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events whose
existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events beyond the control of the Group or a present obligation that is
not recognized because it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation. The Group does not recognize a contingent liability but
discloses its existence in the financial statements.

m) Earnings Per Share

Basic Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit or loss before OCI for
the year by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the
year. 

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the net profit or loss for the
year attributable to equity shareholders and the weighted average number of shares
outstanding during the year are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential equity
shares.

n) Cash Flow Statement

Cash flows are reported using indirect method as set out in Ind AS -7 “Statement of
Cash Flows”, whereby profit / (loss) before tax is adjusted for the effects of transactions
of non-cash nature and any deferrals or accruals of past or future cash receipts or
payments. The cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities of the
Group are segregated based on the available information.

o) Financial Instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity
and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from
the fair value measured on initial recognition of financial asset or financial liability.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either 
amortised cost or fair value, depending on the classification of the financial assets

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost if they are held within a
business whose objective is to hold these assets in order to collect contractual cash
flows and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.



Financial assets at fair value through Other Comprehensive Income
Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets cash flow represent solely payments of principal and interest,
are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income(FVTOCI). There is no
recycling of the amounts from OCI to Statement of Profit & Loss, even on sale of
investment. However, the Group may transfer the cumulative gain/loss within Other
Equity.

Fair value through profit or loss

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at fair
value through profit or loss. Interest income from these financial assets is included in
other income.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the
Group’s management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on
equity investments in other comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss. Dividends from such
investments are recognised in profit or loss as other income when the Group’s right
to receive the dividend is established.

Preference Shares
The Group measures all investments in Preference shares at amortised
cost.Subsequently Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance
income on EIR basis. 

Impairment of financial assets
In accordance with Ind AS 109: Financial Instruments, the Group recognizes impairment
loss allowance on trade receivables based on historically observed default rates.
Impairment loss allowance recognized during the year is charged to Statement of Profit
and Loss.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Offsetting of financial instruments
The Group offsets a financial asset and a financial liability when it currently has a
legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts and the Group intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

p) Segment Reporting
Identification of Segments

The Group’s operating businesses are organized and managed separately according
to the nature of products and services provided, with each segment representing a
strategic business unit that offers different products and serves different markets. The
analysis of geographical segments is based on the areas in which the customers of the
Group are located.Since the Group operates only in India there is no geographical
segment. 

Segment accounting policies
The Group prepares its segment information in conformity with the accounting policies
adopted for preparing and presenting the financial statements of the Group as a
whole.

q) Cash & Cash Equivalents



Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at banks and on hand
and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. For the purpose of the statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and Balances with Bank.

r) Borrowing Costs

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. 
Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost. Any difference between the 
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the 
income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest rate 
method. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the 
reporting date.

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of a qualifying asset are capitalized as part of the cost of the asset. Other
borrowing costs are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection
with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing cost also includes exchange differences to the
extent regarded as an adjustment to the borrowing costs.

2 Critical estimates and judgements
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimating uncertainty as at the balance sheet date that may have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters
available when the financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and
assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market
changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are
reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

A. Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group has adopted the useful lives as specified in Schedule II of Companies Act,
2013 for Property, Plant & Equipment . The Group reviews the estimated useful lives at
the end of each reporting period. Such useful lives depend upon various factors such
as usage, maintenance practices etc. and can involve estimation uncertainty.
Changes in the expected level of usage and technological developments could
impact the economic useful lives and the residual values of these assets, therefore,
future depreciation charges could be revised. 

B Impairment of property, plant and equipment

An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. The fair
value less costs to sell calculation is based on available data from binding sales
transactions in an arm's length transaction of similar assets or observable market prices
less incremental costs for disposing the asset. The value in use calculation is based on a
discounted cash flow model and requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

C. Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group's assets are measured at fair value for financial reporting purposes.

Significant estimates are used in fair valuation of assets.



D. Employee Defined Benefit Plans
The determination of Group's liability towards defined benefit obligations to employees
is made through independent actuarial valuation including determination of amounts
to be recognized in the income statement and in the other comprehensive income.
Such valuation depend upon assumptions determined after taking into account
inflation, promotion and other relevant factors such as supply and demand factors in
the employment market.

E. Provisions and Contingencies
Provisions and contingencies are based on management’s best estimate of the
liabilities based on the facts known at the balance sheet date.

F. Estimation of current tax expenses and payable

Taxes recognized in the financial statements reflect management’s best estimate of
the outcome based on the facts known at the balance sheet date. These facts include
but are not limited to interpretation of tax laws of various jurisdictions where the group
operates. Any difference between the estimates and final tax assessments will impact
the income tax as well the resulting assets and liabilities.

G. Impairment of financial assets (including trade receivable)

Allowance for doubtful receivables represent the estimate of losses that could arise
due to inability of the Customer to make payments when due. These estimates are
based on the customer ageing, customer category, specific credit circumstances and
the historical experience of the group as well as forward looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period. 

H. Recent pronouncements Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”)
Notifies new standards or amendments to the existing standards under Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules as issued from time to time. For the year ended 
March 31, 2024, MCA has not notified any new standards or amendments to the existing 
standards applicable to the Group.



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 24

2.1 Property, Plant & Equipment
[Current year ] Rs. In Lakhs

a Tangible Assets
Building 4,185.02                             32.95                                0.45                                  4,217.52                        1,507.62                170.26                   0.02                       1,677.86               2,539.66                     2,677.40                  
Plant & Equipment 23.51                                  -                                   -                                   23.51                             15.74                     1.41                       -                        17.15                    6.36                            7.77                         
Electrical Installation 521.73                                74.85                                35.85                                560.73                           413.90                   31.63                     34.05                     411.48                  149.25                        107.83                     
Furniture & Fixture 3,467.89                             1,393.61                           97.41                                4,764.09                        2,531.66                360.48                   92.53                     2,799.61               1,964.48                     936.23                     
Office Equipments 685.52                                292.82                              3.95                                  974.39                           553.21                   110.78                   3.13                       660.86                  313.53                        132.31                     
Computers 611.54                                177.79                              1.41                                  787.92                           491.60                   130.80                   1.05                       621.35                  166.57                        119.94                     

Vehicles 73.13                                  16.59                                21.97                                67.75                             51.49                     8.75                       19.91                     40.33                    27.42                          21.64                       
Total (A) 9,568.34                             1,988.61                           161.04                              11,395.91                      5,565.22                814.11                   150.69                   6,228.64               5,167.27                     4,003.12                  

b Capital Work-in-Progress * 11.41                                  26.42                                11.41                                26.42                             -                         -                        -                        -                       26.42                          11.41                       

Total (B) 11.41                                  26.42                                11.41                                26.42                             -                         -                        -                        -                       26.42                          11.41                       

Grand Total (A+B) 9,579.75                             2,015.03                           172.45                              11,422.33                      5,565.22                814.11                   150.69                   6,228.64               5,193.69                     4,014.53                  

* Capital Work-in-Progress ageing schedule - As at 31st March , 2024

Projects in Progress # 26.42                        -                          -                          -                        26.42              

# All projects in progress includes capital work in progress , whose completion is neither overdue nor exceeded its cost as compared to its original plan .
    There are no projects as on the reporting date where activity has been suspended.

Balance as at 31st 
March 2024

Balance as at 31st 
March 2024

Balance as at 31st 
March 2023

Balance as at 1st April 
2023

Gross Block Accumulated Depreciation and amortisation Net Block

Balance as at 31st 
March 2024

Balance as at 1st 
April 2023

Depreciation 
charge for the 

year

Disposals / 
Adjustments

Capital Work-in-Progress 
under development Less than 1 year

Particulars

TOTAL

Amount in CWIP for a period of

1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 years

Additions during the 
year

Disposals / 
Adjustments



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 24

2.2 Intangible Assets
[Current year ] Rs. In Lakhs

a Intangible Assets
Computer Software 555.37                               145.86                      6.60                      694.63                    347.02                   82.28                     0.22                       429.08                  265.55                        208.35                     
Online application software 924.37                               -                           -                       924.37                    924.37                   -                        -                        924.37                  -                             -                           
Tenancy Rights 91.48                                -                           -                       91.48                      76.82                     4.76                       -                        81.58                    9.90                           14.66                       

Total (A) 1,571.22                            145.86                      6.60                      1,710.48                 1,348.21                87.04                     0.22                       1,435.03               275.45                        223.01                     

b
Intangible assets under 
development *

60.96                                179.11                      60.96                    179.11                    -                         -                        -                        -                       179.11                        60.96                       

Total (B) 60.96                                179.11                      60.96                    179.11                    -                         -                        -                        -                       179.11                        60.96                       

Grand Total (A+B) 1,632.18                            324.97                      67.56                    1,889.59                 1,348.21                87.04                     0.22                       1,435.03               454.56                        283.97                     

* Intangible assets under development ageing schedule

Projects in Progress # 179.11                     -                    179.11            

Balance as at 1st April 
2023

Intangible assets under 
development Less than 1 year

Amount in Intangible assets under development for a period of

Particulars

Gross Block Accumulated Depreciation and amortisation Net Block

Additions during 
the year

1-2 years 2-3 years
More than 3 

years
TOTAL

Disposals / 
Adjustments

Balance as at 31st 
March 2024

Balance as at 1st 
April 2023

Depreciation 
charge for the 

year

Disposals / 
Adjustments

Balance as at 31st 
March 2024

Balance as at 31st 
March 2024

Balance as at 31st 
March 2023



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 24

2.3 Right of Use Assets
[Current year ] Rs. In Lakhs

a Right of Use Assets
Building 9,618.17                        2,012.95                            53.23                                11,577.89                          5,162.91                 1,198.28                39.53                     6,321.66               5,256.23                     4,455.26                   
Grand Total (A) 9,618.17                        2,012.95                            53.23                                11,577.89                          5,162.91                 1,198.28                39.53                     6,321.66               5,256.23                     4,455.26                   

Gross Block Accumulated Depreciation and amortisation Net Block

Balance as at 31st 
March 2024

Balance as at 31st 
March 2024

Balance as at 31st 
March 2023

Additions during the 
year

Disposals / 
Adjustments

Balance as at 31st March 
2024

Balance as at 1st 
April 2023

Depreciation 
charge for the 

year

Disposals / 
Adjustments

Balance as at 1st April 
2023

Particulars



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 24

2.1 Property, Plant & Equipment
[Previous year ] Rs. In Lakhs

a Tangible Assets
Building 4,180.75                             4.27                                  -                                   4,185.02                        1,331.57                179.11                   3.06                      1,507.62               2,677.40                     2,849.18                  
Plant & Equipment 23.51                                  -                                   -                                   23.51                             14.02                     1.72                       -                        15.74                    7.77                            9.49                         
Electrical Installation 519.24                                20.04                                17.55                                521.73                           387.60                   31.71                     5.41                      413.90                  107.83                        131.64                     
Furniture & Fixture 3,170.46                             377.83                              80.40                                3,467.89                        2,285.36                272.89                   26.59                    2,531.66               936.23                        885.10                     
Office Equipments 599.71                                89.10                                3.29                                  685.52                           499.08                   54.78                     0.65                      553.21                  132.31                        100.63                     
Computers 509.70                                104.77                              2.93                                  611.54                           422.47                   69.72                     0.59                      491.60                  119.94                        87.23                       

Vehicles 71.76                                  10.68                                9.31                                  73.13                             49.61                     10.51                     8.63                      51.49                    21.64                          22.15                       
Total (A) 9,075.13                             606.69                              113.48                              9,568.34                        4,989.71                620.44                   44.93                    5,565.22               4,003.12                     4,085.42                  

b Capital Work-in-Progress * 67.46                                  19.75                                75.80                                11.41                             -                         -                        -                        -                       11.41                          67.46                       

Total (B) 67.46                                  19.75                                75.80                                11.41                             -                         -                        -                        -                       11.41                          67.46                       

Grand Total (A+B) 9,142.59                             626.44                              189.28                              9,579.75                        4,989.71                620.44                   44.93                    5,565.22               4,014.53                     4,152.88                  

* Capital Work-in-Progress ageing schedule - As at 31st March , 2023

Projects in Progress # 11.41                        -                          -                          -                        11.41              

# All projects in progress includes capital work in progress , whose completion is neither overdue nor exceeded its cost as compared to its original plan .
There are no projects as on the reporting date where activity has been suspended.

TOTAL1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 yearsLess than 1 year

Balance as at 1st April 
2022

Capital Work-in-Progress 
under development

Amount in CWIP for a period of

Additions during the 
year

Balance as at 31st 
March 2023

Balance as at 31st 
March 2023

Balance as at 31st 
March 2022

Particulars Disposals / 
Adjustments

Gross Block Accumulated Depreciation and amortisation Net Block

Balance as at 31st 
March 2023

Balance as at 1st 
April 2022

Depreciation 
charge for the 

year

Disposals / 
Adjustments



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 24

2.2 Intangible Assets
[Previous year ] Rs. In Lakhs

a Intangible Assets
Computer Software 310.29                               249.96                      4.88                      555.37                    268.29                   80.02                     1.29                    347.02                  208.35                        42.00                       
Online application software 924.37                               -                           -                       924.37                    916.27                   8.100                     -                      924.37                  0.00                           8.10                         
Tenancy Rights 91.48                                -                           -                       91.48                      68.61                     8.21                       -                      76.82                    14.66                         22.87                       

Total (A) 1,326.14                            249.96                      4.88                      1,571.22                 1,253.17                96.33                     1.29                    1,348.21               223.01                        72.97                       

b
Intangible assets under 
development *

189.96                               60.96                       189.96                  60.96                      -                         -                      -                       60.96                         189.96                     

Total (B) 189.96                               60.96                       189.96                  60.96                      -                         -                        -                      -                       60.96                         189.96                     

Grand Total (A+B) 1,516.10                            310.92                      194.84                  1,632.18                 1,253.17                96.33                     1.29                    1,348.21               283.97                        262.93                     

* Intangible assets under development ageing schedule

Projects in Progress # 60.96                       -                    -                 -                   60.96              

# All projects in progress includes Intangible assets under development , whose completion is neither overdue nor exceeded its cost as compared to its original plan .
    There are no projects as on the reporting date where activity has been suspended.

2-3 years

Additions during 
the year

Disposals / 
Adjustments

Balance as at 1st April 
2022

Less than 1 year 1-2 years
More than 3 

years

Intangible assets under 
development

Amount in Intangible assets under development for a period of

Balance as at 31st 
March 2023

Balance as at 31st 
March 2023

Balance as at 31st 
March 2022

Particulars

TOTAL

Gross Block Accumulated Depreciation and amortisation Net Block

Balance as at 31st 
March 2023

Balance as at 1st 
April 2022

Depreciation 
charge for the 

year

Disposals / 
Adjustments



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 24

2.3 Right of Use Assets
[Previous year ] Rs. In Lakhs

a Right of Use Assets
Building 6,351.94                        3,266.23                            -                                    9,618.17                            4,109.34                 1,053.57                -                         5,162.91               4,455.26                     2,242.60                   

Grand Total (A) 6,351.94                        3,266.23                            -                                    9,618.17                            4,109.34                 1,053.57                -                         5,162.91               4,455.26                     2,242.60                   

Balance as at 31st 
March 2023

Balance as at 31st 
March 2023

Balance as at 31st 
March 2022

Additions during the 
year

Disposals / 
Adjustments

Balance as at 31st March 
2023

Balance as at 1st 
April 2022

Depreciation 
charge for the 

year

Disposals / 
Adjustments

Balance as at 1st April 
2022

Gross Block Accumulated Depreciation and amortisation Net Block

Particulars



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March'24

3 Non Current Investments Rs. In Lakhs

3.1

A [Investments carried at Cost ]
1 Investment in Equity Instruments (Unquoted)
i Subsidiary
a Lyfresh Pvt Ltd

60,00,000                                                                                                            Equity Shares of Rs 10/- each fully paid up 600.00               600.00     
Less:- Provision for diminution in value of investment (600.00)              -                     (600.00)   -                  

ii Others

a Medico Association #
12                                                                                                                        Shares** 0.42                   0.42         

Less:- Provision for diminution in value of investment (0.42)                  -                     (0.42)       -                  

b All India Origin Chemists & Distributors Limited #
2,000                                                                                                                   Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each fully paid up 0.20                   0.20         

Less:- Provision for diminution in value of investment (0.20)                  -                     (0.20)       -                  

c Shoppers City Maintenance Co. P Ltd #
19,800                                                                                                                 Equity Shares of Re.1/- each fully paid up 0.20                   0.20         

Less:- Provision for diminution in value of investment (0.20)                  -                     (0.20)       -                  

B [Investments carried at Fair Value through OCI ]

1 M. Bhattacharyya & Co. Private. Limited 165.09               165.09            
222                                                                                                                      Equity Shares of Rs.500/- each fully paid up 

2 PAN Emami Cosmed Limited - Note - 1 50.80                 50.80              
4,61,825                                                                                                              Equity Shares of Rs.10/- each fully paid up

Investment in Equity Instruments (Quoted)

3 Emami Limited 42.94                 35.86              
10,000                                                                                                                 Equity shares of Rs. 1/- each fully paid up. 

4 Emami Realty  Limited 0.35                   0.20                
333                                                                                                                      Shares of Rs. 10/- each fully paid up

259.18               251.95            

C Investment in Preference Shares (Unquoted)
[ Investments carried at amortised cost ]
Others
M. Bhattacharyya & Co. Private Limited 16.33                 16.33              

35,000                                                                                                                 10% Cumulative Preference Shares of Rs.100/-each fully paid up
Redeemable at par at any time within 20 years from date of issue

16.33                 16.33              

D Investment in Debentures (Unquoted)
[ Investments carried at amortised cost ]
Others
M. Bhattacharyya & Co. Private Limited -Note - 2 425.00               425.00            

425 Optionally Convertible Debentures of Rs 100000/- each fully paid up
Redeemable on or Before 120 months from the date of Issue.

425.00               425.00            
700.51               693.28            

Aggregate value of Quoted Investment and market value thereof 43.29                 36.06              
Aggregate value of Unquoted Investment 657.22               657.22            
#Aggregate provision for dimunition in value of investments 600.82               600.82            

** Formed under Bombay Non - Trading Corporations Act, 1959 not having Face value of Shares
** For credit risk and provision for loss allowance refer note no 36

Note- 1
PAN Emami to Midkot shares

Note- 2

31st March, 2024 31st March, 2023Particulars

Total (C)

Grand Total (A+B+C+D)
Total (D)

Total (A+B)

Midkot Investments Private Limited has been changed from Private Limited Company to Public Limited Company w.e.f. 13th November, 2023. Further, the name of Midkot Investments Limited has been 
changed to PAN Emami Cosmed Limited w.e.f. 8th December, 2023.

425 nos. Unsecured Optionally Convertible Debentures @ 100,000/- each issued by M Bhattacharya & co Pvt Ltd. Date of allotment- 12-Jan-2022. The same is convertible into equity at the option of the issuer , or 
be redeemed any time within 120 months after date of allotment @ 2% premium. 



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March'24
Rs. In Lakhs

4 Loans 

Considered Good-Unsecured 
To others 53,147.35      46,506.57         

Total  Current 53,147.35      46,506.57       
Total Loans 53,147.35      46,506.57       

5 Trade receivables

Current
Considered good -Unsecured*
    :Related party 52.12          2,073.04    
     :Others 7,263.58     7,315.70        3,893.26    5,966.31          

Credit impaired 7.09               7.09                 
Less:- Allowance for doubtful debts and advances (7.09)              (7.09)                

Total Current 7,315.70        5,966.31         

*- For credit risk and provision for loss allowance refer note no. 36

Trade Receivables Ageing - As at 31st March, 2024

Less than 6 
months

6 months - 1 
year

1-2 years 2-3 years
More than 3 

years

(i) Undisputed Trade Receivable - Considered Good 7,071.17      73.90              167.47       0.00                 3.16             7,315.70    

(ii) Undisputed Trade Receivable - Which have 
significant increase in credit risk

-            

(iii) Undisputed Trade Receivable - Credit Impaired 7.09             7.09           

(iv) Disputed Trade Receivable - Considered Good -            

(v) Disputed Trade Receivable - Which have significant 
increase in credit risk

-            

(vi) Disputed Trade Receivable - Credit Impaired -            

(vii) Less : Allowances for credit impaired 7.09             7.09           

TOTAL 7,071.17     73.90             167.47     0.00               3.16            7,315.70    

Trade Receivables Ageing - As at 31st March, 2023

Less than 6 
months

6 months - 1 
year

1-2 years 2-3 years
More than 3 

years

(i) Undisputed Trade Receivable - Considered Good 5,662.37      114.26            93.87         39.39               56.42           5,966.31    

(ii) Undisputed Trade Receivable - Which have 
significant increase in credit risk

-            

(iii) Undisputed Trade Receivable - Credit Impaired 7.09             7.09           

(iv) Disputed Trade Receivable - Considered Good -            

(v) Disputed Trade Receivable - Which have significant 
increase in credit risk

-            

(vi) Disputed Trade Receivable - Credit Impaired -            

(vii) Less : Allowances for credit impaired 7.09             7.09           

TOTAL 5,662.37     114.26           93.87       39.39              56.42          5,966.31    

6 Other Financial Assets

Security Deposits
Security Deposits 1,396.66        1,209.97          

Other Advances
Fixed Deposits pledged with Banks [including interest 
accrued]*

11.94             11.19               

Total 1,408.60        1,221.16         

*- Lien marked towards Bank Guarantee

Total

TotalParticulars
Outstanding for the following period from due date of payments

Outstanding for the following period from due date of payments
Particulars

31st March, 2023

31st March, 2024 31st March, 2023

31st March, 2024 31st March, 2023

31st March, 2024



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 24

Rs. In Lakhs
7 Movements in Deferred Taxes

31-Mar-24 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-19

29.31                        28.55                                 138.65                

3,831.03                   3,557.96                            1,438.29             

(3,801.72)                 (3,529.41)                          (1,299.64)            

(31.50)                      (31.50)                               (31.50)                 

(3,833.22)                 (3,560.91)                          (1,331.14)            

3833.22 3560.91

 Movement in Deferred Tax Liabilities/(Assets) 
 Liabilities/Provisions that are 

deducted for tax purposes when 
paid 

 Defined Benefit 
Obligation 

 On Unabsorbed 
Losses 

 Depreciation 
differences 

 Financial Assets 
(FVOCI)-Equity Shares 

 Total 

As at 01 April, 2022
Charged/(Credited)
 Recognised in Profit & Loss 35.89                                                      (13.20)                             (125.19)                           (164.09)                    -                                    (266.59)               
 Recognised in Other Comprehensive Income -                                                          -                                  -                                  -                           (0.89)                                 (0.89)                   
Recognised in Other Equity -                                                          -                                  -                                  -                           -                                    -                      
As at 31st March, 2023 (31.05)                                                     (48.57)                             (2,820.30)                        (658.05)                    28.56                                 (3,529.41)            
Add:- MAT Credit Entitlement -                                                          -                                  -                                  -                           -                                    (31.50)                 

 Net Deferred Tax Liabilities /(Asset)-as at 
31-Mar-2023 (31.05)                                                     (48.57)                             (2,820.30)                        (658.05)                    28.56                                 (3,560.91)            

As at 01 April, 2023
Charged/(Credited)
 Recognised in Profit & Loss 30.28                                                      (46.14)                             (205.87)                           (97.14)                      -                                    (318.87)               
 Recognised in Other Comprehensive Income -                                                          45.81                              -                                  -                           0.75                                   46.56                  
Recognised in Other Equity -                                                          -                                  -                                  -                           -                                    -                      
As at 31st March, 2024 (0.77)                                                       (48.90)                             (3,026.17)                        (755.19)                    29.31                                 (3,801.72)            
Add:- MAT Credit Entitlement -                                                          -                                  -                                  -                           -                                    (31.50)                 

 Net Deferred Tax Liabilities /(Asset)-as at 
31-Mar-2024 (0.77)                                                       (48.90)                             (3,026.17)                        (755.19)                    29.31                                 (3,833.22)            

Deferred Tax Liabilities/(Asset) (Net)

Particulars

Deferred Tax Liability

Deferred Tax Assets

Deferred Tax Liabilities/(Asset) (Gross)

Add:- MAT Credit Entitlement



Rs. In Lakhs

Note7(ii) Effective tax reconciliation

Income Tax Recognised in Statement of Profit & Loss 31.03.2024 31.03.2023

Current Tax - -
(Excess)/Short Provision for Earlier Years -                    1.67                 
Deferred Tax (318.86)             (266.60)            
Total Income tax Expense recognised in the current year              (318.86)             (264.93)

The income tax expense can be reconciled
to the accounting profit as follows:

Particulars
March 31,2024 March 31,2023

Profit before tax (665.84)             (658.03)            
Applicable tax rate 31.20% 31.20%
Computed Tax Expense              (207.74)             (205.31)

Add/(Deduct)                       -                         -   

Tax effect of amount which are not deductible/(taxable)                620.15               522.14 

in calculating taxable income
Tax efftect of amount which are deductible              (592.59)             (715.26)

(Excess)/Short Provision for Earlier Years                       -                     1.67 

Tax effect of certain temporary differences measured at lower rates              (143.26)             (177.30)

Others                    2.72               309.41 

Total Income Tax Expense/(Credit)              (320.73)             (264.64)
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Rs. In Lakhs

8 Other non-current assets

Capital Advances 46.93               -                 

Other advances
Prepaid Expenses 2.43                 4.18               
Rent paid in advance 266.56             205.56           

Total 315.92             209.74           

9
Inventories-At lower of cost and Net realisable 

value

Total 10,021.14        8,025.83        

10 Cash and cash equivalents

Balances with Banks
On Current Accounts 539.36             649.01           

Other Bank Balance
Fixed Deposits with Banks                              
[including interest accrued]

3.19                 3.18               

Cheques in hand 18.94               0.89               
Cash in hand 156.09             118.49           

Total 717.58             771.57           

11 Other current assets

Considered good ,Unsecured
Advance to Employees Provident Fund Trust* 799.00             -                 
Advance to Directors 21.09               27.09             
Advance to Employees 80.28               45.32             
Insurance Claim Receivable 52.49               33.11             
Advance to Vendors -                   8.36               
Balances with Statutory Authorities 701.52             332.08           
Prepaid Expenses 223.80             53.28             
Advance against Expenses 97.62               82.28             

Total 1,975.80          581.52           
* :- (Refer Note No. 43)

31st March, 2024 31st March, 2023

31st March, 2024 31st March, 2023

Stock- In-Trade 10,021.14        8,025.83        

31st March, 2024 31st March, 2023

31st March, 2024 31st March, 2023
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12 Equity Share Capital
Rs. In Lakhs

As at
 31st March, 2024

As at
 31st March, 2023

Authorised
580.00                       580.00                                     

620.00                       620.00                                     

1,200.00                   1,200.00                                
Issued,Subscribed & Fully Paid up

408.27                       408.27                                     

408.27                       408.27                                   

Reconciliation of Number of Shares

Number of Shares Amount Number of Shares Amount

40,82,707                             408.27                       20,82,707                               208.27                        
-                                           -                              20,00,000                               200.00                        

40,82,707                             408.27                       40,82,707                             408.27                       

Rights, Preferences and Restrictions Attached to Shares

The details of shareholders holding more than 5% shares as at the end of the reporting period is stated as below:-

Number of Shares Held % of Holding Number of Shares Held % of Holding

PAN Emami Cosmed Limited 6,93,747                                16.99                         6,93,747                                16.99                         
Suraj Finvest Private limited 15,35,137                             37.60                         15,35,137                             37.60                         
Diwakar Finvest Private limited ( formerly known as Sneha enclave private ltd ) 15,02,678                             36.81                         15,02,678                             36.81                         

Shareholding of Promoters as at 31st March'2024

Sl.No Promoter name
No.of Shares as on 

01.04.2023
Change during the 

year
No.of Shares as on 

31.03.2024
% of Total shares

%Change during 
the year

1 PRITI  A SUREKA 1,04,135                                 -                               1,04,135                                 2.55% 0.00%
2 JAYANT GOENKA 15,448                                     -                               15,448                                     0.38% 0.00%
3 USHA AGARWAL 4,000                                       -                               4,000                                       0.10% 0.00%
4 PRASHANT GOENKA 2,655                                       -                               2,655                                       0.07% 0.00%
5 PAN EMAMI COSMED LIMITED - Note - 1 6,93,747                                 -                               6,93,747                                 16.99% 0.00%
6 SURAJ FINVEST PRIVATE LIMITED 15,35,137                               -                               15,35,137                               37.60% 0.00%
7 DIWAKAR FINVEST PRIVATE LIMITED 15,02,678                               -                               15,02,678                               36.81% 0.00%

38,57,800                             -                              38,57,800                             94.49%

Sl.No Promoter name  No.of Shares as on 
01.04.2022 

 Change during the 
year 

 No.of Shares as on 
31.03.2023 

 % of Total shares 
 %Change during 

the year 

1 PRITI  A SUREKA 46,561                                     57,574                        1,04,135                                 2.55% 123.65%
2 JAYANT GOENKA 15,448                                     -                               15,448                                     0.38% 0.00%
3 USHA AGARWAL 4,000                                       -                               4,000                                       0.10% 0.00%
4 PRASHANT GOENKA 2,655                                       -                               2,655                                       0.07% 0.00%
5 PAN EMAMI COSMED LIMITED - Note - 1 7,51,321                                 (57,574)                      6,93,747                                 16.99% -7.66%
6 SURAJ FINVEST PRIVATE LIMITED 5,35,137                                 10,00,000                  15,35,137                               37.60% 186.87%
7 DIWAKAR FINVEST PRIVATE LIMITED 5,02,678                                 10,00,000                  15,02,678                               36.81% 198.93%

18,57,800                             20,00,000                38,57,800                             94.49%
Note

1

 As at 31st March, 2023

The Holding Company has only one class of Equity shares having a par value of Rs.10/- per share. Each holder of Equity Shares is entitled to one vote per share. The Holding company declares
and pays dividend in Indian Rupees . The dividend proposed , if any, by the Board of Directors is subject to the approval of the shareholders in the ensuing Annual General Meeting. 

In the event of liquidation of the holding company the holders of Equity Shares will be entitled to receive remaining assets of the holding company after distribution of all preferential amounts.
However, no such preferential  amounts exist currently.The distribution will be in proportion to the number of equity shares held by the shareholders.

Shares outstanding at the end of the year

As at 31st March 2024 As at 31st March 2023

Name of the shareholder

Balance at the Beginning
Shares Issued during the year 

Particulars

Particulars

Total

58,00,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each

6,20,000 Non Cumulative Redeemable Preference shares of Rs. 100/- each

40,82,707 Equity Shares Rs.10/- Each fully paid up 

Equity Shares held by Promoters at the end of the current year

 As at 31st March, 2024

Midkot Investments Private Limited has been changed from Private Limited Company to Public Limited Company w.e.f. 13th November. 2023. Further, the name of Midkot Investments Limited has been changed to PAN 
Emami Cosmed Limited w.e.f. 8th December, 2023.

Shareholding of Promoters as at 31st March'2023

Equity Shares held by Promoters at the end of the Previous year
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13 Other Equity
Rs. In Lakhs

As at As at As at As at

General Reserve
As per Last Balance Sheet 2,124.67                   2,124.67                  
Add: Transferred during the year -                           2,124.67               -                          2,124.67              

Retained Earnings
As per Last Balance Sheet (9,003.86)                  (8,610.77)                 
Add: Profit/Loss for the year (346.99)                     (9,350.85)              (393.09)                    (9,003.86)             

Other Comprehensive Income*
As per Last Balance Sheet 201.50                      207.21                     
Add: Movement in OCI during the year 107.49                      308.99                  (5.71)                        201.50                 

Optionally Convertible Debentures-Unsecured (Note-13.1) 14,800.00                 14,800.00             14,800.00                14,800.00            

*:- Includes re-measurement gains/losses on defined benefit
plans and gain/loss on fair value of investments

Total 7,882.81               8,122.31              

13.1
Zero Coupon Unsecured Optionally Convertible Debentures (OCD)

The OCDs shall be optionally convertible into the equity shares of the company and/ or redeeemable at any time at the option of the issuer within a period of 10 years 
from the date of allotment. The OCD shall be redeemed within a period of 30 days after the expirey of 10 years i.e. at the end of tenure of the OCD if not converted into 
equity shares. If the debentures are redeemed, then the debentures shall be redeemed at mutually agreed price.

Particulars
31st March, 2024 31st March, 2023

The Holding Company has restructure its finances and has issued 14800 zero coupon unsecured Optionally Convertible Debentures @ Rs.1,00,000/- each on 
preferential basis amounting to Rs.148 crores in F Y 22-23 in pursuance of articles of association of company and as approved by board of directors and shareholders 
of the Holding Company.

31st March, 2024 31st March, 2023
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Rs. In Lakhs

14 Financial Liabilities
(i) Borrowings

Term Loans- Secured

From Banks # 15,110.97      26,313.63       
Less:- Current Maturities 7,665.90         7,445.07          11,299.23       15,014.40            
Non-Convertible Debentures ##
Secured 8,800.00         10,500.00       
Unsecured -                     9,017.95         
Total 8,800.00         19,517.95       
Less:- Current Maturities 3,400.00         5,400.00          12,936.31       6,581.64              

Total-Borrowings-(i) 12,845.07        21,596.04         

(i)(a) Lease Liability :
Long Term Maturities of Lease Obligation 4,853.07          3,779.48              

Total-Lease Liability-(i)(a) 4,853.07          3,779.48              

Total-Non Current- A 17,698.14        25,375.52         

(i) Borrowings
Loans Repayable on Demand
Secured Loan from Banks
Cash Credit [ Note 14.1 ] (64.71)              (717.88)           
Working Capital Demand Loan [ Note 14.1 ] 6,400.00         6,335.29          6,400.00         5,682.12              

Unsecured #
Related Party 38,393.00        4,988.00              

Current Maturities of Long Term Borrowings 11,065.90        24,235.55            
Term Loan from Banks 7,665.90         11,299.23       
Non-Convertible Debentures 3,400.00         12,936.31       

Total-Borrowings-(i) 55,794.19        34,905.67         

(i)(a) Lease Liability :
Current Maturities of Lease Obligation 875.71              1,097.51              

Total-Lease Liability-(i)(a) 875.71              1,097.51            

Total-Current-B 56,669.90        36,003.18         
Total Borrowings (A+B) 74,368.04        61,378.70         

  # Refer Note 28

14.1    

##Secured Rated, listed and unlisted redeemable  Non Convertible debenture (NCD)

15 Other Financial Liabilities

Interest due to MSME 5.34                    1.68                     
Deposit against rent 22.50                 22.50                  

Total Non Current 27.84                 24.18                  

The coupon related to NCDs will be linked to and be equivalent to average of 1 year MCLR (ie. Marginal Cost of Funds Based 
Lending Rate) of 4 banks viz. ICICI Bank, HDFC Bank, SBI and Bank of Baroda plus applicable Spread and shall be reset on 
quarterly basis at the begining of each quarter ( i.e. on April 1, July 1, October 2, and January 1 of each year) As on date of 
execution of this Deed, the Coupon comprises of (i) the average 1-year MCLR as on April 1, 2023, of 8.60% p.a and (ii) spread of 
2.40% p.a.

 As at 31st March, 2024  As at 31st March, 2023

The holding company has issued 980 listed secured Rated & 220 unlisted secured Rated redeemable & non convertible 
debentures of face value of Rs.10,00,000/- each on private placement basis aggregating to Rs. 120 crores (98 crores+22 crores) 
during FY 22-23 in pursuance of articles of association of company and as approved by board of directors of the holding 
company.

 As at 31st March, 2024  As at 31st March, 2023

Bank-1 - Cash Credit And Working Capital Demand Loan are secured primarily by way of hypothecation on the entire Current 
Assets of the holding company existing and future comprising of Stock-in-trade, receivables, book debts and other current assets. 
These loans are further secured Collateraly by way of Hypothecation / mortgage on all  fixed assets (excluding vehicles) of the 
holding company, both present and future. The loan carries interest @ 8.75 % p.a.

Bank-2 - Subservient charge by way of Hypothecation over entire Current asset & moveable Fixed assets of the holding company 
(both present & future). Also, exclusive charge by way of pledge of shares of promoter shareholder and also corporate guarantee 
by a promoter shareholder . The loan carries interest @ 10.35% p.a.
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16 Provisions

Provision for Employee Benefits*
For Gratuity 161.56       182.06         
For Leave 149.51       311.07          130.07         312.13            
Other Provisions 0.12                0.52                 

Total 311.19          312.65          
* :- (Refer Note No. - 34.1 & 34.2)

17 Trade payables

a
Total outstanding dues of Micro enterprises and small 
enterprises

571.44          43.53              

b
Total outstanding dues of creditors other than Micro 
enterprises and small enterprises

5,004.21       5,058.38        

Total 5,575.65       5,101.91      

Trade Payables Ageing - As at 31st March, 2024

Less than 1 
year

1-2 years 2-3 years
More than 3 

years
(i) MSME 570.71          0.12                  0.11                0.50                  571.44         
(ii) Others 2,750.60       2,004.69          153.67           95.25                5,004.21     
(iii) Disputed dues - MSME
(iv) Disputed dues - Others

TOTAL 3,321.32     2,004.81        153.78         95.75               5,575.65    

Trade Payables Ageing - As at 31st March, 2023

Less than 1 
year

1-2 years 2-3 years
More than 3 

years
(i) MSME 42.96             0.33                  0.24                -                    43.53           
(ii) Others 2,368.73       2,408.08          172.32           109.25             5,058.38     
(iii) Disputed dues - MSME
(iv) Disputed dues - Others

TOTAL 2,411.69     2,408.41        172.56         109.25            5,101.91    

18 Other Financial Liabilities

Interest accrued but not due on Borrowings 644.08          271.16            

Other Payables
Employee Expenses 831.79       301.42         
Liabilities for Expenses 126.97       958.76          173.57         474.99            

Total 1,602.84       746.15          

19 Other current liabilities

Statutory Liabilities 197.43          188.94            
Advance from Customers 2.46                43.77              

Total 199.89          232.71          

Outstanding for the following period from due date 
of payments

TOTALParticulars

 As at 31st March, 2024  As at 31st March, 2023

 As at 31st March, 2024  As at 31st March, 2023

 As at 31st March, 2024  As at 31st March, 2023

 As at 31st March, 2024  As at 31st March, 2023

TotalParticulars

Outstanding for the following period from
 due date of payments
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Rs.- In Lakhs

20  Revenue from Operations 

Sale of Products 60,346.49           54,751.05         

Other Operating Revenues
Rent 83.03          61.85          
Income From Store Displays 372.14        140.03        
Franchisee Fees -              44.88          
Facility Management Fees 4.52            459.69                1.26            248.02              

Total 60,806.18           54,999.07         

21  Other Income 

Interest Income
Interest on Loan given 6,131.81             3,681.12           

Interest on Others
Interest Income on Security Deposit at Amortised Cost 69.66          65.95          
Interest on Deposit 1.54            2.18            
Interest on Income Tax Refund 9.84            81.04                  -             68.13                

Income From Slump Sale -                      671.61              

Dividend Income 0.80                    0.80                  
Profit on sale of Fixed Assets -                      1.73                  

Insurance Claim 19.57                  33.11                
Liabilities Written Back 39.26                  4.22                  
Miscellaneous Receipts 5.31                    19.05                

Total 6,277.79             4,479.77           

22  Changes in Inventories of Stock-in-Trade 

(I) Opening Inventory 8,025.83             6,983.96           

(II) Closing Inventory 10,021.14           8,025.83           

(Increase)/Decrease (1,995.31)           (1,041.87)          

23  Employee Benefits Expense 

Salaries and Wages 6,332.75             4,949.67           
Contribution to Provident and Other Funds 516.24                380.61              
Staff Welfare Expense 184.59                134.10              

Total 7,033.58             5,464.38           

 Year ended
31st March 2024 

 Year ended
31st March 2023 

 Year ended
31st March 2024 

 Year ended
31st March 2023 

 Year ended
31st March 2024 

 Year ended
31st March 2023 

 Year ended
31st March 2024 

 Year ended
31st March 2023 
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24  Finance Costs 

Interest Expense on Lease Obligation 581.64    454.77      
Interest Expense- Debentures & Bonds 1,346.43 2,132.36   
Interest Expense - Bank & Others 4,878.71 3,332.97   
Other Borrowing Costs 291.31    573.16      

Total 7,098.09 6,493.26   

25  Other Expenses 

Power & Fuel 351.65    323.31      
Rent & License Fees 465.33    506.07      
Repairs to Building -          13.18        
Maintenance Charges 618.94    666.04      
Security Charges 74.37      61.52        
Insurance 33.25      11.18        
Rates & Taxes 123.65    119.55      
Advertisement & Sales Promotion 362.50    197.46      
Commission 43.93      69.91        
Professional & Legal Charges [Refer note - 26] 393.01    529.12      
Travelling & Conveyance expenses 297.07    265.81      
Internet and other communication expenses 83.26      71.38        
Amortisation of SD Prepaid Rent 60.63      58.54        
Loss on sale / discard of Fixed Assets 10.07      1.46          
Miscellaneous Expenses 404.51    359.25      

Total 3,322.17 3,253.79   

 Year ended
31st March 2024 

 Year ended
31st March 2023 

Rs. In Lakhs
 Year ended

31st March 2024 
 Year ended

31st March 2023 
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Rs. In Lakhs

26 Payment To Auditors

Particulars

Audit Fees 17.10                            12.54                                
Tax Audit Fees 1.80                              0.96                                  
Limited Review 2.10                              1.50                                  
Other Services 7.98                              5.92                                  

Total 28.98                            20.92                                

27 Information for Earnings per share as per IND AS 33

Net Profit (346.97)                         (393.09)                             
Weighted average number of shares 40,82,707 23,29,282
Earnings per share - Basic & diluted (8.50)                             (16.88)                               

Particulars FY 23-24 FY 22-23
Equity shares at the beginning of the year 40,82,707                     20,82,707                         
Equity Shares issued on 14th February 2023 -                                20,00,000                         

Weighted Average number of shares 40,82,707                      23,29,282                          

Calculation of Weighted Average number shares

Year ended 
31st March 2024

Year ended 
31st March 2023

As at 31st March 
2023

Particulars
As at 31st March 

2024
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28 Details of Borrowings:-
Details of Term Loans from Bank

Sl. Type of Loan Security

No.
1 Principal amount                 1,109.17 1,774.67       

Date Amount Date Amount
30-Apr-24 55.46           30-Apr-23 55.46      

31-May-24 55.46           31-May-23 55.46      
30-Jun-24 55.46           30-Jun-23 55.46      
31-Jul-24 55.46           31-Jul-23 55.46      

31-Aug-24 55.46           31-Aug-23 55.46      
30-Sep-24 55.46           30-Sep-23 55.46      
31-Oct-24 55.46           31-Oct-23 55.46      
30-Nov-24 55.46           30-Nov-23 55.46      
31-Dec-24 55.46           31-Dec-23 55.46      
31-Jan-25 55.46           31-Jan-24 55.46      
28-Feb-25 55.46           29-Feb-24 55.46      
31-Mar-25 55.46           31-Mar-24 55.46      
30-Apr-25 55.46           30-Apr-24 55.46      

31-May-25 55.46           31-May-24 55.46      
30-Jun-25 55.46           30-Jun-24 55.46      
31-Jul-25 55.46           31-Jul-24 55.46      

31-Aug-25 55.46           31-Aug-24 55.46      
30-Sep-25 55.46           30-Sep-24 55.46      
31-Oct-25 55.46           31-Oct-24 55.46      
30-Nov-25 55.46           30-Nov-24 55.46      

31-Dec-24 55.46      
31-Jan-25 55.46      
28-Feb-25 55.46      
31-Mar-25 55.46      
30-Apr-25 55.46      

31-May-25 55.46      
30-Jun-25 55.46      
31-Jul-25 55.46      

31-Aug-25 55.46      
30-Sep-25 55.46      
31-Oct-25 55.46      
30-Nov-25 55.46      

2 Term Loan-Rupee Principal amount                              -   333.33          

Date Amount Date Amount
01-Jun-23 83.33      
01-Sep-23 83.33      
01-Dec-23 83.33      
01-Mar-24 83.33      

3 Principal amount                              -   1,200.00       

Date Amount Date Amount
30-Jun-23 300.00        
30-Sep-23 450.00        
30-Dec-23 450.00        

4 Term Loan-Rupee Principal amount                              -   2,100.00       

Date Amount Date Amount
30-Jun-23 1,050.00     
28-Sep-23 1,050.00     

5 Term Loan-Rupee Principal amount                 4,498.90 6,499.30       

Date Amount Date Amount
30-Apr-24 166.70                30-Apr-23 166.70          

31-May-24 166.70                31-May-23 166.70          
30-Jun-24 166.70                30-Jun-23 166.70          
31-Jul-24 166.70                31-Jul-23 166.70          

31-Aug-24 166.70                31-Aug-23 166.70          
30-Sep-24 166.70                30-Sep-23 166.70          
31-Oct-24 166.70                31-Oct-23 166.70          
30-Nov-24 166.70                30-Nov-23 166.70          
31-Dec-24 166.70                31-Dec-23 166.70          
31-Jan-25 166.70                31-Jan-24 166.70          

Repayment Schedule

15%p.a on outstanding 
INR

1st Charge by way of Hypothecation / mortgage on all 
the fixed assets (movable and Immovable) of the 
company, both present and future excluding Vehicles. 
.The same is further secured by pledge of shares by a 
promoter shareholder 

Repayment Schedule

Repayment Schedule Repayment Schedule

15%p.a on outstanding 
INR

1st Charge by way of Hypothecation / mortgage on all 
the fixed assets (movable and Immovable) of the 
company, both present and future excluding Vehicles. 
.The same is further secured by pledge of shares by a 
promoter shareholder 

Repayment Schedule Repayment Schedule

Working Capital_term 
Loan- Under ECLGS of 

NCGTC

9.25% p.a on 
oustanding INR

Second charge over all existing primary & collateral 
securities including mortagages created in favour of the 
bank, subject to the subsisting charges created over 
various primary and collateral securities, including 
securities charged by third parties.

Term Loan-Rupee 15%p.a on outstanding 
INR

First  Charge by way of Hypothecation / mortgage on all 
the fixed assets (movable and Immovable) of the 
company, both present and future excluding 
Vehicles..The same is further secured by pledge of 
shares by a promoter shareholder 

Amount outstanding

as on 31-Mar-24 as on 31-Mar-23

Repayment Schedule

1yr MCLR+0.45% - At 
present-9.10% p.a on 

outstanding INR

Subservient charge by way of hypothecation over entire 
current asset and moveable fixed asset of the company 
(both present and future). The same is further secured 
by pledge of shares by a promoter shareholder .Further 
secured by way of corporate guarantee of a promoter 
shareholder

Repayment Schedule Repayment Schedule

ROI as on 31-Mar-24 Amount outstanding

Repayment Schedule



28-Feb-25 166.70                29-Feb-24 166.70          
31-Mar-25 166.70                31-Mar-24 166.70          
30-Apr-25 166.70                30-Apr-24 166.70          

31-May-25 166.70                31-May-24 166.70          
30-Jun-25 166.70                30-Jun-24 166.70          
31-Jul-25 166.70                31-Jul-24 166.70          

31-Aug-25 166.70                31-Aug-24 166.70          
30-Sep-25 166.70                30-Sep-24 166.70          
31-Oct-25 166.70                31-Oct-24 166.70          
30-Nov-25 166.70                30-Nov-24 166.70          
31-Dec-25 166.70                31-Dec-24 166.70          
31-Jan-26 166.70                31-Jan-25 166.70          
28-Feb-26 166.70                28-Feb-25 166.70          
31-Mar-26 166.70                31-Mar-25 166.70          
30-Apr-26 166.70                30-Apr-25 166.70          

31-May-26 166.70                31-May-25 166.70          
30-Jun-26 164.70                30-Jun-25 166.70          

31-Jul-25 166.70          
31-Aug-25 166.70          
30-Sep-25 166.70          
31-Oct-25 166.70          
30-Nov-25 166.70          
31-Dec-25 166.70          
31-Jan-26 166.70          
28-Feb-26 166.70          
31-Mar-26 166.70          
30-Apr-26 166.70          
31-May-26 166.70          
30-Jun-26 164.70          

6 12% interest p.a Principal amount                              -   11,250.00    

Date Amount Date Amount
10-Jul-23 11,250.00     

7 Term Loan-Rupee 10.25% Principal amount                 4,791.67 7,291.67       

Date Amount Date Amount
30-Apr-24 208.33         30-Apr-23 208.33          

31-May-24 208.33         31-May-23 208.33          
30-Jun-24 208.33         30-Jun-23 208.33          
31-Jul-24 208.33         31-Jul-23 208.33          

31-Aug-24 208.33         31-Aug-23 208.33          
30-Sep-24 208.33         30-Sep-23 208.33          
31-Oct-24 208.33         31-Oct-23 208.33          
30-Nov-24 208.33         30-Nov-23 208.33          
31-Dec-24 208.33         31-Dec-23 208.33          
31-Jan-25 208.33         31-Jan-24 208.33          
28-Feb-25 208.33         29-Feb-24 208.33          
31-Mar-25 208.33         31-Mar-24 208.33          
30-Apr-25 208.33         30-Apr-24 208.33          

31-May-25 208.33         31-May-24 208.33          
30-Jun-25 208.33         30-Jun-24 208.33          
31-Jul-25 208.33         31-Jul-24 208.33          

31-Aug-25 208.33         31-Aug-24 208.33          
30-Sep-25 208.33         30-Sep-24 208.33          
31-Oct-25 208.33         31-Oct-24 208.33          
30-Nov-25 208.33         30-Nov-24 208.33          
31-Dec-25 208.33         31-Dec-24 208.33          
31-Jan-26 208.33         31-Jan-25 208.33          
28-Feb-26 208.33         28-Feb-25 208.33          

31-Mar-25 208.33          
30-Apr-25 208.33          

31-May-25 208.33          
30-Jun-25 208.33          
31-Jul-25 208.33          

31-Aug-25 208.33          
30-Sep-25 208.33          
31-Oct-25 208.33          
30-Nov-25 208.33          
31-Dec-25 208.33          
31-Jan-26 208.33          
28-Feb-26 208.33          

First charge by way of Hypothecation / mortgage on all 
the fixed assets (movable and immovable) of the 
company, both present and future.Second charge by 
way of hypotecation of the entire Current assets of the 
company, existing and future, comprising , inter alia, of 
stocks of raw material, work in progress, finished goods, 
receivables, book debts nad other current assets.

Repayment Schedule Repayment Schedule

Rated unlisted 
Redeemable Non-

Convertible Debentures

112.5 Bonds issued at face value of Rs 1cr each 
repayable by way of bullet repayment on the expiry of 
the term of debenture . Secured by way of pledge of 
shares by promoter shareholding and also guaranteed 
by a promoter shareholder. Also, hypothecation over a 
designated account .

Repayment Schedule Repayment Schedule



8 Term Loan-Rupee 10.25% Principal amount                 4,791.67 7,291.67       

Date Amount Date Amount
30-Apr-24 208.33         30-Apr-23 208.33          

31-May-24 208.33         31-May-23 208.33          
30-Jun-24 208.33         30-Jun-23 208.33          
31-Jul-24 208.33         31-Jul-23 208.33          

31-Aug-24 208.33         31-Aug-23 208.33          
30-Sep-24 208.33         30-Sep-23 208.33          
31-Oct-24 208.33         31-Oct-23 208.33          
30-Nov-24 208.33         30-Nov-23 208.33          
31-Dec-24 208.33         31-Dec-23 208.33          
31-Jan-25 208.33         31-Jan-24 208.33          
28-Feb-25 208.33         29-Feb-24 208.33          
31-Mar-25 208.33         31-Mar-24 208.33          
30-Apr-25 208.33         30-Apr-24 208.33          

31-May-25 208.33         31-May-24 208.33          
30-Jun-25 208.33         30-Jun-24 208.33          
31-Jul-25 208.33         31-Jul-24 208.33          

31-Aug-25 208.33         31-Aug-24 208.33          
30-Sep-25 208.33         30-Sep-24 208.33          
31-Oct-25 208.33         31-Oct-24 208.33          
30-Nov-25 208.33         30-Nov-24 208.33          
31-Dec-25 208.33         31-Dec-24 208.33          
31-Jan-26 208.33         31-Jan-25 208.33          
28-Feb-26 208.33         28-Feb-25 208.33          

31-Mar-25 208.33          
30-Apr-25 208.33          

31-May-25 208.33          
30-Jun-25 208.33          
31-Jul-25 208.33          

31-Aug-25 208.33          
30-Sep-25 208.33          
31-Oct-25 208.33          
30-Nov-25 208.33          
31-Dec-25 208.33          
31-Jan-26 208.33          
28-Feb-26 208.33          

Total Outstanding as at year end-Principal 15,191.41             37,740.64    
Current Maturities-Principal 7,665.90               22,549.16    

Sl. Type of Loan Security
No.

1 Principal amount                 1,600.00        3,300.00 

Date Amount Date Amount
21-Apr-24 1,600.00             30-Jun-23 500.00          

` 30-Sep-23 600.00          
31-Dec-23 600.00          
21-Apr-24 1,600.00       

2 Principal amount                 4,200.00        4,200.00 

Date Amount Date Amount
30-Jun-25 600.00                30-Jun-25 600.00          
30-Sep-25 600.00                30-Sep-25 600.00          
31-Dec-25 600.00                31-Dec-25 600.00          
31-Mar-26 600.00                31-Mar-26 600.00          
30-Jun-26 600.00                30-Jun-26 600.00          
30-Sep-26 600.00                30-Sep-26 600.00          
31-Dec-26 600.00                31-Dec-26 600.00          

3 Principal amount                     800.00            800.00 

Date Amount Date Amount
30-Jun-24 400.00                30-Jun-24 400.00        
30-Sep-24 400.00                30-Sep-24 400.00        

4 Principal amount                 1,000.00        1,000.00 

Date Amount Date Amount
31-Dec-24 500.00                31-Dec-24 500.00        
31-Mar-25 500.00                31-Mar-25 500.00        

5 Principal amount                 1,200.00        1,200.00 

Date Amount Date Amount
31-Mar-27 600.00                31-Mar-27 600.00        
30-Jun-27 600.00                30-Jun-27 600.00        

Repayment Schedule

Bond UnListed 
(INE711X07096)

Average of 1 year of MCLR of 4 Banks viz. ICICI Bank, 
HDFC Bank, SBI & Bank of Baroda plus applicable spread 
rates 

Repayment Schedule Repayment Schedule

Bond UnListed 
(INE711X07088)

Average of 1 year of MCLR of 4 Banks viz. ICICI Bank, 
HDFC Bank, SBI & Bank of Baroda plus applicable spread 
rates 

Repayment Schedule Repayment Schedule

Bond Listed 
(INE711X07054)

Average of 1 year of MCLR of 4 Banks viz. ICICI Bank, 
HDFC Bank, SBI & Bank of Baroda plus applicable spread 
rates 

10.25%p.a on 
outstanding INR

10.25%p.a on 
outstanding INR Repayment Schedule

Bond Listed 
(INE711X07062)

Average of 1 year of MCLR of 4 Banks viz. ICICI Bank, 
HDFC Bank, SBI & Bank of Baroda plus applicable spread 
rates 

Repayment Schedule Repayment Schedule

Bond Listed 48 Cr 
(INE711X07070)

Average of 1 year of MCLR of 4 Banks viz. ICICI Bank, 
HDFC Bank, SBI & Bank of Baroda plus applicable spread 
rates 

10.25%p.a on 
outstanding INR

10.25%p.a on 
outstanding INR

Repayment Schedule

10.25%p.a on 
outstanding INR

Repayment Schedule

Amount outstanding
as on 31-Mar-24 as on 31-Mar-23

Repayment Schedule

ROI as on 31-Mar-24 Amount outstanding

First charge by way of Hypothecation / mortgage on all 
the fixed assets (movable and immovable) of the 
company, both present and future.Second charge by 
way of hypotecation of the entire Current assets of the 
company, existing and future, comprising , inter alia, of 
stocks of raw material, work in progress, finished goods, 
receivables, book debts nad other current assets.

Repayment Schedule



Notes to Financial Statements

29 Related Party Disclosure

I) Key Managerial Personnel & Other Directors
Key Managerial Personnel Description of Relationship

1 Mr Gautam Jatia Managing Director  & Chief Executive Officer
2 Mr Sujay Chattaraj Wholetime Director 
3 Ms Chadaravalli Srinivasa Bhatta Nalini Wholetime Director
4 Mr. Anurag Jatia Wholetime Director 
5 Mr. Amit Agarwal [ Joined w.e.f 02-05-2022 & resigned on 19-01-2023 ] Chief Financial Officer
6 Mr. Bimal Agarwal [ Joined w.e.f 29-04-2023 & resigned on 31-05-2024 ] Chief Financial Officer
7 Ms Amrita Bhattacharya [ Resigned on 20-12-2023 ] Company Secretary 
8 Ms Priyanka Agrawal [ Joined w.e.f 12-02-2024 ] Company Secretary 

Other Directors
1 Mr. Debashish Bhaumik Independent Director
2 Mr. Pramod Kumar Shah   Independent Director
3 Mrs Karabi Sengupta Independent Director

II) Relatives of Key Mangerial personnel
1 Mr. R.K. Jatia (Upto 31.01.2023-Demise)
2 Mrs Vandana Jatia

III) Entities having significant influence over the group

1

2 Suraj Finvest Private Limited [ name changed from Sneha Gardens Pvt. Ltd. ] [ Company is an associate of the Entity ]

3 Diwakar Finvest Private limited ( formerly known as Sneha enclave private ltd )[ Company is an associate of the Entity ]

IV) Other related parties with which Group has transaction.
1 AMRI Hospitals Ltd. (up to 20.09.2023)
2 Archana promoters & Developers Pvt Ltd
3 Emami Agrotech Ltd.
4 Emami Realty Ltd.
5 Emami Art Pvt. Ltd
6 Emami Ltd.
7 Emami Paper Mills Ltd.
8 Emami Foundation
9 M Bhattacharyya & Co. Pvt. Ltd.

10 Niramay Distributors Pvt Ltd.
11 PAN Emami Cosmed Limited
12 Premier Ferro Alloys & Securities Ltd
13 Shopper's city maintenance company Pvt Ltd
14 South city Projects Kolkata Ltd
15 Shri Prashant Goenka
16 Nayee Disha Communications Pvt ltd
17 Shri Jayant Goenka 
18 Smt Priti A Surekha 
19 A M Medical Centre Pvt Ltd
20 Emami Frank Ross Limited Employees Gratuity Fund
21 The Trustees Frank Ross Limited Employees Provident Fund

Details of Related Party Transactions Rs. In Lakhs
Description of relationship Nature of

with party Transaction 2023-24 2022-23 As on 31.03.24 As on 31.03.23
Key Managerial Personnel Salary 324.17              302.23           (8.47)                        -                               

Perquisites 17.16                 19.11             -                            -                               
Sale of Goods 0.59                    3.52                0.03                          0.05                             
Loans & Advance Given 96.63                 5.07                24.17                       -                               

Other Directors Sitting fees 3.15                    2.75                (0.14)                        -                               
Salary 13.76                 12.48             (0.76)                        -                               
Perquisites 1.51                    1.99                -                            -                               
Retainership -                      64.00             -                            -                               

Other Entities Sale of Goods 3,346.79          11,386.97     52.12                       2,073.04                     
Display Charges 49.66                 35.37             -                            -                               
Rent Received 0.47                    0.47                -                            -                               
Dividend Received 0.80                    0.80                -                            -                               
Purchase of Assets -                      5.34                -                            -                               
Purchase of Goods 9,433.15          8,946.52       (429.08)                   (70.53)                         
Guarantee Commission Paid 81.54                 138.54           -                            (21.76)                         
Interest on Loan taken 2,084.92          1,023.66       (644.08)                   (253.47)                      
Rent & maintenance paid 406.42              344.65           (96.94)                     -                               
Royalty 11.80                 11.80             -                            -                               
Electricity Charges 31.52                 34.47             (1.92)                        13.07                          
Interest on Loan Given -                      1.64                -                            -                               
Donation Paid 6.00                    6.00                -                            -                               
Advance/Deposit given 1,777.00          -                  820.02                     21.02                          
Reimursment of exp 318.66              387.13           -                            -                               
Loan Given refunded -                      75.39             -                            -                               
Loan Taken 38,768.00        32,164.00     (38,393.00)            (4,988.00)                   
Loan Taken refund back 5,363.00          36,417.00     -                            -                               
Post employment benefit expense 10.00                 55.75             161.56                     182.06                        

**- Figures in brackets denote Credit Balance

PAN Emami Cosmed Limited [ named changed from Midkot Investments Limited ] 
[ Company was an associate of the Entity upto 14.02.2023. Now a promoter company]

For the Financial year Amount outstanding **

Relatives of Key Managerial Personnel



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March'24
Rs. In Lakhs

30

31 Contingent Liabilities & Commitments :-
a Contingent Liabilities

Rs. In Lakhs
Particulars 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-23

Bank Guarantees 586.78         476.95                 
Disputed GST Demands under appeal 161.22         -                        

b Commitments
Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on Capital account & not provided  - Rs. Nil (P. Y. Rs. Nil/-).

32 Assets given on Operating Lease

a

b

Rs. In Lakhs
31-Mar-24 31-Mar-23

Lease contributions for the year 0.40                     0.40                       
Minimum Lease payment contributions
-Not later than one Year 0.40                     0.40                       
-Later than one year but not later than five years 2.00                     2.00                       
-Later than 5 years 12.80                  13.20                     

33 Assets taken on Operating Lease

a

Rs. In Lakhs

-Not later than one Year 1,206.51            875.71                 1,512.09     1,097.51             
-Later than 1 Year 6,533.63            4,853.07             5,088.27     3,779.48             

Particulars

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that 
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. Therefore, Net Deferred Tax Asset 
of Rs. 3,833.22 lakhs (P.Y.- Rs. 3,560.91 lakhs) has been recognised till date in the accounts in compliance with IND AS 12
on" Income Taxes".

Contingent Liability disclosed above represents possible obligations where the possibility of cash outflow to settle the obligation is 
remote .

The Holding Company has given assets under non-cancellable operating lease . The total lease rent received on the same is Rs. 
0.40 Lakh- [ P.Y - Rs 0.40 Lakh ]

The minimum future lease rentals receivable in respect of non-cancellable lease as at 31-March-24 are as under:

The Holding Company has taken shops on rent. The total minimum lease payments and present value of
minimum lease payments are as follows:-

31-Mar-24

 Minimum 
Lease payments 

 Present value of 
Minimum lease 

payments 

31-Mar-23

 Minimum 
Lease 

payments 

 Present value of 
Minimum lease 

payments 

Particulars

The difference between minimum lease payments and the present value of minimum lease payments of Rs. 2,011.36 lakh
(P.Y- Rs. 1,723.37 lakh) represents interest not due .



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March'24
Rs. In Lakhs

Defined benefit plan  
34.1  Defined benefit plan  (Gratuity)

i

Particulars

A Components of Employer Expenses
1 Current Service Cost 118.59          86.06             
2 Past service Cost -                 -                 
3 Loss/(Gain) on settlement -                 -                 
4 Net interest income/(cost) on the net defined benefit liability 

(Asset)
13.11             10.44             

5 Total Expenses recognised in the Statement of Profit & Loss 131.70          96.50             

B Net asset/(liability) recognised in balance sheet as at 31st March 
2024

1 Present value of Defined Benefit Obligation 636.96          641.95          
2 Fair value of plan assets 475.40          459.90          
3 Funded Status [Surplus/(deficit)] (161.56)         (182.06)         
4 Net asset/(liability) recognised in balance sheet (161.56)         (182.06)         

C Change in Defined Benefit Obligation during the year ended 31st 
March 2024

-    1 Present value of DBO at beginning of period    641.95          572.11          
2 Current Service Cost        118.59          86.06             
3 Interest Cost        46.22             41.76             
4 Re-measurement (or actuarial)(gain)/loss arising from -                 -                 

-Change in demographic assumptions -                 -                 
-Change in financial assumptions (138.02)         7.61               
-Experience variation (i.e Actual experience vs assumptions) (7.51)             (10.31)           

5 Past Service cost -                 -                 
6 Benefits Paid   (24.26)           (55.27)           
7 Acquisition adjustment -                 
8 Effect of business combinations or disposals -                 
7 Present value of DBO at the end of period   636.97          641.96          

D Change in Fair Value of Assets
-    1 Fair value of Planned assets at beginning of period 459.90          429.07          

2 Investment income 33.11             31.32             
3 Employer's contribution 5.38               57.51             
4 Benefits paid (24.26)           (55.27)           
5 Return on plan assets, excluding amount recognised in net 

interest expense
1.28               (2.73)             

-                 
6 Acquistion adjustment
7 Fair value of Plan assets at end of the period 475.41          459.90          

E Other Comprehensive Income
1 Actuarial (gains)/Losees

-Changes in demographic assumptions -                 -                 
-Changes in financial assumptions (138.02)         7.61               
-Experience variance (i.e Actual experience vs assumptions) (7.51)             (10.31)           

2 Return on plan assets, excluding amount recognised in net 
interest expense

(1.28)             2.73               

3 Components of defined benefit costs recognised in other 
comprehensive income 

(146.82)         0.03               

ii The Major categories of plan assets as a % of total plan assets

Fund managed by insurer 100% 100%

Gratuity: The Group has a defined Gratuity Plan for its employees. Every employee who has completed five years or more of
service gets a gratuity on departure at 15 days salary (last drawn salary) for each completed year of service. The Scheme is
funded with an insurance Group in the form of qualifying insurance policy.

Year ended 
31st March 2024

Year ended 
31st March 2023

Year ended 
31st March 2024

Year ended 
31st March 2023

Gratuity FundedGratuity Funded



iii Assumptions

Financial assumptions
Discount rate % 7.00% 7.20%
Rate of increase in salaries 7% p.a 9% p.a
Demographic assumptions
Mortality rate (% of IALM 2012-14) 100% 100%
Normal retirement age 58 years 58 years
Attrition rates, based on age(% p.a) for all ages 2% p.a 2% p.a

iv Sensitivity analysis

Revenue from operation

Defined benefit obligation base 636.96          641.95          

Particulars Decrease Increase Decrease Increase
a Discount rate (-/ +1%) 710.25 575.29 726.24 571.66

(% change compared to base due to sensitivity) 11.51% -9.68% 13.13% -10.95%
b Salary growth rate (-/ +1%) 575.09 709.12 572.61 722.98

(% change compared to base due to sensitivity) -9.71% 11.33% -10.80% 12.62%
c Attrition rate (-/ +50%) 638.22 635.72 654.5 630.97

(% change compared to base due to sensitivity) 0.20% -0.20% 1.95% -1.71%
d Mortality rate (-/ +10%) 636.91 637.01 643.45 640.48

(% change compared to base due to sensitivity) -0.01% 0.01% 0.23% -0.23%

v Effect of plan on Entity's Future Cash Flows
a) Funding arrangements and funding policy

b)
Particulars

The Group's best estimate of Contribution during the next year 267.99          286.38          

c) Maturity profile of Defined benefit obligation
Particulars

Weighted average duration ( based on discounted cash flows) 12 years 13 years

Expected cash flows over the next years (valed on undiscounted 
basis)
1 year 57.87             33.51             
2 to 5 years 175.06          156.31          
6 to 10 years 206.43          205.99          
More than 10 years 1,188.32       1,490.51       

Year ended 
31st March 2023

Year ended 
31st March 2024

Year ended 
31st March 2023

Year ended 
31st March 2024

Year ended 
31st March 2023

The Group has purchased an insurance policy to provide for payment of gratuity to the employees . Every year , the insurance
Group carries out a funding valuation based on the latest emplyee data provided by the Group. Any deficit in the assets arising
as a result of such valuation is funded by the Group

Expected contibution during the next annual reporting period
Year ended 

31st March 2024
Year ended 

31st March 2023

Year ended 
31st March 2024

Year ended 
31st March 2023

Year ended 
31st March 2024

Year ended 
31st March 2023

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of the actual change in defined benefit obligation as it is
unlikely that the change in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may be
correlated .

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the defined benefit obligation are discount rate expected salary
increase and mortality . The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on reasonable possible changes of the
assumptions occuring at the end of the reporting period , while holding all other assumptions constant. The results of
sensitivity analysis is given below:-

Year ended 
31st March 2024



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March'24
Rs. In Lakhs

Defined benefit plan  
34.2 Defined benefit plan  -Leave

Particulars

A Components of Employer Expenses
1 Current Service Cost 64.38           11.42                      
2 Past service Cost -               -                          
3 Loss/(Gain) on settlement -               -                          
4 Net interest income/(cost) on the net defined benefit liability 

(Asset)
9.37             9.03                        

5 change in demographic assumptions
6 Actuarial (gains)/ Losses due to Change in financial assumption (47.56)         1.55                        

7 Actuarial (gains)/ Losses due to Change in experience variance 36.08           17.38                      

8 Total Expenses recognised in the Statement of Profit & Loss 62.27           39.38                      

B Net asset/(liability) recognised in balance sheet as at 31st 
March 2024

1 Present value of Defined Benefit Obligation 149.51         130.07                    
2 Fair value of plan assets -               -                          
3 Funded Status [Surplus/(deficit)] (149.51)       (130.07)                  
4 Net asset/(liability) recognised in balance sheet (149.51)       (130.07)                  

C Change in Defined Benefit Obligation during the year ended 
31st March 2024

1 Present value of DBO at beginning of period    130.07         123.76                    
2 Current Service Cost        64.38           11.42                      
3 Interest Cost        9.36             9.03                        
4 Re-measurement (or actuarial)(gain)/loss arising from -               -                          

-Change in demographic assumptions -               -                          
-Change in financial assumptions (47.56)         1.55                        
-Experience variation (i.e Actual experioence vs assumptions) 36.08           17.38                      

5 Past Service cost -               -                          
6 Benefits Paid   (42.82)         (33.07)                     
7 Acquisition adjustment -               
8 Effect of business combinations or disposals -               
7 Present value of DBO at the end of period   149.51         130.07                    

D Change in Fair Value of Assets
1 Fair value of Planned assets at beginning of period -               -                          
2 Investment income -               -                          
3 Employer's contribution 42.82           33.07                      
4 Benefits paid (42.82)         (33.07)                     
5 Return on plan assets , excluding amount recognised in net 

interest expense
-               -                          

6 Acquistion adjustment
7 Fair value of Plan assets at end of the period -               -                          

ii The Major categories of plan assets as a % of total plan assets

Fund managed by insurer NA NA

Year ended 
31st March 2024

Year ended 
31st March 2023

Leave encashment Leave encashment
Unfunded Unfunded

Year ended 
31st March 2024

Year ended 
31st March 2023



iii Assumptions

Financial assumptions
Discount rate % 7.00% 7.20%
Rate of increase in salaries 7% p.a. 9% p.a.
Demographic assumptions
Mortality rate (% of IALM 2012-14) 100% 100%
Normal retirement age 58 years 58 years
Attrition rates, based on age(% p.a) for all ages 2% p.a 2% p.a

iv Sensitivity analysis

Revenue from operation

Defined benefit obligation base 149.51 130.07

Particulars Decrease Increase Decrease Increase
a Discount rate (-/ +1%) 169.42 133.08 147.35 115.89

(% change compared to base due to sensitivity) 13.32% -10.99% 13.29% -10.90%
b Salary growth rate (-/ +1%) 132.01 170.41 115.29 147.77

(% change compared to base due to sensitivity) -11.70% 13.98% -11.36% 13.61%
c Attrition rate (-/ +50%) 149.00             149.95 132.88 127.66

(% change compared to base due to sensitivity) -0.34% 0.29% 2.16% -1.85%
d Mortality rate (-/ +10%) 149.45 149.57 130.4 129.74

(% change compared to base due to sensitivity) -0.04% 0.04% 0.26% -0.25%

v Effect of plan on Entity's Future Cash Flows
a) Maturity profile of Defined benefit obligation

Particulars

Weighted average duration ( based on discounted cash flows) 12 Years 14 Years

Expected cash flows over the next years (valued on 
undiscounted basis)
1 year 9.71             17.35                      
2 to 5 years 33.22           22.99                      
6 to 10 years 44.25           33.75                      
More than 10 years 355.10         330.40                    

Year ended 
31st March 2024

Year ended 
31st March 2023

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the defined benefit obligation are discount rate expected salary
increase and mortality . The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on reasonablepossible changes of the
assumptions occuring at the end of the reporting period , while holding all other assumptions constant. The results of
sensitivity analysis is given below:-

Year ended 
31st March 2024

Year ended 
31st March 2023

Year ended 
31st March 2024

Year ended 
31st March 2023

Year ended 
31st March 2024

Year ended 
31st March 2023

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of the actual change in defined benefit obligation as it is
unlikely that the change in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may be
correlated .

Year ended 
31st March 2024

Year ended 
31st March 2023



35 Fair Value Measurement

a)  Financial Instruments by category Rs. In Lakhs

Amortised Cost FVTOCI FVTPL Amortised Cost FVTOCI FVTPL
Financial Assets
Investment in Equity shares (Quoted) -                               43.29                -                      -                           36.06                -                      
Investment in Equity shares (Unquoted) -                               215.90             -                      -                           215.90              -                      
Investment in Preference Shares (Unquoted) 16.33                          -                     -                      16.33                       -                     -                      
Investment in Debentures (Unquoted) 425.00                       -                     -                      425.00                    -                     -                      
Trade Receivables 7,315.70                   -                     -                      5,966.31                 -                     -                      
Loans and Advances 53,147.35                 -                     -                      46,506.58              -                     -                      
Other Financial Assets 1,408.60                   -                     -                      1,221.16                 -                     -                      
Cash and Cash Equivalents 717.58                       -                      -                       771.56                    -                     -                      
Financial Liabilities
Borrowings(including interest accrued) 69,283.34                 -                     -                      56,772.86              -                     -                      
Trade Payables 5,575.65                   -                     -                      5,101.91                 -                     -                      
Lease Liabilities 5,728.78                   -                     -                      4,876.99                 -                     -                      
Other Financial Liabilities 986.60                       -                     -                      499.17                    -                     -                      

b) Fair Value Hierarchy

Particulars Fair Value 
Hierarchy

 As at  As at 

Financial Assets 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-23

Investment in Equity Share(Quoted) Level 1 43.29                 36.06                   
Investment in Equity Share(Unquoted) Level 3 215.90              215.90                

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical assets or liabilities. 

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the year.

(c)  Fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost :

Carying Value Fair Value Carying Value Fair Value
Financial Assets
Investment in Preference Shares (Unquoted) 16.33                          16.33                16.33                   16.33                       
Investment in Debentures (Unquoted) 425.00                       425.00             425.00                425.00                    
Security Deposit 1,396.66                   1,396.66         1,209.97             1,209.97                 
Financial Liabilities
Borrowings(including interest accrued) 69,283.34                 69,283.34      56,772.86          56,772.86              

When the fair value of unquoted instruments cannot be measured with sufficient reliability, the group carries such instruments at cost
less impairment, if applicable.

Particulars
31-Mar-24 31-Mar-23

The Group uses Discounted Cash Flow Valuation Technique which involves determination of present value of expected receipt discounted 
using appropriate discounting rate.

The Management has assessed that the Fair Value of other financial assets and liabilities (fixed deposits, short term loans and advances 
and other current liabilities) approximates their carrying amounts largely due to the short term nature of these instruments. Fair value of 
non-current financial instruments (other than above) approximates to their carrying value which is based on effective interest rate.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidated sale.

Based on the evaluation of Trade Receivables, allowances are considered to account for the expected losses of these receivables. As at end
of each reporting year, the carrying amount of such receivables , net of allowances (if any) , are not materially different from their
calculated Fair values.

Level 3: Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 
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31 March 2023

The fair value of financial assets & liabilities is classified in various fair value hierarchy based on following three levels:-

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted price included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices)
or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using
market approach and valuation techniques which maximize the use of observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-
specific estimates. 

Particulars
31 March 2024



Rs. In Lakhs

36 Financial risk management

(A) Credit risk

(B) Liquidity risk

Year ended 31.3.2024
Rs. In Lakhs

Particulars Less than 1 year 1 to 5 years More than 5 years Total
Borrowings 11,065.90                57,573.36          -                                   68,639.26              
Interest on borrowings 644.08                      -                       -                                   644.08                    
Trade Payables 5,575.65                   -                       -                                   5,575.65                
Employee Benefits Payable 831.79                      -                       -                                   831.79                    
Other Liabilities 126.97                      -                       -                                   126.97                    
Total 18,244.39               57,573.36        -                                  75,817.75            

Year ended 31.3.2023
Rs. In Lakhs

Particulars Less than 1 year 1 to 5 years More than 5 years Total
Borrowings 24,235.55                32,266.16          -                                   56,501.71              
Interest on borrowings 271.16                      -                       -                                   271.16                    
Trade Payables 5,101.91                   -                       -                                   5,101.91                
Employee Benefits Payable 301.42                      -                       -                                   301.42                    
Other Liabilities 173.57                      -                       -                                   173.57                    
Total 30,083.61               32,266.16        -                                  62,349.77            

The Group does not have any derivative financial liability.The following are the remaining contractual maturities of
non derivative financial liabilities at the reporting period:
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The Group’s activities expose it to market risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. In order to minimise any adverse effects
on the financial performance of the Group, the Group has risk management policies as described below :-

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that the Group fails to honour its financial obligations in accordance with terms of
contract. Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities and the
availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities to meet obligations when due and to
close out market positions. Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity position and cash and cash
equivalents on the basis of expected cash flows. In addition, the Group’s liquidity management policy involves
projecting cash flows and considering the level of liquid assets necessary to meet these, monitoring balance sheet
liquidity ratios against internal and external regulatory requirements and maintaining debt financing plans.

Credit risk refers to the risk of financial loss arising from default / failure by the counterparty to meet financial
obligations as per the terms of contract. The Group is exposed to credit risk for receivables, cash and cash equivalents,
financial guarantees. None of the financial instruments of the Group result in material concentration of credit risks.
Credit risk on receivables is minimum since sales through different mode are made after judging credit worthiness of
the customers or advance payment . The history of defaults has been minimal and outstanding receivables are
regularly monitored. For credit risk on the loans to parties, the Group is not expecting any material risk on account of
non-performance by any of the parties.The Group creates allowances for all unsecured receivables and advances
based on lifetime expected credit loss . The Group has written off the Expected credit loss amounting to Rs. Nil (PY:Rs.
Nil ) in current year.



( C) Market risk

There is no transaction which will result in foreign currency exposure during the year .

Rs. In Lakhs

Particulars
Increase/ 

decrease in Basis 
points

Effect on Profit 
before tax

31.03.2024 +0.50 (346.42)              
-0.50 346.42                

31.03.2023 +0.50 (283.86)              
-0.50 283.86                

(iii) Price risk

The Group’s main interest rate risk arises from short term and long-term borrowings with variable rates, which
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible changes in interest rates on that portion of
loans and borrowings affected. With all other variables remaining constant, the Group's profit before tax is affected
through the impact on floating rate borrowings, as follows:

The Group’s exposure to equity securities price risk arises from investments held - both quoted and unquoted and
classified in the balance sheet either as fair value through OCI or at fair value through profit or loss. The Group is not
expecting high risk exposure from its investment in securities.

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates.

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates.

Foreign Currency paid for the year w.r.t imports amounts to Rs. 121.78 Lakhs (PY: Rs. Nil), and w.r.t travelling
amounts to Rs. 2.82 Lakhs (PY: Rs. Nil).
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37 Ratio Analysis & its Elements % variance Reason for variance 
Sl. No. Particulars Numerator Denominator 2023-24 2022-23

1 Current Ratio ( in times ) Current Assets Current Liabilities             1.15            2.07 -44.31%
 The variance is mainly on 
account of increase of short term 
loan 

2 Debt Equity Ratio ( in times ) Net Debt Shareholder's Equity           (5.40)          (4.61) 17.22%  Not Appliable 

3 Debt Service Coverage Ratio ( in times ) Net Operating Income Debt Service             0.57            0.51 12.50%  Not Appliable 

4 Return on Equity Ratio ( in % ) Profit for the period Avg. Shareholders Equity                -                 -    Net worth is Negative 

5 Inventory Turnover Ratio ( in times ) Cost of Goods sold Average Inventory             5.34            5.77 -7.43%  Not Appliable 

6 Trade Receivables Turnover Ratio ( in times )  Sales Average Trade Receivables             9.16          10.09 -9.25%  Not Appliable 

7 Trade Payables Turnover Ratio ( in times ) Total Purchases Average Trade Payables             9.40          11.50 -18.25%  Not Appliable 

8 Net Capital Turnover Ratio ( in times ) Net Sales Average Working Capital             6.27            1.73 262.58%
 The variance is mainly on 
account of increase in customer 
outstanding  

9 Net Profit Ratio ( in % ) Net Profit Net Sales -0.57% -0.71% 19.63%  Not Appliable 

10 Return on Capital employed ( in % ) EBIT Capital Employed 8.36% 8.97% -6.79%  Not Appliable 

11 Return on Investment ( in % ) Return/Profit/Earnings Investment -84.99% -96.26% 11.71%  Not Appliable 

* Investment for the purpose of calculation of Return on Investment comprises of Equity Share Capital only .

38  Capital Management

Rs. In Lakhs

Particulars 31st March 2024 31st March 2023
Long term Borrowings 
incl current maturities

38,710.97                                                                   60,631.58                        

Short term Borrowings 44,728.29                                                                   10,670.12                        
Less:- Cash & Cash 
equivalent

(717.58)                                                                       (771.56)                            

Net Debt 82,721.68                                                                 70,530.14                      

Equity (6,508.92)                                                                 (6,269.42)                       

Gearing Ratio NIL NIL

Ratios

For the purpose of the Group's Capital Management, Capital includes issued equity capital and all other Equity Reserves attributable to the Equity holders .
The Primary objective of the Group's capital management is to maximise the Shareholder value.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   

In order to achieve this overall objective, the Group’s capital management, amongst other things, aims to ensure that it meets financial covenants attached to the  interest-bearing loans 
and borrowings that define capital structure requirements.   

There have been no breaches in the financial covenants of any interest-bearing loans and borrowing in the current period.
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39 Since the group operates only in one segment i.e. retailing and also in one country i.e. India, hence information on segment reporting with respect to operating
and geographical segment is not provided .
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41
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43 Advance to Employees Provident Fund Trust

44

45

46 Disclosure in relation to undisclosed income
The Group have not any such transaction which is not recorded in the books of accounts that has been surrendered or disclosed as income during the current

47 Details of Benami Property held

48 Registration of charges or satisfaction with Registrar of Companies (ROC).

49 Details of Crypto Currency or Virtual Currency 

50 Disclosure for no wilful default

51 Rounding-Off requirements

52
For & on behalf of Board of Directors

In terms of our attached report of even date SD/- SD/-
For Agrawal Tondon & Co. Gautam Jatia Sujoy Chattaraj
Chartered Accountants Managing Director Director
FRN:-329088E DIN - 00604926 DIN - 08818352

SD/-
Bimal Kr Agarwal

Chief Financial Officer

SD/-
Priyanka Agarwal

SD/- Company Secretary
Kaushal Kejriwal Membership No. - A55000
Partner 
Membership No. 308606

Dated : 29th May 2024
Place : Kolkata

Immovable Property

A) The Group has not advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources or other kind of funds) to or in any other 
person or entity, including foreign entity (“Intermediaries”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, directly 
or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Group (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any 
guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries. 

B) The Group has not received any funds (which are material either individually or in the aggregate) from any person or entity, including foreign entity (“Funding 
Parties”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Group shall, directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or entities 
identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the 
Ultimate Beneficiaries.  

Financing disclosure

Relationship with Struck off Companies 

and previous financial year in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 (such as, search or survey or any other relevant provisions of the Income Tax Act, 
1961).

The Group do not have any transactions with group’s struck off during the current and previous financial year.

The Group has decided to dissolve the "Frank Ross Employees Provident Fund Trust" & transfer the fund into EPFO. Therfore, the said advance has been given 
to fund the trust till all investments are redeemed.

Previous year's figures have been regrouped and rearranged wherever necessary.

These financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees Rs. In lakhs, which is also the Group’s functional currency. All values are 
rounded off to the nearest Rs. In lakhs up to two decimals, except when otherwise indicated.

All the title deeds of the immovable property disclosed in Note No.2 of the financial statements (other than properties where the Group is the lessee and the lease 
agreements are duly executed in favour of the lessee) are held in the name of the Group.

The Group is filing monthly statement of Inventories, Trade payables and Trade receivables to banks for working capital loan which have no material discrepancies.
Reconciliation and reasons of material discrepancies, in monthly statements submitted to bank and books of accounts.

Compliance with number of layers of companies.
The Group has complied with the number of layers prescribed under clause (87) of  section 2 of the Act read with Companies (Restriction on number of Layers) 
Rules, 2017.

The Group has not been declared as a wilful defaulter by any bank or financial institution or government or any government authority.

The Group do not have any charges or satisfaction which is yet to be registered with ROC beyond the statutory period as at March 31, 2024.

The Group have not traded or invested in Crypto currency or Virtual Currency during the current and previous financial year.

The Group does not have any Benami property. Further, there are no proceedings initiated or are pending against the Group for

holding any benami property under the Prohibition of Benami Property Transactions Act, 1988 and rules made thereunder.


